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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION
FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

During 2008, the Group acquired from China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), the Company’s
substantial and controlling shareholders, an initial batch of 7
city gas distribution businesses and assumed its role as the
city gas distribution flagship of CRH. Since then, the Group has
consistently acquired a batch of city gas projects from CRH
every year, and up to 2012, the Group has acquired a total of
46 projects from CRH in 5 batches.

The Group also acquires city gas projects directly from
independent third parties and up to 31st December, 2013, the
Group has added 130 city gas projects in this manner, including
projects in Direct Administrative Cities and Provincial Capitals.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the
Group’s execution competency, the Company continues to
expand rapidly in 2013 via organic and acquisition growths.
As at 31st December, 2013, the Company operates 176 city
gas projects (including 11 provincial capitals and 3 direct
administrative municipality) in 21 provinces in China with annual
gross gas sales volume of 12.1 billion m® and 18.6 million
customers.
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The Company, as the downstream city gas flagship of China Resources Group, will
continue to leverage on the favourable industry environment and its execution prowess
to expand steadily via sustainable organic growth and external acquisitions.
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RESULTS

The PRC city gas distribution business continues to provide the Group
with handsome profit and cash flow contributions. The Group achieved
an increase in turnover of 64% to HK$22,288 million and recorded
profit attributable to the Company’s equity holders of HK$2,161 million
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Chairman’s Statement

for the year ended 31st December, 2013, an increase of 31% over
corresponding year. The operating profit from city gas distribution
business surged by 85% to HK$3,536 million and its net operating cash
inflow increased 147% to HK$5,671 million. Gross gas sales volume
increased 30% to 12,091 million m® and total connected residential
customers increased 31% to 18.41 million.

FAVOURABLE DOWNSTREAM NATURAL GAS
INDUSTRY FUNDAMENTALS IN THE PRC

The on-going economic growth and urbanisation in China have continued
to increase the demand for energy in China. In order to diversify energy
base and reduce reliance on more polluting energy sources such as coal
and crude oil, the PRC government has, in recent years, taken concrete
measures to promote the development and utilisation of less polluting
energy sources. Natural gas is considered a cleaner and effective
substitute for conventional energy sources such as coal and crude
oil. The PRC government has therefore been very supportive and will
continue to support the development of the natural gas industry in China.

The percentage of natural gas in total energy consumption in the PRC
is very low compared to international levels. According to BP Statistical
Review of World Energy June 2013, for 2012, natural gas only accounted
for less than 5% of China’s total primary energy consumption, which is
far lower than the international average of 24%.

To increase natural gas supply, the first phrase of the “West to East Gas
Transmission” pipelines were constructed with the support of the PRC
government to bring natural gas from the Xinjiang Autonomous Region
to the coastal regions of the PRC. Construction of the second phase of
the “West to East Gas Transmission” pipelines from Central Asia and
the “Sichuan to East” pipelines from the gas rich Sichuan Province to
coastal regions have also been completed. Construction of the third
phase of “West to East Gas Transmission”, “Myanmar to Yunnan” gas
pipeline as well as Liquefied Natural Gas terminals in coastal cities of
the PRC are actively in progress. Natural gas price reform to close the
price gap between imported and local gas prices are also gradually
being implemented in phases. Once realised, these measures are
expected to more than double the supply of natural gas in China in the
foreseeable future. The Company (or “CR Gas”) is assured of adequate
gas supply by leveraging on the strategic gas supply arrangements with
the three national oil and gas giants namely China National Petroleum
Corporation, China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation and CNOOC Gas
& Power Group.
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Sustainable Growth of Natural Gas in the PRC
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Strong Commitment to Cleaner Energy by PRC Government
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Low Penetration of Natural Gas in the PRC
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The above factors augur well for the natural gas industry in China and
offer significant opportunity for the continuous growth of the Group in
the foreseeable future.

CONTINUOUS EXPANSION AND GROWTH OF
BUSINESS

During 2008, the Company acquired a portfolio of 7 city gas distribution
projects from CRH. The acquisition allows the Company to enter into
the fast growing city gas distribution business in China and provided
the Group with a sound foundation to tap into the burgeoning city
gas distribution business in the PRC by capturing the rapid increase
in demand for natural gas in China and leveraging China Resources
Group’s strong presence and brand name in China.

From 2009 to 2012, the Group acquired another 144 city gas projects.
These projects are mainly located in regions where there are rich natural
gas reserves and the economically more developed Eastern Board as
well as densely populated provincial capitals and emerging cities of
China. The Group also focuses on developing gas distribution projects
in areas where there are existing or potential piped natural gas supply.
During 2013, the city gas projects acquired from 2008 to 2012 continue
to grow organically in line with the growth in natural gas supply in China.

During 2013, the Company continues to grow rapidly with new
acquisitions from the market. The Group acquired 25 city gas projects
including those in direct administrative municipal of Tianjin and
prefecture-level cities such as Fujian’s Longyan, Hubei’s Xianning and
Sichuan’s Dazhou. As at 31st December, 2013, CR Gas portfolio includes
176 city gas projects and its footprint covers 21 Chinese provinces and
includes 3 direct administrative municipalities, 11 provincial capitals and
61 prefecture level cities.

The Group has become one of the largest city gas distributors in the
PRC with gross annual gas sales volume of 12.1 billion cubic meters
and 18.6 million customers.
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CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2013, the share price of the Company has increased by
7.89 times from HK$3.42 to HK$27.00 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 15.2 times from HK$3.95 billion to HK$60.05 billion.

From 2008-2013, the profit of the Group increased by 9.1 times from
HK$237 million to HK$2.16 billion, turnover increased by 7.5 times from
HK$2.99 billion to HK$22.3 billion and total assets increased by 13.6
times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$50.5 billion.

Based on Bloomberg’s report, as at 31st December, 2013, the Company
was covered by 23 analyst reports which is the highest number among
all listed peers in Hong Kong.
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For the 12 months to 31st December, 2013, the share price of the
Company has increased by 69%, outperformed both the downstream
city gas industry’s 60% and the wider market Hang Seng Index’s 3%.
Ratios of price to earnings and price to book have also outperformed
those of the industry and wider market.
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Gas utilities companies in China Hang Seng Index

1 Including Beijing Holdings, ENN Energy, China Gas and Towngas.

International rating agencies, Moody’s and Fitch, have during 2013
affirmed the Company’s investment grade ratings of Baa1l and BBB+
respectively, affirming the healthy state of the Company’s financial
position as well as its quality income stream from its Pan-China city
gas project portfolio.
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The yield on the Company’s 10 year US$750 million bond has consistently
been lower than those of comparable peers, indicating strong demand
of the bond and confidence in the Company'’s future by credit investors.
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The Company has also been included in 2013 Global Top 250 Energy
Enterprise by renowned energy consultancy PLATTS. The Company was
also awarded the third fastest growing energy Company in Asia.

-

China Resources Gas Group Ltd

= i ]

LEAN MANAGEMENT AND BENCHMARKING IN
PURSUIT OF EXCELLENCE

The Group’s growth during 2008 to 2013 have been mainly driven by
acquisition. Going forward, the Group will focus more on improving the
operational efficiency and performance of its existing city gas projects,
as the number of available acquisition targets, especially bigger city
gas projects, have been reducing over the years. This shift in emphasis
to organic growth, coupled with the projected significant increase in
upstream gas supply over the next few years, is expected to delivery
majority of the gas sales volume growth over the forseeable future. In
this respect, the Group has continued to carry out the company-wide
Lean Management Campaign started in 2012 with the aim of utilising
minimum amount of resources to maximise value added product and
service delivery to customers in timely manners.

The Group also kicked off the company-wide Benchmarking Campaign in
2013 with the objective of learning and implementing the best practices
in the downstream city gas industry. This is to enable the Group to
measure up with the best and eventually outperform the peers.

The Benchmarking practice will integrate seamlessly with the Lean
Management measures, by comparing benchmarks, finding differences,
learning from others. These Benchmarking measures will complement
the Lean Management process and accelerate the materialisation of
the Company’s goal.
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KEY EVENTS DURING 2013

New Investments

An amount of RMB2.45 billion was paid in January 2013 as equity capital
contribution for 49% interest in a city gas joint venture project in Tianjin.
This Tianjin project will be one of the long term growth drivers for the
Group in the future.

The Group also made new investments of some HK$836 million in 23 city
gas projects and 4 gas vehicle/vessel projects, including 4 projects in
prefecture level cities. Most of these projects are wholly owned or with
majority controls.

Increase Equity Stake in Existing Project

Following the increase in shareholdings of existing projects in Zhenjiang
and Hengshui in 2010, Zibo and Nanjing Jiangning in 2011, and
Zhengzhou in 2012, the Group increased its shareholdings in Neijiang
China Resources Co., Ltd from 50% to 51% in 2013 and thereby increase
earnings contribution to the Group. The Group will continue to execute
this strategy of enhancing results via increasing its stakes in existing
gas projects.
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Gas Price Revision and Pass-through

As a continuation of the gas price reform to stimulate the increase in gas
supply from both local and imported sources, the National Development
and Reform Commission (“NDRC”) announced an upward revision of city
gate price for non-residential customers with effect from 10th July, 2013.

The price increase has spurred the increase in gas supply and hence
is overall positive for the downstream gas industry.

Except for a few projects where local governmental approvals are still
pending, the Group has been able to pass through the price increase
in 97% of affected non-residential gas volume with no overall negative
dollar margin impact.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with negative
consequences facing the industry and has been taking various measures
to safeguard the Group’s interest.

Internal audit function covering both financial and operation audit has
been enhanced with new structure and increase in staff number. A total
of 77 audits have been carried out at the Group and Regional levels
covering areas such financial, operation, and project. Various audit and
risk management guidelines have been revised and issued.

Internal legal due diligence and reviews have been carried out on
over 200 investment proposals and major contracts during 2013. 8
Investment Guidelines covering investments in private enterprises, LNG
gas stations, pre and post-investment evaluation process, have been
revised, issued and implemented.

To strengthen the institutionalisation of the legal and compliance system,
various guidelines on legal and compliance matters have been revised
and issued with follow-up trainings and education.

HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

Since the Company launched the campaign of establishing the Integrity
& Honesty Culture across the Company, 179 people have signed the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration ( (i{{E&REE ) ) at the 2012 Annuall
Managers’ Conference. In 2013, in addition to all the head-office staff
and members of management team, more than 3,200 persons including
managers and employees from the Company’s subsidiaries have signed
the declaration.
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Chairman’s Statement

The Company will progressively establish a new system aiming to raise
company-wide awareness of Honesty & Integrity Culture, and have
issued policies such as Regulation on Honesty & Integrity ( GRIEAIRE
$E#%) ) and Rules for staff responsible for Honesty & Integrity Culture
(CRIEARZEETIERIE) ).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to enhance its standard corporate

governance by bench marking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook based
on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Corporate
Governance Report is set out on pages 45 to 57 of this annual report.

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Share Option Schemes

On 26th November, 2001, the Company has terminated the share option
scheme of the Company adopted on 15th October, 1994 and adopted
a new share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) as a result of
changes in Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange in relation to share option scheme. On 5th March,
2008, the Company terminated the Share Option Scheme.

EMRRLERERAT
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Central China Training Centre

South Western Training Centre

!

A summary showing the Share Option Scheme and its movements
during the year are detailed in the Directors’ Report and in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Incentive Award Scheme

The Company adopted an incentive award scheme (the “Incentive
Award Scheme”) on 1st December, 2008 and amended the scheme
on 16th March, 2010, for the purpose of recognizing and motivating
the contribution of employees and providing incentives to existing
employees. Details of the Incentive Award Scheme are set out in the
Directors’ Report.

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2013, the Group have approximately 40,000
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group values human
resources and recognizes the importance of attracting, training and
retaining quality staff for its continual success. In addition to the “Gas
Faculty” in China Resources University, the Group also set up 5 regional
training centres covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and
South-Western China. These centres are located in our regional centres
of Wuxi, Jining, Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of
management and technical trainings are conducted through the Group
for different levels of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills. The
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, work
experience and the prevailing market wage level. Further, bonuses are
granted to employees and incentive awards are made to employees
based on individual performance. The Group believes this will assist
to attract and retain quality staff and at the same time encourage the
employees to give their best performance.

Northern China Training Centre

2 31 oy
EX IV @ EasternChina Training Centre

i A

J—. Southern China Training Centre
B LUV
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OUTLOOK

The PRC government places significant emphasis on the rapid
development of natural gas industry to diversify its energy sources
and reduce carbon emission. The PRC government has promulgated
various policies and guidelines to encourage and rationalize the usage
of natural gas. Construction of upstream gas pipelines and LNG
receiving terminals are actively in progress. All these measures will
greatly boost the availability of natural gas in China and will continue
to offer significant opportunity for future growth in the downstream gas
industry in China.

The Group has embarked on various operational enhancement measures,
such as Lean Management and Benchmarking, to boost the quality of
its organic growth. The Group will ride on the favourable industry trend
and its experienced management team with strong execution record to
scale new heights via quality organic growth and acquisitions.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their duties
and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 13th March, 2014
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The management team strives to continuously enhance the operational efficiency, services
and core competency of the Group to achieve sustainable high quality organic growth.
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INTEGRATING “BENCHMARKING” WITH “LEAN
MANAGEMENT” TO ENHANCE OPERATIONAL
EFFICIENCY, SERVICES LEVEL & CORE
COMPETENCY

As the upstream gas supply will increase significantly over the next
few years with the completion of various upstream gas infrastructures,
this will drive most of the Group’s growth for the next few years. The
Group has kicked off a series of company-wide campaigns to enhance
operational efficiency to support this organic growth, starting with “Lean
Management” in 2012 and followed by “Benchmarking” in 2013.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

1 4 Annual Report 2013



[BEER| 2REXENEHEHEVEAE
RIERBE] - THREDH] ROREBUER
NEREAN BEAN - RE B2 M
£ BEMZER - AUERRRNEE - BB
ERMEEWE R KRS o

[BRR | 2 —EgE FEBRIERERE
BREAZKEEREETHLENBRE - A%
B EFEMAEBIIETARETRS
BEREE - [ERR] CHAEEEAR
AIFAETT  YOHREATRINISERR
EHE - CRBEBITRELLERFERT
TESBEERETEEER - AREDH
[ERE ] H[BRER] AR NERREN
R ZBEATNEERENREEEREIE
HRAE °

o

HTIRRER] RIERR]ZEEMR
BERBEDABERRAREERE—R
REEEMREE  BEERRRERER
HIEER KA HEE— R R R
REENBEEE -

FEKRERABIEHEMMEELRAHa
B R [B2RE] B ICNGY,FFE -
REMAHEER R IRAP REME
71 LNG/CNGHH B & 8 A R A 8 18 M A

ARBETRESS -

FrAERERIEE A it B IR KR
A REME - ERTEE  RAEERER
RE o NEBTSE TEEIEYIZKD - 1
ERREBREIHRAFPMALTERERD T
20K I EEE— DML T70.22%% o

mERE

Report from the Chief Executive Officer

“Lean Management” requires enterprises to apply “Lean Concept” in all their
corporate activities. The core of “Lean Concept” is to offer customers quality
products and timely services by creating maximum value with minimum
resources, including manpower, facilities, capital, materials, time and space.

“Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one's business processes
and performance metrics to the best practices of the industry. The
Group has embarked on this best practice to benchmark across all
business units. “Benchmarking” has started off internally with intra-group
benchmarking and have extended to benchmarking against external
best practices of the industry. Benchmarking and Learning visits have
been made to related industry leading enterprises and selected peers.
The Group has integrated “Benchmarking” with the “Lean Management”
measure to attain maximum results. This measure is a continuous
process of the Group to enhance improvement in operation processes.

Implementing “Lean Management” and “Benchmarking” measure is
an indispensable choice for CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental
transformation of its growth model from resources-driven growth to
efficiency improvement, and is also one crucial approaches taken by
CR Gas to achieve its strategic goal to become the leading world-class
gas enterprise in China.

All member companies have been targeted to implement various “Lean
Management” and “Benchmarking” initiatives such as reducing wastes in
CNG stations, narrowing the gas leakage ratio, enhancing the capability
to commission industrial and commercial users rapidly and carrying out
the centralized procurement of LNG/CNG-related facilities as well as gas
pipes and related equipment.

All category of processes are targeted including those involving cost
reduction, efficiency improvement, safety enhancement, quality and
environment upgrading, etc. Initial successes have been seen in areas
such as the reduction by 20 days the period needed to install gas
connection to commercial & industrial customers; further reduction of

gas leakage ratio by 0.22%, etc.
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CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT OF
REGIONAL CENTRES

The Group set up 10 Regional Centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s 176 city gas projects across
China. Each Regional Centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of several cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions. The 10 Regional Centres
are located in Chengdu, Fuzhou, Jinan, Kunming, Nanjing, Shanghai,
Shenyang, Shenzhen, Wuhan and Zhengzhou.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CENTRALISATION OF PIPELINE DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION TO CONTINUOUSLY IMPROVE
COST EFFICIENCY

Gas pipeline design and construction centres in core regional cities in
the Eastern, South-western and Central China were set up in Nanjing,
Chengdu and Zhengzhou. Each regional centre provides the design and
construction of gas pipelines and related facilities in their respective
areas. This centralisation measure improves economy of scale, thereby
creates synergy and improves cost efficiencies in the design and
construction of gas pipelines and related activities of the entire Group.

BUSINESS PROCESS STREAM-LINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continues its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

On the operational level, concrete measures have been taken in supply
chain, project management, customer service, safety management and
other processes:

. Supply chain management was further streamlined with rigorous
tender system covering construction projects with the issue and
implementation of new or revised guidelines covering various
categories of projects and quality control measures. Purchases
of 24 major categories of materials have been centralised,
representing 73% of total material procurement expenditure. 163
member companies are linked up to centralised procurement IT
system. The number of qualified suppliers has been significantly
reduced to 76 entities resulting in reduction of procurement costs.

. Engineering project management was further enhanced with the
issue and implementation of guidelines on design and construction
standards, project documentation, blue prints, calculation matrix,
etc. These are further reinforced with the carrying out of related
project management evaluation and training.

. On the continuous enhancement of customer service, 10 guidelines
on Customer Service have been issued and Customer Service
Management System have been introduced to 10 member
companies as pilot project. Standardisation of consumer gas
appliances has been done and 160 person-times training of related
repair personnel have been carried out in 2013.
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To improve the safety standard, the Group has performed
safety audits on city gas projects and carried out safety related
trainings in 10 regional centres. Safety trainings were conducted
for personnel from member companies. Safety management
processes, training and rules included in safety guidelines were
formalised, standardised and revised for use through the Group.

On the financial and tax management areas, to improve treasury
operation and reduce costs of working capital, the Group has
further enhanced its centralisation of cash management with
the inclusion of more member companies in the system. Various
taxation rationalisation and reduction measures were taken to

reduce tax exposure and speed of tax setoffs and refunds.

Improvements were carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both
internal or external sources. Open recruitments of graduates
were carried out in 22 institutions of higher learning with 2,750
interviews and 567 successful applicants. Carried out internal
open competitive recruitment exercises in 34 member companies
resulting in 143 promotions, 186 lateral reassignments, 35
demotions, 142 redundancies and 13 transfers to technical

position.
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° With the objective of efficiency enhancement in view of the
significant increase in operation size of the Group in recent
years, information technology systems covering centralised cash
management, financial reporting, human resources centralised
procurement and customer service are continuously being rolled
out across various levels of the Group’s operation.

ENVIRONMENT AND SAFETY ENHANCEMENT

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 12 billion m?
of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually the
Group helps to replace approximately 16 million tons of coal usage and
reduce approximately 36 million tons of carbon dioxide emissions and
306,000 tons of pollutants.

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies and
procedures as well as hiring qualified engineers and technical staff to
manage and prevent any potential accidents in our natural gas related
facilities which may cause damage to the environment.
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In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, we have fully complied with the
relevant local and national environmental protection regulations and
licensing requirement.

The Group places great emphasis on safety system and has
established a safety department to oversee safety issues and adopted
a comprehensive safety administration system. The Group carries out
regular safety inspection of gas stations, branch pipelines, customer
pipelines, gas meters and gas appliances. In addition, the Group
carries out company wide safety and environment conscious campaigns
involving 23,809 persons and training of staff related to safety operation
involving 12,803 persons.

The Group place emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, regular trainings and seminars are
held for relevant staff. For end users, thorough explanations of safety
procedures are given and regular seminars as well as distribution of
brochures and booklets on safety are arranged.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to our
customers, increase efficiency and scale of the business to enhance
the values of the shareholders and employees.

SHI SHANBO
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 13th March, 2014
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

—F—= i,
—E-=fF (&%) ™ ORd)
2012 Increase/
BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December 2013 (Restated)™ (Decrease)
FHET FAET
HK$°000 HK$'000
F 3.0 Turnover 22,288,027 18,621,787 64%
EH Gross profit 7,622,119 4,252,960 79%
BT (RBEMAKAR  Profit from operations
EIEEERBE ARIER) (Before Finance Cost and
Share of JV & associates results) 3,536,092 1,907,012 85%
HB A F) Profit for the period 2,823,754 2,029,284 39%
KA BB A BT Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 2,160,945 1,645,543 31%
40 4 2 TR BT TE G aE Net cash from operating activities 5,671,241 2,299,971 147%
FIREAREFEO (BIT) Basic EPS® (HK$) 1.00 0.82 22%
BEIRFEE - % (GBL) Interim dividend paid per share
(HK cents) 2 2 0%
FORAREE - TR OBI) Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 20 14 43%
(1) BEZ——F+_A=Z=+—HLEFEHD (1)  The comparatives for the year ended December 31, 2012 were restated

HBHMFEEY  TEEERMRMEL
B s RSB - REE PN K ES
BERNRARDBRBT LG EAFE3R
TH—EXRZEHERTRBLEOEE)

IR BRSO BRABEMBEREEEN
ST E)— AR S AR W IR SRR
AEBNARZEHERRENABEHE
PERBEBVBHMEENFIRRIN
MEBBIEIE G T AR -

mainly to reflect the adoption of HKFRS 11. The Group’s investment in
jointly controlled entities, which were classified as a jointly controlled
entity under HKAS 31 and was accounted for using the proportionate
consolidation method, should be classified as a joint venture under HKFRS
11 and accounted for using the equity method. The change in accounting
of the Group’s investment in jointly controlled entities has been applied in
accordance with the relevant transitional provisions set out in HKFRS 11.

(2) BEREXRBFZDBITROOMETHE (2) Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average number
- of issued share.
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—T—=F #mn,
—g—= (&E%)) ™ CRis)
2012 Increase/
WRt+=-—BA=+—A8H As at 31st December 2013 (Restated)™ (Decrease)
FHET FHIT
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEE Total assets 50,481,791 37,682,535 34%
WITEFELES Bank balances and cash 9,584,178 10,539,547 (9%)
WITREREERTE Total bank and note borrowings 13,874,279 11,692,927 19%
REE Shareholders’ loan - 2,415,000 (100%)
BEEF5E Net borrowings 4,290,101 3,568,380 20%
ARRBRAFFE AEIERA Equity attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 14,182,935 11,698,852 21%
FEPEAR M 2 Non-controlling interests 4,432,903 2,987,138 48%
A E Total equity 18,615,838 14,685,990 27%

(1M
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The comparatives as at 31st December, 2012 were restated to reflect the
adoption of HKFRS 11. The Group’s investment in jointly controlled entities,
which were classified as a jointly controlled entity under HKAS 31 and
was accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method, should
be classified as a joint venture under HKFRS 11 and accounted for using
the equity method. The change in accounting of the Group’s investment in
jointly controlled entities has been applied in accordance with the relevant
transitional provisions set out in HKFRS 11.
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RZZE—ZF

R=-ZE—= +=—A=+—8”

+=A=+—8H (E51)

As at

As at 31 December

31 December 2012

B E Financial Indicators 2013 (Restated)
TS Gross profit margin 34.2% 31.2%
A2 Net profit margin 9.7% 12.1%
BN L Current ratio 1.0x 1.4x
FERBELE Net Debt to equity ratio 30.2% 9.9%"
BERBELXE Debt to capital ratio 42.7% 44.3%®
BERABHE Debt to assets ratio 27.5% 31.0%®
DORET 9 E A O] 3R R @ Return on weighted average equity™ 15.2% 14.1%
(1) FEABBELRERTAREREEFHEA (1)  Net Debt/equity gearing ratio is the ratio of net bank and note borrowings to

(2)

®)

4)

A B ABERAAL G (TRERRE
o B ERRERES0.5%)

BERBEEREBERTRZBESRFERR
TEERBERRABEN LA (TRERE
B e EREERLLEA49.0%) °

AEBBLHERERTEAEREERESRE
ERENLS (TEERRER e ER
RERLERI7.4%) °

MRTEEES VR BHRERILA% (=
T—=F) 81% (ZFT—=F) -

(4)

shareholders’ equity (excluding shareholders’ loan, 30.5% if shareholders’
loan is included).

Debt/capital gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to
total bank borrowings and total equity (excluding shareholders’ loan, 49.0%
if shareholders’ loan is included).

Debt/asset gearing ratio is the ratio of total bank and note borrowings to
total assets (excluding shareholders’ loan, 37.4% if shareholders’ loan is

included).

If merger reserve is excluded, return was 9.4%(2013), 8.1%(2012).
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EBRE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
R-B-=% i "
+=A=+-H +=A=+-H
As at As at #mn,/(Rd)
EERA Operational Performance 31 December 2013 31 December 2012 Change
HEHH Number of projects 176 151 17%
BHEgE (ABYAXK) Gross gas sale volume (million m3) 12,091 9,268 30%
BERAF Residential 3,023 2,520 20%
IEERP Commercial & Industrial (“C&l") 7,567 5,587 35%
pillE=R Gas station 1,397 1,110 26%
MR Bottled gas 104 51 104%
ERAFRMREEE Connected customers and
Gas stations
ERAF Residential 18,408,900 14,025,900 31%
TE%RP Commercial & Industrial 173,956 152,771 14%
piliE= Gas station 192 158 22%
FHERE R/ EF Average tariff/Cost/Gross Margin
(ARBEIHK) O (RMB per m?)® 2.75/2.04/0.71 2.43/1.87/0.56 0.32/0.17/0.15
ERREF Residential 2.17/1.92/0.25 1.96/1.81/0.15 0.21/0.11/0.10
IRHERR Commercial & Industrial 2.74/1.97/0.77 2.36/1.75/0.61 0.38/0.22/0.16
iR Gas station 3.55/2.46/1.09 3.26/2.21/1.05 0.29/0.25/0.04
FHEREO Average Gross Profit Margin® 25.8% 23.1% 2.7%pt
ERAF Residential 11.5% 7.6% 3.9%pt
IRERAP Commercial & Industrial 28.2% 25.7% 2.5%pt
TR U6 (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 30.6%(31.7%/
21.5%/26.3%) 32.2% (1.6%)pt
FHERERKRA Average residential connection fee
(AR¥E) ™ (RMB)™ 3,250 2,959 10%
IH%BAFEHERHRAE Installed designed capacity for
(X%XKEH) C&l customers (m® per day) 40,308,000 28,849,000 40%
(1) T —_FHECRIEzEZMEENSA (1) 2012 has been adjusted for equity accounting.
2y
(2) PBIEKXEIEE2,066,000KHF - (2)  Including Tianjin JV’'s 2,066,000 connected households.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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OVERALL FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s results for 2013 were driven by both organic and acquisition
growths. The Group’s turnover for the year amounted to HK$22,288
million (2012: HK$13,622 million).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$2,824 million (2012: HK$2,029
million) and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$2,161 million (2012: HK$1,646 million).

Cash Flow

The net cash inflow from operations during the year amounted to
HK$5,671 million (2012: HK$2,300 million).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$836 million in
capital expenditure during the year excluding RMB2.45 billion for a city
gas joint venture project in Tianjin, which was paid in January 2013
(2012: HK$8.5 billion). The Group spent HK$3.9 billion in upgrading of
its continuing city gas distribution business (2012: HK$2.6 billion). The
above required funding was financed by the operating cash flow, bank
borrowings and cash on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s
free cash on hand was HK$9.6 billion (2012: HK$10.5 billion). Among
the cash balance 5% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar and 94%
in Renminbi and 1% in US dollar.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year, the
Group has total bank and note borrowings of HK$13.9 billion (2012:
HK$11.7 billion). 6% (2012: 1%) of the borrowings is considered as
current liabilities and repayable within one year, the remaining are
repayable in two to nine years. Renminbi, Japanese, Hong Kong dollar
and US dollar denominated borrowings accounted for 2%, 1%, 56%
and 41% of the total borrowings respectively (2012: 5%, 1%, 46% and
48%). 57% (2012: 48%) of borrowings are interest bearing bank loans
on floating rate terms and 43% (2012: 52%) are interest bearing bank
loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.

The cash balance of the Group was HK$9.6 billion as at the year end.
The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year, calculated as total
bank and note borrowings over total assets, was 28% (2012: 31%). The
EBITDA to interest cover ratio was at the healthy level of 9.4 times. The
financial position and liquidity of the Group is very healthy and stable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group has been granted a total of HK$9.3 billion (2012: HK$5.78
billion) term loan facilities with maturities from 2014 to 2016. The facilities
are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end of the year,
84% (2012: 93%) of the facilities has been drawn down. The facilities,
together with healthy operating cash flow will provide sufficient funding
for foreseeable expansion and working capital requirement.

Other than the above mentioned committed facilities, the Group
has no other committed borrowing facilities. For day-to-day liquidity
management and maintaining flexibility in funding, the Group has
managed to obtain sufficient uncommitted short-term facilities from
banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2013, bank deposits of HK$219 million were
pledged as securities for trade payable to a supplier of natural gas
and certain property, plant and equipment and trade receivables
with carrying values of HK$33 million were pledged to secure bank

borrowings.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2013, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$350 million on machinery and equipment
and HK$2,205 million on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2013, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in Euro.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.
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Key Revenue Drivers

EEAFERIBEARITHIE
Number of Households and C&l Capacity

EIRE S am M oA
Management Discussion and Analysis

OPERATING RESULTS

Key Revenue Drivers

The revenue of city gas distribution operation is derived from recurring
gas sales and one-time gas connection fee which respectively accounts
for 77% and 23% of the 2013 revenue (2012: 79% and 21% respectively).

The turnover of the city gas distribution operation for the year ended
31st December, 2013 amounted to HK$22,288 million, an increase of
64% over that of 2012. The significant increase was mainly due to the
increase in gas sales volume by 30% from 9,268 million m® to 12,091
million m® and the increase in connection fee income by 77% from
HK$2,896 million to HK$5,124 million. The increase in gas sales and
connection fee income were in turn driven by the following factors:

Q)

40% increase in the daily installed capacity for commercial &
industrial (“C&I”) customers from 28.85 million m* to 40.31 million m&.
(2) 31% increase in the number of connected households from 14.03

million to 18.41 million.

Another contributor to the increase in turnover was the inclusion of the
entire revenue of Wuxi and Jining Projects which were accounted for in
2013 as subsidiaries instead of equity accounted for in 2012, whereby
the entire related revenue were excluded.

RPN
Revenue Breakdown

R *=39.7% (FLAk)
Growth Rate=39.7% (000s m?)
EER=31.2%
— 0,
H:F)Growth Rate=31.2% 1540
(000s) :
15,000 11026 30,000  100% 21% 23%
80%
10,000 40,308 | 20,000
60% 7% 7%
40%
5,000 10,000
28,849 6
0 o 0°/o
—E——F —E-=% —B-CfF —E2-=F
2012 2013 2012 2013

-W- IHFBEREHHERE
Daily Installed Capacity for C&l Customers

#8 # Connection Fee
T RFE Gas Sales
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross Gas Sales Volume

(BBIAHK)
(Million m?)

ER*E=30.5%

BERBRBAFENAD
Gas Sales Volume by Customer Type
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12% 12%
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9,000 9,268 60%
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3,000 20%
0 O,
—B—=F =®-= 0% —B——F —B2—=
2012 2013 2012 2013
FERAP DERAR
Non-residential Customers Residential Customer:
T Ik WiRER
Gas Stations Bottled Gas
AIFEERE Sustainable Gross Margin

BIMARDHEEBR T —=—FHNEEE
MEAH34.2% 8 -FE— - FH31.2%53
EED S - MREENEFEH23.1%1E N
%£25.8%  ERBEFNEAH6E1.2%EME
62.2% °

EREBRANENEH-T——F161.2%
ENE—F—-=F162.2%  TEHNER
BRARBDREEBRRBEREHOMT - R
HENERBENXRS  I2RIRIER
P IS RR IGO0 R BB Ko S35 (T WA RE R
ETt e

The city gas distribution operation registered an overall gross profit
margin of 34.2% for 2013, which was 3.0% points higher than the 31.2%
for 2012. This is because the gross margin of gas sales grew from 23.1%
to 25.8% and gross margin of connection fee from 61.2% to 62.2%.

The gross profit margin for connection fee income increased from 61.2%
for 2012 to 62.2% for 2013 mainly because of connection fee income
from cities with relative higher connection fees. The higher overall gas
sales margin was mainly contributed from increase in sales to industrial
customers and the increase in residential prices in Zhengzhou and Wuxi.
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Robust Growth & Profitability
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Stable Gross Margin, Cost & Expenses

Stable costs and expenses

The increase in absolute amounts of selling and distribution and
general and administration expenses in 2013 were mainly the result of
inclusion of the entire such expenses of Wuxi and Jining Projects which
were accounted for as subsidiaries in 2013 instead of being excluded
under equity accounting in 2012. In addition there were numerous new
projects acquired in 2012 and 2013 which contributed to the increase
in the expenses. These recently acquired projects need time to attain
higher operating efficiency. As a percentage of revenue, selling and
distribution expenses was 10.6% for 2013 compared to the 8.0% for
2012. The general and administration expenses was 10.0% in 2013
compared to 11.3% in 2012. The increase of gross margin of 3.0%, the
increase in other revenue of 0.2%, the increase of 1.3% on total selling
and distribution and general and administration expenses as well as
the decrease in contribution from joint ventures and associates of 3.6%
mainly account for decrease in Earning Before Interest and Tax (EBIT)
of 1.7% from 21.1% in 2012 to 19.4% in 2013. There was an increase in
tax cost of 0.4% and minority interest of 0.2%. Thus net income after tax
and minority interest of 9.7% was also 2.4% less than the 12.1% in 2012.

BKkEH EhEERBEARES
Finance Costs Share of results of JV and associates
(BoL)
(BE#T) (%) (AE#T) (BDLE)
(HK$ Mm) (HK$ Mm) (%)
600 1,0000 976.8
523.6
500 8000 798.3
400
6000
300 315.0
4000 7.2%

200 23% 2.3% 3.6%
100 o 2000

0 0

—B—=fF —E-=F —E——F —E-=%F
2012 2013 2012 2013
-W- ERABES L -W- HRABESH
As a % of revenues As a % of revenues
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEH
General & Administrative Expenses
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Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to generate healthy
cash flow with an operating cash flow of HK$5,671 million and free
operating cash flow of HK$1,750 million in 2013. The Group recorded
a cash balance of HK$9,584 million at the end of 2013. The Group has
continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet to raise low cost
finance during 2013 and has a total bank loans and senior notes of
HK$13,874 million outstanding as at 31st December, 2013, with a gross
debt to total asset ratio of 28%. The Group maintains a very healthy
balance sheet with low gross debt ratio, high EBITDA to interest cover
ratio of 9.4 times at 31st December, 2013.
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BRYNWEENEHREER
Strong Operating & Free Cash Flow Generation

EERESR HHEERERO
Operating Cash Flow Free Operating Cash Flow"
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Sustainable Leverage Management
BEEEER EBITDA RIS BEEH
Debt to Asset Gearing EBITDA to Interest Coverage
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35% 12
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Note (1): Free Operating Cash Flow = Operating Cash Flow — Operating Capital Expenditures
MizE) . MRIBFEFESWA - MEBEBRHER17.766 (ZF—=5F : 33.5(%)

Note (2): 17.7 times if interest income is excluded (2012: 33.5 times)
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Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city gas
distribution operation registered reasonable return on equity of 15.2%
in 2013 (2012: 14.1%). The Group acquired 27 new projects in 2013
including 26 green field projects, taking the total number of green field
projects at 31 December 2013 to 47. The rates of returns are expected
to improve once all these newly acquired projects start to attain higher
operating efficiency and generate more returns in 2014 and thereafter.

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group has acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2013, their contribution percentages
have decreased and taken up by others such as Chongqging, Tianjin,
Zhengzhou, Xiamen, Wuhan, Zhenjiang, Zibo and Fuzhou. Over the next
few years, the percentage contribution from all projects are expected to
gradually become more evenly distributed in the future. The broadening
of the Group’s earning base will insure the Group from relying heavily
on any single city gas project.

In 2013, the newly acquired Tianjin project has become the number two
gas volume contributor while Zhengzhou project has become the top
profit contributor.

The top 10 gas sales volume contributors accounted for 65% of the
total gross gas sales volume of the Group. The top 10 profit contributors
accounted for 42% of the Group’s net profit before corporate expenses.
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Gross Gas Sales Volume
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

FE#%ELE Mr. Wang Chuandong

A= 5% E Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 1st June, 2012.
He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination Committee and a
member of the Investment Committee. He was appointed as a Director and
the General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February
2007. He is currently a Deputy General Manager of CRH. Mr. Wang joined
China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited in 1985 and was
previously its Director and Deputy General Manager. He has over 25 years
of corporate management experience in the area of petroleum and related
products trading and distribution and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Science
majoring in Petroleum Refining from the China University of Petroleum and a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of Texas, USA.

Mr. Shi Shanbo, aged 48, was appointed as an Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a member
of the Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. He is currently the Assistant General Manager of CRH. Mr. Shi
joined CRH in 1991, and was a Non-executive Director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited and China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited, and Vice Chairman and General Manager
of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He was a Non-executive Director of China
Resources Microelectronics Limited, the withdrawal of listing of its shares
on the Stock Exchange became effective on 2nd November, 2011. He was
a Director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He was the Chairman of
China Resources Jinhua Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, from November 2006 to March 2010. He was previously the Audit
Director and Deputy General Manager of the Finance Department of CRH
and the General Manager of China Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company
Limited. Mr. Shi holds a Master's Degree in Economics from Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics.

EUREBRAEB AR
wERSZEERAE | 36

f=n}



EERAREEAEBRERE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

5
\

-

EWELE Mr. Ge Bin

EWEE At RZT—mF-A=+
AEZTAANRNITESRIER - K H
T -F-ARBRREEERRR (fE) B
RARSARAE  TEFPBERIENL
o RIE - B RAEMNEEKE T ERET
EBREMREARBLE - BEER—N
AARFEAAMAEREER  YE-ZTLF
NAREEBERR (£E) BRAFER -
BRAEREMRIERSBISELTEN - I
BEE SRS BRER -

EIRBREE A tAR R-ZET—F0NA
THN\AEERERERARRITESFREREN
BE - RIEERRRZARMWE RARAF]
TCEERZEGKE - RAKBKHLARE
FAEREBEIMAGTERGE - #
BEERADEAMAGKE - BRI
EITHASRSIMEEBLEEMN  EAHB
BETFEENSTFEMERLR  OK
ERADE  PEREESERKEEETT
KWW TRAL -

FERRELE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin

Mr. Ge Bin, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He was appointed
as a Senior Vice President of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
in March 2012, responsible for customer relations and the Greater
Shanghai, Wuhan, Nanjing and Fuzhou Areas and acts as the General
Manager of the Greater Shanghai and Wuhan Areas. Mr. Ge joined CRH
in September 1996 and has been with China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited since September 2007. Mr. Ge holds a Master's Degree in
Engineering from Nanjing University of Technology, and holds a senior
economist qualification.

Mr. Ong Thiam Kin, aged 56, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28th May, 2001. He is
also the Company Secretary of the Company and a member of the
Company’s Corporate Governance Committee. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
members of the national accounting bodies of Singapore and Malaysia.
He obtained a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
University of Southern Queensland, Australia. He has more than 30 years
of diverse range of experience in professional accounting practice as
well as financial positions in various industries straddling countries in
Southeast Asia, the PRC and Hong Kong.
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Non-executive Directors

EZNSREEAERE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Du Wenmin, aged 50, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 21st March, 2008 and is currently a Deputy General
Manager and the Chief Human Resources Director of CRH. He is also a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Du joined
CRH in 1985 and is also a Non-executive Director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Land Limited, China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited and China Resource Cement Holdings
Limited. Shares of the above four immediately mentioned companies
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Du is also a
Non-executive director of China Resources Microelectronics Limited,
the withdrawal of listing of its shares on the Stock Exchange became
effective on 2nd November, 2011. He is also a director of China
Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. which is listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a director of China Resources
Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Du received a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the University of San Francisco, USA.

Mr. Wei Bin, aged 44, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company on 3rd November, 2008 and is also a Chairman of the Investment
Committee of the Company. He is the Chief Financial Officer of CRH
and is also the General Manager of its Finance Department. Mr. Wei is
a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited, China
Resources Land Limited, China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, which are Main
Board listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wei is also a Non-executive
director of China Resources Microelectronics Limited, the withdrawal
of listing of its shares on the Stock Exchange became effective on 2nd
November, 2011. He is also a director of China Resources Sanjiu Medical
& Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Shan Dong Dong-E E-Jiao Co., Ltd and China
Vanke Co., Ltd., which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a
director of China Resources Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which
is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Wei holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Auditing from Zhongnan University of Economics in the PRC
and a Master’s Degree in Finance from Jinan University in the PRC, and
is a Senior Accountant and a Senior Auditor in the PRC. He is also a non-
practising member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wei joined CRH in 2001.
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PR %4 Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Huang Daoguo, aged 59, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Huang joined CRH in 2011 and
is currently the Audit Director of CRH. He is a Non-executive Director
of China Resources Enterprise, Limited and China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited (which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) since May 2012. He is also a Non-executive Director of China
Resources Land Limited and China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited (which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since
June 2012. He joined the National Audit Office of the PRC (“CNAQO")
in 2000 and was the Commissioner of the Wuhan Resident Office and
Guangzhou Resident Office of CNAO, and Director of the Department
of Agriculture, Resources and Environmental Protection Audit of CNAO.
Mr. Huang graduated from the Renmin University of China in the PRC
and specialized in finance. He obtained a Master’'s Degree of Regional
Economics from the Central China Normal University in the PRC. He is a
Certified Public Accountant and Senior Auditor in the PRC.

Mr. Chen Ying, aged 43, was appointed as Non-executive Director of
the Company on 1st June, 2012 and is also a member of the Investment
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chen joined CRH in 1993. He is the
Strategy Director of CRH and is the General Manager of its Strategy
Management Department. He is a Non-executive Director of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited and China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited (which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since
May 2012. He is also a Non-executive Director of China Resources Land
Limited and China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since June 2012. Mr.
Chen is also a director of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
and China Resources Healthcare Group Ltd. He is also a director of China
Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and China Vanke Co.,
Ltd., which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a director of
China Resources Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has worked as Project Engineer,
Project Manager and Manager of Procurement Department and Executive
Director of China Resources Construction (Holdings) Company Limited
from September 1993 to March 2002. He was also a Director and President
of China Resources Land (Beijing) Company Limited from March 2002 to
October 2011 and an Executive Director of China Resources Land Limited,
which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from March 2003
to February 2006. Mr. Chen received a Bachelor’'s Degree of Architectural
Management from Tsinghua University in the PRC and a Master’'s Degree
of Business Administration from University of Oxford in the United Kingdom.
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Independent Non-executive

Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 63, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee. Mr. Wong involves in various professional appointments and public
duties, including Member of the Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal Panel, Chairman
of the Appeal Tribunal Panel, Member of Probate Committee of the Law Society
of Hong Kong and Member of Working Committee of the Law Society of Hong
Kong (2011-2012) on proposed reform of Trustee Ordinance, Cap 29. He was
admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor
of England & Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor of Singapore
in 1995 and was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting Officer with effect
from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the Society of Trust and
Estate Practitioners (STEP). Mr. Wong has been in private practice in Hong
Kong for over 20 years. From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor
with two local law firms in Hong Kong before setting up his own practice in
1987. Mr. Wong holds a Master’s Degree in Laws from the Peking University of
China and a Master’s Degree in Laws from the University of London of England.

Ms. Yu Jian, aged 60, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 17th March, 2010. She is the Chairman of the
Company'’s Corporate Governance Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee. She actively involves in various bodies and associations, including
Standing Committee of the 5th Shenzhen CPPCC; Vice-President of the China
Association of Women Entrepreneurs; Vice-President of the Association of
Women Entrepreneurs of Guangdong Province; Honorary President of the
Shenzhen Association of Women Entrepreneurs; President of the Shenzhen
Urban Water Association, Vice-President of the Children Welfare Institute of
Shenzhen, Executive Vice-President of the Shenzhen General Chamber of
Commerce and Executive Vice President and Secretary General of Shenzhen
Federation of Entrepreneurs and Shenzhen Entrepreneurs Association. Ms. Yu
was previously the Chairman of Shenzhen Water (Group) Co., Ltd, the General
Manager of Shenzhen Gas Corporation Limited and Vice-President of the China
Urban Water Association. Ms. Yu graduated from the Harbin University of Civil
Engineering and Architecture and is a Senior Engineer with professorship.
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Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 65, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company on 28th December,
2012. Mr. Yu is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive experience
in the fields of auditing, corporate finance, financial investigation and
corporate management. He was formerly a partner of an international
accounting firm, and is the Chairman of MCL Financial Group Ltd, a
Hong Kong-based financial advisory and investment firm. He is currently
an Independent Non-executive Director of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited, Great China Holdings Limited, Haier Electronics
Group Co., Ltd, Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited, Media
Chinese International Limited, New Century Asset Management Limited
(which is the manager of New Century Real Estate Investment Trust, a
Hong Kong Collective Investment Scheme listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange), One Media Group Limited, Playmates Holdings
Limited, Sateri Holdings Limited, Synergis Holdings Limited and VXL
Capital Limited, which are Main Board listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Qin Chaokui, aged 45, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. He is a
professor and doctoral supervisor of Mechanical and Energy Engineering
School of Tongji University, performing research in the field of gas utilization,
transmission/distribution, and production. He is currently a member
of Renewable Energy Utilization in Buildings Sub-group of MOHURD
(Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of People’s Republic
of China), a member of Shanghai Municipal Urban-Rural Development
& Transportation Commission Science and Technology Committee, a
council member of China Gas Association, a member of Gas Sub-society
of China Civil Engineer Society. He is currently member of editorial boards
of some academic periodicals, including “Gas and Heat”, “Building Energy
Conservation”, “City Gas”, “Public Utilities”, etc. Mr. Qin graduated from
Tongiji University and holds a Doctor’s Degree in Engineering.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Qin Xuwen, aged 52, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014. She is responsible
for operation and management of greater Nanjing area covering Jiangsu
province and Anhui province, and concurrently serves as the General
Manager of Nanjing China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Nanjing Jiangning
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. She has worked in Nanjing China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. since 2002, where she once served as an Assistant to General
Manager and the Manager of the Finance Department.

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 47, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for operation, safety and information technology management. Mr.
Zhu holds a Bachelor’'s Degree majoring in Petro-chemical Industry
Automation from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology
(currently known as Nanjing University of Technology), a Master’s Degree
majoring in International Economics from the Soochow University, and a
Senior Engineer qualification. He joined CRH in August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 39, was appointed as a Senior Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014, responsible
for the Finance Department and the Internal Audit Department. Ms. Cheng
holds a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration from Zhongnan
University of Finance and Economics. She has worked in China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited since June 2005, where she once served as the
Financial Controller. Prior to joining China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior manager in investment banking
division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Yan Guoqi, aged 59, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in November 2010, responsible for
the Greater Zhengzhou Area and concurrently holds the position as
the Chairman of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Limited. Mr. Yan is
a representative of the 11th and 12th Session of the National People’s
Congress of Henan Province, Head of the Urban Gas Association of
Henan Province and a Senior Engineer. He was Deputy Head of Water
Plant, Head of Water Supply Management and Deputy General Manager
of Zhengzhou Municipal Water Company from 1987 to 1997, Deputy
General Manager of Zhengzhou Municipal Natural Gas Corporation
from 1997 to 1998, Deputy Chairman and Deputy General Manager of
Zhengzhou Municipal Gas Company Limited from 1998 to 2000, and
Deputy Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou Gas Group
since 2000. Mr. Yan was appointed as the Chairman of Zhengzhou Gas
Company Limited in 2001. In October 2007, he was appointed as the
Chairman and General Manager of Zhengzhou Gas Group. In December
2009, he was appointed as the Chairman and General Manager of
Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Limited.
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Mr. Zheng Xifeng, aged 56, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for internal corporate affairs. Mr. Zheng holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Law from the School of Law of Xiamen University, a Master of Business
Administration Degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States, and the qualification as Senior International Business Engineer.
He joined CRH in August 1985 and has been with China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since September 2007.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 48, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007, responsible
for investment and PRC legal affairs as well as Beijing Representative
Office. Mr. Huang holds a Master's Degree majoring in International
Finance from the Fudan University and licenses to practice as a lawyer
and an engineer. He joined CRH in March 2000 and has been working
for China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since March 2007.

Mr. Yan Xiaojun, aged 40, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
Shenyang Area. He concurrently acts as the General Manager of
Shenyang Area. He served as various posts in Suzhou Xin Qu Gas
Corporation (& JHFTE KR A 7)) from 1996 to 2003, including Scheduling,
Engineering Design, Construction Workers, Pipelines Deputy Director,
Business Deputy Director, Chief Engineer, Workshop Director and
Production Chief Director, he also served as Assistant Deputy Manager
in Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, Deputy
General Manager of Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009
and General Manager of Kunming China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from
2009 to 2011. Mr. Yan graduated from Tongji University and holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Gas Profession.

Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 48, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
the Greater Chengdu Area. He has worked in China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited since September 2004, where he once served as
the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had served as a Deputy General
Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (EFETIER A A]), an Executive
Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban Gas Co., Ltd. (FREkT IR
BBR/AF]) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior Project Manager and General
Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co., Ltd. CEMFTEBIMRF AR A A]) from
2001 to 2004.
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EERAREBEANEBRERE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 42, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for human
resources management and the Greater Shenzhen Area. Mr. Shi holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree from the Southwest Jiaotong
University and a Master Degree from the China Europe International
Business School; he also holds a Senior Engineer qualification. He
joined CRH in 2006 and China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in
March 2007.

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 52, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for the
Greater Jinan Area, and concurrently serves as General Manager of
the Greater Jinan Area as well as Vice Chairman and General Manager
of Jining China Resources Gas Co., Ltd.. He is currently a Committee
Member of the Gas Transmission and Distribution Professional of the
China Civil Engineering Society. He joined the Design Institute of Jining
Gas Company in 1984 and served as an Assistant Engineer from 1985
to 1986. Mr. Chen served as Director of the Dispatch Office and an
Engineer of Jining Gas Company from 1986 to 2000, Deputy Secretary
of the CPC Committee and Deputy General Manager of Jining Gas
Company from 2000 to 2005, and Secretary of CPC Committee and
General Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2005 to 2007.

Mr. Lu Hong, aged 43, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for the
Greater Fuzhou Area, and concurrently serves as General Manager of the
Greater Fuzhou Area and General Manager of Fuzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd.. Mr. Lu holds a Bachelor's Degree in Commercial
Enterprise Management from Tianjin University of Commerce. He
served at various posts (from staff member to Executive Deputy General
Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (It R& %
FEHbE) from 1993 to 2000, Chairman of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building
Materials Co., Ltd. (f@/NRAFAZEM BRRAF]) from 2000 to 2004,
and various posts (from staff member to Deputy General Manager) in
Fujian Anran Gas Co., Ltd. (fREZARF AR AF]) from 2004 to 2007.
He served as General Manager of Yueyang China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd. and Qianjiang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2008,
and General Manager of Kunming China Resources Gas Co. Ltd. from
2008 to 2009.
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Mr. Peng Junfu, aged 57, was appointed as Chief Engineer of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited and General Manager of Greater
Chengdu Area in March 2012, responsible for assisting the management
of the Greater Chengdu Area, and concurrently serves as a Vice
Chairman of Chengdu Gas Co., Ltd., an Executive Committee Member
of China Gas Association, a Vice Chairman of Sichuan Gas Association
and a member of Sichuan Gas Industry Expert Pool (P)I|’&ARITER
K E). He served at various posts in Chengdu Gas Corporation (5% &8
B R4 A7) from 1980 to 2004, including Vice Section Chief, Section
Chief, Director of the Planning Division, Director of Gas Resource
Development Division, Director of the Users Development Division,
Manager of its Pipeline Branch, as well as the Deputy General Manager
and General Manager of Chengdu Gas Corporation; he also served as
Director, General Manager, Deputy Secretary of CPC Committee and
Legal Representative of Chengdu Gas Co., Ltd., as well as a Member of
Chengdu Municipal Senior Professional Titles Accreditation Commission
(Economic Disciplines) from 2004 to 2005; he also served as Director
and General Manager of Chengdu Gas Co., Ltd. From 2005 to 2012.
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Code set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions
of the Code, the Company has adopted a Corporate Governance
Handbook (the “Handbook”) on 23rd December, 2005 and subsequently
updated in 2008, 2009, 2010, 2012, 2013 and 2014 respectively. The
contents of the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties, model
code for directors’ transactions in securities, model code for securities
transaction by relevant employees, the functions and terms of reference
of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate
Governance Committees, disclosure of information, communication
with shareholders, procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a director and board diversity policy. All the mandatory
provisions under the Code have been adopted and reflected in the
Handbook. The Company has throughout the year complied with the
mandatory provisions of the Code except for the deviation from code
provision D.1.4 which is explained as follows:
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Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the
Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and “Guide for
Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable) published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their duties and
responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.

THE BOARD

On 20th February, 2014, Mr. Ge Bin was appointed as Executive Director
and Vice Chairman.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of four Executive
Directors, four Non-executive Directors and four Independent Non-
executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David has
the appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. The names and biographical details
of each Director are disclosed on pages 35 to 40 of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he
is independent of the Company and the Company also considers that
they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive Director,
including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three
years subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship), if any, among
members of the Board are disclosed in this annual report. There is no
such relationship between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and retirement of
Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other major
operational, financial and risk management matters. Day-to-day operations
of the Group are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

The Board has held periodic meetings during 2013. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—E-=F —E-=F —E-=F —E-=F —E-=F —E-=F
B =AtZA 1A=A AN NBZt=H  t-A=txR  tZA=tH
13th March, 3rd May, 8th May, 23rd August,  26th November, 20th December,
Date 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013
-f £3:4 TEREE IEREE IEREE TEREE TEREE REMALE
Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Wang Mr. Shi
Meeting Chairman Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Chuandong Shanbo
HTES Executive Directors
TERRE Mr. Wang Chuandong 4 | { 0
RERLLE Mr. Shi Shanbo / i | |
IRREE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin | V J V | V
FUTES Non-executive Directors
HXREE Mr. Du Wenmin | y y 0 y 0
b ynpidi Mr. Wei Bin 0 0 0 | | 0
BEELE Mr. Huang Daoguo | y J V 0 0
RELE Mr. Chen Ying | 0 | | | 0
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
HEBEE Mr. Wong Tak Shing J v 0 0 v V
Folnt Ms. Yu Jian Y | | i/ 0 |
EEEE Mr. Yu Hon To, David J v v v V V
EHERE Mr. Qin Chaokui | J y | | y

B (TFEARTXER)
Vo= HE
0 = &7

Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
V = attended
0 = didn't attend

#ENRERERAD | A7



TEERARE

Corporate Governance Report

EEgR T =HF8T-RERXg-
TRETIEKBNEBIHEER

The Board has held one general meeting during 2013. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—F—=
B BEA=+—H
31st May,
Date 2013
BREE ITEREE
Mr. Wang
Meeting Chairman Chuandong

HITES Executive Directors

FEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong J
AEEEE Mr. Shi Shanbo )
ERBEAE Mr. Ong Thiam Kin J
FHITES Non-executive Directors

HXREE Mr. Du Wenmin o
by Mr. Wei Bin o
HERLE Mr. Huang Daoguo J
PRIE K& Mr. Chen Ying o
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors

HRBEE Mr. Wong Tak Shing J
Falz+ Ms. Yu Jian J
BEE A Mr. Yu Hon To, David )
REAR LS Mr. Qin Chaokui o
BEEERESTIBEK BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

ARAR-B-=FN\A-+=BRAEF
ERASTILEE - KBS BEER AH
T UL B I 2 T 5 B B A R A A
TR -

BRME

ARG EEEEREMAZ T RERE
FEENBELR - —HELZTIENES
EREEABTRNE R RITELR
B MRIREMHENESSNE - XA
AR - ZETRBRETEESHNSE
SHRETIAERE - YR ATEER TREE
BEVE - EXEMERENRETEERE
YRR B R AR Bk F M EE -

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly. For the year under review, no measurable
objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

FERMAER
Age Group

BR¥SFHA

Year of Service

ity

Note: the number in bracket represents the number of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company. The relevant
updates on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements are also provided to the
Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their concerns on
good corporate governance.

During the year, all the Directors have participated in the relevant
professional training, attended relevant briefings and gave talks which
covering the Company’s business and the statutory and regulatory
updates. The Company has received the records of the training from
the respective Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is Mr.
Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Shanbo is the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate, together
with the Board, the business strategies and long-term objectives of the
Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer carries out the decisions
made by the Board and is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day

management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise, as
at the date of this annual report, there are five committees namely, the
Audit, Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance
Committees under the Board, with each performing different functions.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises of
two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David
(Chairman) and Mr. Wong Tak Shing and one Non-executive Director
namely Mr. Huang Daoguo. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as internal
audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the following
three main areas:

. responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external
auditor and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of
external auditor;

° review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and half-
year reports and accounts; and

. review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls and risk
management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been uploaded to
the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During 2013 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee has reviewed the financial statements and yearly results
announcement for 2012, and those for the half-yearly results and yearly
results for 2013. These include the review of the Group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices; the review of the ongoing connected
transactions of the Company conducted in 2012 and 2013; and the
review of the internal audit reports prepared by the Company'’s Internal
Audit Division.

The Audit Committee has held three meetings during 2013. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

*E K&
Chairman Members

EELLE EEBRE BEELE
Mr. Yu Mr. Wong Mr. Huang
HE Date Hon To, David Tak Shing Daoguo
—ZE—=F=HN\H 8th March, 2013 v v 4
—E—=FN\A=+H 20th August, 2013 V v V
—Z—=F+—HA+t/\H 18th November, 2013 V \ o

FMEES
FMEE NI 2R REE MR HITE

ENPRERABRNFHRENBEE - 25
BEARNEAE S - REE S MM R

BErE - URERTEZERSR
AR FHEHE -

ERABH

FHZEeRESEE
NSEEY

2 EHER N

RAFREH  FNZEShMBELIFHR
TEEER/BEE (ZFE) MEERER
—BIERITEEEXREEMAN -

R-ZE—=F HFHZESCRIHMER

EREBESERAQT \*gﬁj\ﬂ?-&-*
A— E}mimﬁﬁﬁ@] Jrzﬂ(EA —ZF=A
TRBEIERT) - AEJTE/\ T—=

F+-AWmA Kﬁﬂ&ﬁt/ﬁ$L\ A BT &R
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Remuneration Committee

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Executive
Directors and senior management, including but not limited to bonus
plan, Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan,
as well as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Executive
Director and senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong
Tak Shing (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Hon To, David and one Non-executive
Director namely Mr. Du Wenmin.

During 2013, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the existing
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and the Incentive
Award Scheme adopted by the Company on 1st December, 2008 and
amended on 16th March, 2010. It has also reviewed and approved
cash awards under the Company’s Incentive Award Scheme on 4th
December, 2013.
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FTMEZEEERN T —=FRT-RERE - The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting during 2013. Details
Ti’%%ﬁ‘]xﬁi% R E ISR of individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:
xE 241

Chairman Members
EEBEE HXR%E MEELE
Mr. Wong Mr. Du Mr. Yu
H & Date Tak Shing Wenmin Hon To, David
—E—=%+-"AWmA 4th December, 2013 N v J

REE-_ZT—=F+-_A=+T—HLHF For the year ended 31 December 2013, the remuneration of the members
E aREBRASRGEE S 2FHHERT of the senior management by band is set out below:
o

A
HNEE (Bx) Remuneration band (HK$) Number of persons
1,000,001,87C%1,500,000/ 7T 1,000,001 to 1,500,000

2,000,001/ 7C%2,500,000/%5 7T
4,000,001 754,500,000/ 7T
4,500,001 7L 25,000,000/ 7T
6,500,001 7L %7,000,000/% 7T

2,000,001 to 2,500,000
4,000,001 to 4,500,000
4,500,001 to 5,000,000
6,500,001 to 7,000,000

- W N = =

FHEEHE AR ERFALZESH
1B BIEEWABK 162 R E F AR
B WEHR B SRR EEI -

REZE"
REZEGNIERREARNESTTRE
R UHHEEEREAALTHEIES
MEESRHEEBER -

S
S

SRESEEC LHEBIMR

B Fo
Do
el

RAFHREY REZECHMENTE
EEEREE (EF) RASHBELEUR=
RBUFPTERRESHELE  ToLL
SESGE S DA

52

Annual Report 2013

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure and composition of the Board, and to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
of two Executive Directors namely Mr. Wang Chuandong (Chairman) and
Mr. Shi Shanbo and three Independent Non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Wong Tak Shing, Ms. Yu Jian and Mr. Qin Chaokui.
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The selection criteria for Directors are the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship for
discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which the
Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination. Directors
thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company in
the next general meeting or next annual general meeting, as appropriate,
according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2013, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the existing terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee as well as the composition of
the Board and its committees.

The Nomination Committee passed 1 written resolution by all members of
the Nomination Committee on 20th August, 2013 to review and approve
the proposal regarding the adoption of board diversity policy.

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$3 million
to US$8 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been uploaded
to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee comprises
of one Executive Director namely Mr. Wang Chuandong, two Non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Wei Bin (Chairman) and Mr. Chen Ying,
and one Independent Non-executive Director namely Mr. Wong Tak
Shing.
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During 2013, the Investment Committee passed 14 written resolutions by
all members of the Investment Committee dated 13th March, 2013, 3rd
May, 2013, 24th May, 2013, 10th June, 2013, 5th August, 2013, 12th
August, 2013, 26th September, 2013, 8th October, 2013, 15th October,
2013, 23rd October, 2013 and 25th November, 2013 respectively to
review and approve 20 investment proposals.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices
on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Ms. Yu
Jian (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Qin Chaokui, and two
Executive Directors namely Mr. Shi Shanbo and Mr. Ong Thiam Kin.

A meeting was held on 20th February, 2014 by the Corporate
Governance Committee to review the Company's compliance with the
Code during the year 2013.

OTHER CHANGES IN DIRECTORS' INFORMATION

Other changes in Directors’ information since the date of the 2013
interim report of the Company are set out below.

Mr. Chen Ying, the Non-executive Director of the Company, was
appointed as a director of China Resources Healthcare Group Ltd., with
effect from 18th June, 2013.

Mr. Wong Tak Shing, the Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, has obtained a Master’'s Degree in Law from the University
of London of England.

Mr. Yu Hon To, David, the Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, has retired as Independent Non-executive Director of TeleEye
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from 25th October, 2013.
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Saved for the information disclosed above, there is no other information
required to be disclosed to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective
internal control system.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control covering
all material controls, including financial control, operational control,
compliance control and risk management system.

The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the Company’s accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions, and their training programmes
and budget.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit Committee to review the
effectiveness of such internal control system in operation. The Division
regularly carries out internal audit and other related audit reviews and
reports its findings and suggestions for improvement on better internal
controls to the Audit Committee for their consideration. During the
year, the Internal Audit Division has also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit Committee for consideration and would form the basis for further

improvement in the future.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 79 to 80.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company re-appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent
auditor during the year. The remuneration for services provided during
the year to the Company’s Auditor includes:
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2013

Fax

FriR iR & Services rendered HK$’000
FRT RS Audit services 5,378
IERETIRTS © PEAZEAEREE Non-audit services for: Interim results review 650
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene a
special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not within
twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged at
the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-05, China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either any
number of the registered Shareholders holding not less than one-
twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.
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The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not
less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the meeting in the
case of any other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the requisition
though not deposited within the time required shall be deemed to have
been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

Pursuant to Bye-law 113 of the Bye-Law of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the maximum
number of Directors determined by the members in general meeting.

Pursuant to Bye-law 115 of the Bye-Law of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such
notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment
of such notices will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.

The details procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.

Enquiries put to the Board

Shareholders can address their query in relation to any public information
of the Company by the following channels:

By Post:  Room 1901-05, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

By fax: (852) 2598 8228

By email: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in Note 43 and Note
44 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2013
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 81 to 82.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated financial
statements respectively. 2,000 new shares of the Company were issued
during the year as a result of the exercise of 2,000 share options of the
Company under the Company’s share option scheme.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 85 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31st
December, 2013, amounted to HK$9,134,105,000.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 20 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend
of 2 HK cents per share paid in October 2013, total distribution for 2013
would thus be 22 HK cents per share (2012: 16 HK cents per share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, the final dividend will be payable
on 13th June, 2014 to shareholders on the register of members of the
Company on 6th June, 2014.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 26th May,
2014 to 30th May, 2014, both days inclusive. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 30th May, 2014, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 23rd May, 2014.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after the
close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6th June, 2014 and the register
of members of the Company will be closed on Friday, 6th June, 2014,
during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor
Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 5th June, 2014.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 dividend into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,224,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the shareholders’ equity of the Group was HK$11,704,273.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENT AND INVESTMENTS

Proposed merger of the Company and China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”)

In May 2013, a proposal was made to merge the Company with CRP
to form one flagship energy group under CRH. The proposed merger
involved a scheme of arrangement of the Company pursuant to which
CRP would acquire the entire issued share capital of the Company,
and constituted a major and connected transaction of CRP under the
Listing Rules. The proposed merger was not approved by the requisite
majority of CRP’s independent shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of CRP held on 22nd July, 2013. Hence, the proposed merger
did not proceed.

Establishment of a joint venture in Tianjin

In January 2013, an amount of RMB2.45 billion was paid by the Company
as equity contribution for a 49% stake in Jinran China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd (EREBMEBR AR, a joint venture which engages in
the investment, construction and operation of city gas pipelines, the
sale and distribution of gas, the provision of gas related equipment,
apparatus and ancillary services, as well as gas facilities repair and
maintenance in Tianjin Municipality of the PRC.

New investments in various PRC provinces

The Group made new investments of some HK$836 million in 23 city gas
projects and 4 gas vehicle/vessel projects in Henan, Zhejiang, Anhui,
Sichuan, Guangdong, Jiangxi, Fujian, Shandong, Shanxi, Liaoning,
Guizhou and Hubei Provinces. 9 of these projects are wholly owned by
the Group while the rest are mainly joint ventures with majority controls.

The acquisitions will add to the Company’s existing footprint in these
provinces and create further cluster synergy with existing city gas
projects in terms of centralized procurement, pipeline design &
construction and management efficiency.

Most of the above gas projects are green field projects thus offer a lot
of room for growth in the near future. Their aggregate gas sales volume
is expected to grow in tandem with the overall growth in gas supply in
China. In addition, cluster synergy with the Company’s existing city gas
projects will be further enhanced to fuel further operational scale and
resulting economic efficiency.

Other acquisitions are stated in Note 36 of the consolidated financial
statements.

60 | CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2013



BHEREER

% B AR B ECTE RN RO A 4L E) B A 48 R B AT
H AEBEEETRUBHERE A R ERE
IBICE R o Ilit IRBURA I TSRS
BB S EGELE -

ROTRHMEE
AEER-F-=F - A=+ AMRT
REAAE B ERAR S BB RN 20 -

PBHE

N E 8 25 FLE I BUR R e B RS 2 & AR
FIRE215H °

Mk BERRE
REBNENIME - BERREARILE

MESEHFBDRFHNEE T IBEREM T
14K 516 °

BEE

REERFE R EE RS L EEEFED 5
N A P MAR M 20 R M 721 -

EFEEgWE
Directors’ Report

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, the
Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis continues to
be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2013 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is set
out on page 215 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in Note
14 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 20 and Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2013, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for were less than
30% of the Group'’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2013, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for were approximately
82% of the Group’s total purchases, out of which 58% was attributable
to the largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong

Mr. Shi Shanbo

Mr. Ge Bin (appointed on 20th February, 2014)
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Du Wenmin
Mr. Wei Bin

Mr. Huang Daoguo
Mr. Chen Ying

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Ms. Yu Jian

Mr. Yu Hon To, David
Mr. Qin Chaokui
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The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 101 of the Company, Mr. Ge Bin shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible
for re-election; pursuant to bye-law 110(A), Mr. Shi Shanbo, Mr. Wei
Bin, Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Qin Chaokui shall retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible
for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including Independent
Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years subject to
requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the bye-laws of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (to which the Company or its
subsidiary or its holding company or its fellow subsidiary was a party)
subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which a Director of
the Company is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted to
individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group. All
the aforesaid form the emolument policy and long term incentive for
Directors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2013, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) RAELFERTEBERNER (a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company
Fr iRz
BEAI
HREKRE BB EE Aggregate
EEHR 5% Long or short Number of percentage
Name of Directors Capacity position shares of interest’
FEREE BB A S 446,000 0.0200%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Beneficial owner Long position
AEEEE EHERA 555} 50,000 0.0022%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Beneficial owner Long position
EARRELE EmEE A e 100,000 0.0045%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Beneficial owner Long position
HXRESE BEHEERA TR 54,000 0.0024%
Mr. Du Wenmin Beneficial owner Long position
B &t Note:
1. WARZZT—=F+=-A=+—H0FF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FARREARFREAEEARRR
MOBITRANBEDLL -

shares to the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st
December, 2013.
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(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”), an associated

corporation of the Company

Frik =

BEED L

HRHKRE R5EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

EEREE oA 600,000 0.0250%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

X REE e 100,000 0.0042%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
Bt Notes:

1. WARZZ—=F+=A=+—H0FF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FEE L BB R AR TR AR
EREHEBITRANEDLL -

2. LtXHBRENMERRRAEEIUE
BEBAFDEE

shares and underlying shares of CRE to the total issued share capital

of CRE as at 31st December, 2013.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(c) RALAMBEIEEBEHBRLT
(T#EHER]) ERTEBREAER
ek

(c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated

corporation of the Company

PR

BEEDL

HRHKRE R5EE Aggregate

EEHR Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

AEEELE oA 140,000 0.0024%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

MXREE oA 640,000 0.0110%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position

PR 1 5 A e 500,000 0.0086%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
Bt - Notes:

1. WARZZ—=F+-A=+—H8M 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

FEHE B LB/ AAEROTFRLE
HEEREREHERTRANED
A

2. LXHBRENMERDRAESEIUE
BEBAFNREE

shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued share capital

of CRL as at 31st December, 2013.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his

capacity as beneficial owner.
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(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),

an associated corporation of the Company

PR

BEAIL

HFRERKRE BHHE Aggregate

EEHR Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

FEREE S8 101,800 0.0021%
Mr. Wang Chuandong Long position

AEEEE FE 500,000 0.0104%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

MXREA e 480,240 0.0100%
Mr. Du Wenmin Long position
st Notes:

1. WARZZ—=F+ZA=+—HFH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary

HEBBHLBBREAEROTFRLE
HHERENEMEBRTRANED
L o

2. EXWENEHRERMAERERNER
BEAENEE -

shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued share capital
of CRP as at 31st December, 2013.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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(e) RALQAMEBZEEBRKEZRAR
~E (TFERXE]D ERTEBRRME
B IR A By RE S

(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an

associated corporation of the Company

FritfEsm

BEAIL

HRHKRE RGEE Aggregate

EENS Long or short Number percentage

Name of Directors position of shares of interest’

AEEELE oA 280,000 0.0043%
Mr. Shi Shanbo Long position

EARBIEE e 150,000 0.0023%
Mr. Ong Thiam Kin Long position

PR 1 Sk A 5= 230,000 0.0035%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
B E Notes:

e

AR E—=F+=-A=+—HF
BEBICOR L BRI B B ERK
B EITRANE DL -

2. LXHENEHESREEFRNES
BHEANFNOFE °

RS

1.
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1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares of CR Cement to the total issued share capital of CR Cement
as at 31st December, 2013.

2. All interest disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

1.

Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme adopted on 26th
November, 2001 is to promote dedication by its participants and
to encourage its participants to perform their best in achieving
the goals of the Group. The participants are any Director (or any
persons proposed to be appointed as such) and employee of each
member of the Group; any discretionary object of a discretionary
trust established by any employee or Director of each member of
the Group; any executive or employee of any business consultant,
business partner, professional and other advisers to each member
of the Group (or any persons proposed to be appointed as such);
any substantial shareholder of each member of the Group; any
associates of Director or substantial shareholder of the Company;
and any employee of the Company’s substantial shareholder or
any employee of such substantial shareholder’s subsidiaries or
associated companies, as absolutely determined by the Board.
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The scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme was
refreshed and renewed by ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 25th April,
2005 which enabled the grant of further share options to subscribe
up to 265,591,407 shares representing 10% of the shares in issue
as at the said date.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each participant (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option shall not be later than 10 years from the date the option is
granted. There is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised. HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance
of the option within 28 days from its date of grant. The subscription
price is the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
(ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant and (iii)
the nominal value of a share. The Share Option Scheme has been
terminated in 2008, hence no more option can be issued pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme but in all other respects for existing
share option holders the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
share remain in force.

2,000 share options were exercised during 2013. As at the date
of the annual report, there is no outstanding share option and
hence no share is available for issue pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme.

(a) Directors’ right to acquire shares

None of the Directors has any interests in the share options
of the Company as at 31st December, 2013.

SRR RIEAR
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(b) EARRMEEEBERY 8
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(b)

Employees and other participants’ right to acquire shares

A summary of the movements of the share options in relation to
the employees of substantial shareholder and its subsidiaries
and associated companies (other than employees of the
Group and Directors of the Company) under the Share Option
Scheme during the year is as follows:

BREHE
Number of share options

R-Z—Z=% R-B—=%

BRITHEE —H—H t=H=t—-H

(#B) i RAT i RATE

Exercise price  Outstanding as RERITHE Outstanding

R A per share at 1st January, Exercised as at 31st

Date of grant (HKS) 2013 during the year ~ December, 2013

—ETMFE-A+=A" 9.060 2,000 (2,000) -
13/01/2004'

PR3 - Notes:
1. The share options are vested in 3 tranches and exercisable on

1. BRESSHEE TE-F
THF - —FEAFR-FT
tF-At=ARE-F—M
F—R+= BT AT -
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Incentive Award Scheme

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share
repurchased cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”)
in which selected employees of the Group or investee companies
(being any company in which the Company directly or indirectly
owns 5% or more attributable equity interests and in calculating
the percentage interest so attributed (the “Investee Company”),
the percentage interest held in the Investee Company shall be
multiplied by the percentage interest in each level of entity through
which such interest is held by the Group), are entitled to participate
in the Incentive Award Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Companies
in retaining its existing employees and recruiting additional
employees and to provide them with a direct economic interest in
attaining the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless
early termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the
adoption date. The maximum aggregate numbers of award shares
which can be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and
to a selected employee throughout its duration are limited to 5%
and 0.5% respectively of the issued share capital of the Company

from time to time.

Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased
by the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the
Group and be held in trust for the relevant selected employees
until such shares are vested with the relevant selected employees
in accordance with the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme.
A total of 70,000,000 shares were purchased at an aggregate cost
of approximately HK$253,534,680 (including transaction costs) on
7th April, 2009, representing approximately 4.95% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at date of acquisition and held by
the Trustee. The Company does not intend to purchase any further
share under the Incentive Award Scheme.
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On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded
under the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the
proceeds generated from disposal of the award shares held by
the Trustee for the awards made under the scheme. The awards
will be subject to the approval of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee and the cash under the award will only be given upon
fulfillment of relevant vesting conditions imposed on the date of
grant of the award.

On 4th December, 2013, upon the approvals of the Remuneration
Committee, the Company granted 2,268,500 award shares which
vested immediately. During the year, the Trustee disposed
of these award shares which generated a net proceeds of
HK$54,402,278.05, and distributed these to selected employees
including 3 executive directors. Details of the movement of the
award shares held by the Trustee are as follows:

REBROEE
Number of
award shares

RZZTNFHALHEER Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
R-IBE—ZEZFERENEE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RIE——FERHEEE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RIBE——FRENEE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZZTE—=F—A—HWN&EH Balance as at 1st January, 2013 53,546,984
RIBE—=FERHENEEE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
R-ZBE—=F+"_A=+—H8#&&% Balance as at 31st December, 2013 51,278,484
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with
connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons, details of which are
subject to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.46 of the Listing
Rules and are summarised herein below. The Company’s auditor was
engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.38. The Independent Non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties and on arm'’s length basis;

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them;

(iv) on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
shareholders as a whole; and

(v) without exceeding the relevant cap disclosed in previous relevant
announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31st December, 2013.



EFRRE
Directors’ Report

BsERERSHERBE_T—=F+
“A=t-BREAMERSBELHMNT

Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and
the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2013 are

summarized as follows:

AR¥T R

RMB’000

EEHS Sale and Purchase Agreement 462,432
RRAAZXMBLRE LAXRARKGER Purchase of natural gas for 5 years by a number of
RA (—RRPERINBREEDR - 2 subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural Gas
AMAERARBEMBAR (AEREBRR Limited* (L 78 X 2 & A% {7 B BR 2 ), a limited liability
ARAR (R —T—ZTF+-A—HF company established in the PRC and is the substantial
) ARERREERAR (BaERE— shareholder of these subsidiaries of the Company namely,
TE+—A -+ ABFY)  REBESR Yangquan China Resources Gas Limited (agreement entered
RERAE (HER-_E—ZFE+_F—H on 1st December, 2010), Datong China Resources Gas Co.,
F1) - EMEBRRAERLQR (HER T Ltd (agreement entered on 29th November, 2010), Hongdong
—ZFE+ A+ —HFIZ) RSHERKR China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd. (agreement entered
ARAR (R —T—ZTF+-A—HF on 1st December, 2010), Huozhou China Resources Gas
i) MEZRR) HEAHSFHRAR ° Co., Ltd.* (agreement entered on 11th December, 2010)
and Yangqu China Resources Gas Co., Limited (agreement

entered on 1st December, 2010) respectively.
B RS 1Ei =R Strategic Cooperation Agreements

(iYa) R=ZE—ZF+—A=_+=H ' AR (i)(a) On 22nd November, 2010, the Company entered 886,929
A RN T —=FNA =+ into an agreement and subsequently on 23rd
=BRIVER S - NG BRIEE April, 2013 entered into a supplemental agreement
HIRTRMARAR ([FEBET]) (— in respect of placing of deposits with China
A RNAIK BB TRT - BEEH Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., (“CR Bank”),
ZHHREREE_T—NF+=-_A= a municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai,
T—Bil- ZEEROHBRAA (TEH which effective from the date of the supplemental
B&fn]) A EERER) 73K o AAF] agreement until 31st December, 2014. In which
ERBRREEEEAERRONMIBER China Resources Co., Limited (“CRC”) has a
Al e controlling interest. CRH, the Company’s controlling

shareholder, is a subsidiary of CRC.
FRA S BREBRTEMNEMEFE The interest on the deposits are based on the same
L7 R B FA /O A8 R I R 51 B30 28 R 4R interest rate and on the same term and conditions
EHER RGN - BEAMETIHFEAR as apply to a similar deposit made by any other
RITETE © customer of CR Bank, which rates are determined
by the Peoples’ Bank of China.
(i)(b) Br TF RIS - AR R FAZEEIRTT (i)(b) Other than deposit services, the Company utilised 600,000

ZEERTRE RER ° RIEREREZ
Hofth £ o B B SR 1T B0 SR AP R AR SRR
{/\ °©

commercial banking services and products
provided by CR Bank. The services and products
are similar to the commercial terms of services and
products offered by other banks in the PRC.
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AR¥TT
RMB’000

(i)

(iii)

RZZE—=F+-"A=+—H " AR
L0 P P SR AR 1T AR 7S B 2 IR 1T AT 3L
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o
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BE—FER) - RRBERKREHS
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EREXIHZ

(i)

(i)

e

1.

RZZE—=F+-A=+—H " £xR7
AR A (REERME QR (R
BRI EERIN)) REBEE - E
TR BER LR R RS TSR
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RERE (BIFHRCE—TIER)
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BEH®E MAEMTHAE T —mMF—
A—B# e -

(ii)

(i)

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of
commercial banking services with CR Bank for 2
years (unless extended for a further period). The
services are provided on normal commercial terms
which apply to any other customers of CR Bank.!

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of the
trust services with China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd., (“CR Trust”), for 2 years (unless
extended for a further period). In which CRC has a
controlling interest. CRH, the Company’s controlling
shareholder, is a subsidiary of CRC.'

The services are provided on normal commercial
terms and the fees are charged at a rate no less
favourable as apply to a similar service provided to
any other customers of CR Trust.

Framework Loan Agreements

(i)

(ii)

Note:

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the intra-group
lending between the Company (and any of its
subsidiaries but exclude entity established in the
PRC) and CRH, any China Resources Group listed
company and any of their subsidiaries in respect of
Hong Kong, RMB or, United States dollars loan for
3 years (unless extended for a further period).!

On 31st December, 2013, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the intra-group
lending between any PRC established subsidiary of
the Company and CRC (and any PRC established
subsidiary of CRC) or a China Resources Group
listed company in respect of RMB dollars loan for 3
years (unless extended for a further period).'

Name translated for reference purposes only

el
N/A

TiER
N/A

TiER
N/A

TiER
N/A

The Company entered into the relevant agreements on 31st December, 2013

while the arrangement was effective from 1st January, 2014.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2013
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section

HIKE 336 of the SFO:
REQATNEFR Long position in the Company
PR
BERAL
BERXE RABE  Aggregate
REEHE g ERME Long or Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest short position shares  of interest'
£HEE () HRAT HithEA HiAA A 1407628991 63.30%
(EREEMR]) 2 Beneficial owner Beneficial interest Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
(“CRH Gas")?
EHEE? St NIy 3 NGl 35 1,422,298,991 63.95%
CRH? Controlled company's interest Corporate interest Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited Bt VNGl REER e 1,422,298,991 63.95%
(“CRC Bluesky”")? Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
ERROBRAR ([FERH )2 XEHARNER NGl 8 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources Co., Limited Controlled company’s interest Corporate interest Long position
("CRCL")?
PEEREAR ([TEEHE]) 2 RIEHIA AIE s ARl HE 1,422,298,991 63.95%
China Resources National Corp. Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
Commonwealth Bank of TN R R DA Ha 112,220,000 5.06%
Australia Controlled company'’s interest Corporate interest Long position
B 5E Notes:
1 AR - ZE—=F+_/F=+—HF# 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
R0 B BREEARAREIME HITRA total issued share capital of the Company as at 31st December, 2013.
WEDH -

EHEBRIREEARARDRIREAR
711,407,828,9910% A% {5 % 14,470,0000%
BRDPHEEEE R  ZMRARHRE
BEENZ2EMBAR - Bt - EHER
W ARER AR A #91,422,298,991 1% fi% (5
B Em o 2 H % B RCRC Bluesky
WEEMBAR  EMHEERNOEZEHRE
B EHRNDATRERNZENEA
Ao At - = HE&E - CRC Bluesky »
R P B E B ER AR RK
1,422,298,991 it 15 R G #g e o

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is therefore
deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company. CRH is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by
CRCL. CRCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, CRH, CRC Bluesky,
CRCL and CRNC are therefore deemed to have interest in 1,422,298,991
shares of the Company.
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Directors’ Report

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 27th March, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into two
facility agreements in relation to a HK$800 million 3-year term loan
facility and a HK$300 million 3-year term loan facility with two banks
respectively. The loan facilities are unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of the facility agreements.

On 13th May, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into two
facility agreements in relation to a HK$800 million 3-year term loan
facility and a HK$500 million 3-year term loan facility with two banks
respectively. The loan facilities are unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of the facility agreements.

On 23rd December, 2013, the Company, as borrower, entered into a
facility letter with a bank in relation to a HK$1,500 million 3-year term
loan facility. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of first drawdown.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, CRH is required, at all times,
to hold an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of
not less than 50%. In the issued share capital of the Company (the
“Specific Performance Obligation™ ). It will be an event of default if the
Specific Performance Obligation is breached; and in such case, the
relevant banks shall declare the commitments to be cancelled and/
or declare all outstanding amounts together with interests accrued
thereon and all other sums payable by the Company to be immediately
due and payable.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
during the year ended 31st December, 2013.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 13th March, 2014
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 81 to 214,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st December, 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st December, 2013
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
13th March, 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31st December, 2013 BE_Z—=F+-_A=1+—HLFE

—E-Z=fF —E——F
2013 2012
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt = (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
EER Turnover 7 22,288,027 13,621,787
SHE KA Cost of sales (14,665,908) (9,368,827)
EFI Gross profit 7,622,119 4,252,960
HAb A Other income 518,445 280,103
HERDHFAX Selling and distribution expenses (2,373,282) (1,085,214)
TBAX Administrative expenses (2,231,190) (1,540,837)
3,536,092 1,907,012
B 7S AR Finance costs 8 (523,558) (315,022)
BihEERRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 698,426 867,259
FER B & R R ¥R Share of results of associates 99,901 109,568
35 AT v A Profit before taxation 3,810,861 2,568,817
HIE Taxation 9 (987,107) (539,533)
F R A Profit for the year 10 2,823,754 2,029,284

FREMEERA Other comprehensive income

for the year
TEEMHPBEEER ltems that will not be reclassified
ZIEH : to profit or loss:
MEEENER =% Exchange differences arising

on translation 635,630 4,989
FEREE AL Total comprehensive income for the year 3,459,384 2,034,273
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 #HZEZE-T—=F+-_A=+—HILFE

—E-=F —E—CF
2013 2012
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt = (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
LA A LS FE A F) Profit for the year attributable to:
RATHEEA Owners of the Company 2,160,945 1,645,543
FEPE R R A Non-controlling interests 662,809 383,741
2,823,754 2,029,284
IATATELEFERZERA Total comprehensive income for
1AEE - the year attributable to:
KAREER A Owners of the Company 2,685,585 1,648,639
FEPERR M 2 Non-controlling interests 773,799 385,634
3,459,384 2,034,273
BT BIT
HK$ HK$
(&%)
(Restated)
FRER Earnings per share 13
HR Basic 1.00 0.82
i3 Diluted 1.00 0.82
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2013

R=ZF—=f+-A=+—H

—E-Z=F & T F
+=—A=+-8B +=A=+—H —A—A
31.12.2013 31.12.2012 1.1.2012
FTHET FHT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Fff 5 (E=51) (E51)
NOTES (Restated) (Restated)
ERBEE Non-current assets
mME - WENEKE Property, plant and equipment 14 18,527,861 13,009,571 7,509,991
BRI AFIE Prepaid lease payments 15 1,132,220 849,917 689,813
wEME Investment properties 16 11,140 2,864 3,494
AEE A RIER Interests in joint ventures 17 8,853,031 6,144,740 6,176,718
N NEIL Interests in associates 18 1,956,465 1,757,911 1,596,804
A ERE Available-for-sale investments 19 21,383 7,802 17,845
RS Goodwill 20 409,952 402,369 275,522
B Operating rights 21 758,244 288,485 177,582
TR IEE E Deferred tax assets 32 98,630 115,350 70,350
KeEERe Deposits for operating rights 77,168 56,209 65,008
BAAHFERS Deposits for prepaid lease
payments 77,257 26,574 8,053
BEMX  BER Deposits for property, plant and
Btien equipment 189,497 103,274 13,144
KEES Deposits for investments 149,756 205,153 =
32,262,604 22,970,219 16,604,324
RBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 22 791,955 535,068 301,100
EWE FREAI R Trade and other receivables
H At UK 23 6,665,784 3,174,282 2,481,653
EWEFAHTEIEA Amounts due from customers
for contract works 24 903,006 321,943 214,429
B ALFIE Prepaid lease payments 15 55,115 39,540 30,600
FEHSZH/?MT% GIE ¢ Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 25 - 33,913 23,001
BRI TR Pledged bank deposits 26 219,149 68,023 4,440
RITRHBERE Bank balances and cash 26 9,584,178 10,539,547 5,184,628
18,219,187 14,712,316 8,239,851
mEEE Current liabilities
BB SERK Trade and other payables
H R 27 11,470,251 5,091,684 3,388,586
ERNEFPEHTIERIEA Amounts due to customers for
contract works 24 5,218,147 2,654,483 1,455,781
FEfS AR AR A RIFRIE Amount due to an intermediate
holding company 25 - 45,016 994,309
FEfT B R H 8 A AR Amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries 25 - 2,564,673 254,303
BTHB 2 Government grants 28 12,154 9,545 3,599
RITREMES Bank and other borrowings 29 858,749 175,107 1,461,210
FER R IE Taxation payable 396,520 225,166 111,213
17,955,821 10,765,674 7,669,001
mENEEFE Net current assets 263,366 3,946,642 570,850
32,525,970 26,916,861 17,175,174
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2013 R_E—=F+-A=+—H

—B—=F —E—_fF —E—_F
+=B=+—-H8 +=ZA=+—H —H—H
31.12.2013 31.12.2012 1.1.2012
FTHET FHT FHETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Fff 5 (E=51) (E51)
NOTES (Restated) (Restated)

BEARRHE Capital and reserves
[N Share capital s 222,401 222,401 199,227
[E Reserves 13,960,534 11,476,451 9,119,432

AR EES ARG Equity attributable to owners of

the Company 14,182,935 11,698,852 9,318,659
IR Non-controlling interests 4,432,903 2,987,138 2,485,050
18,615,838 14,685,990 11,808,709

FERBEE Non-current liabilities
IEgiSE kA Government grants 28 88,240 125,826 87,702
BT hEMEES Bank and other borrowings 29 7,331,576 5,848,690 4,883,009
BERE Senior notes 30 5,683,954 5,669,130 =
HivREAE Other long-term liabilities 31 245,405 78,877 152,693
EEHEAE Deferred tax liabilities 32 560,957 508,348 248,061
13,910,132 12,230,871 5,371,465
32,525,970 26,916,861 17,175,174

FEIE2UUE VAV HHRREHEFTERN
—E-E=A+=B#ERBRETIEY R
THAIRERESSEHE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 214 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13th March, 2014
and are signed on its behalf by:

ITER AER
WANG CHUANDONG SHI SHANBO
BF BF
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
84 | XEAIL\‘IQ SESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 BE—_T—=F+-_A=+—HIFE

LT TN 1

Attributable to owners of the Company

BER

it#

#EZ

R

BRE  Shares FER

Bt A\ oS E} #%  heldfor i i #8 E& R4
e B i3 Ei [ Share  incentive (i Ei pied] Non- #E
Share Share  Contributed  Capital ~ Translation option award Other Merger  Retained &3 controlling Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserves  reserve profits Total interests equity

TEr  TRT TEn TEr  TEm TEm  TEm  TEm TR TR TEm TER TR
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00O  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKSO0D  HKS000  HKSO00D

(Fika)  (Hikb) (Hite)  (Wika)
(Notea)  (Noteb) (Notec) ~ (Noted)

RZE-ZF-A-R(REE3)  AttstJanuary, 2012, as previously stated 199227 2914756  7,388600 232978 964,298 13436 (219298) 434551 (6312518) 3702629 9318659 2547404 11,866,063
TEREBIBREEAZ15 (H5k2) Applcation of HKFRS 11 (note 2) - - - - - - - - - - - (62354) (62354
R-F-—%-A-A (&%) At 1st January, 2012 as resfated 199,007 2,914,756 7388600 232978 964,298 13436 (219.298) 434551 (6312518) 3702629 9318659 2485050 11,803,709
EREH Profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 1645543 1645543 383741 2,029,284
EREHRERA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 3,00 - - = = - 309 1893 4989
ERZARALE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 3,09% - - - - 1645543 1648639 385634 2034273
FERESTE Capital contribution from non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - 500038 500038
EERDR Placing of shares 16,000 2,696,000 - - - - - - - - 2712000 - 2712000
KRR Share issue expenses - (13210) - - - - - - - - (18210 - (18210)
WEHEAR Acquisttion of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 394185 304185
WERHEL BN bER Acquisttion of additional nterest in & subsidiary T 781187 - (10443 - - - - - - 575888 (592845)  (16,957)
HREAREHNBAAENZRE Consideration payable for acquiring

subsidiaries under common control = = = = = = = - (2415,00) - (2415,000) - (2415,000)
HERREHARALRA Disposal of shares held for incentive award

scheme - - - - - - 24,968 - - 87398 112,366 - 112366
B (Hik12) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - - (240430 (240430) - (240430)
BRHWERTEERESRS Dividends paid to non-controling

interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (184924)  (184,924)
Erd Transfer - - - - - - - 1046 - (211,046) - - -
WZZ-ZF+ZA=t-R At 31st December, 2012 22401 6,378,643 7388600 20,535 967,394 13436 (194330) 705597 (8,727518) 4924094 11698852 2987,138 14,685,990
EREF Praft for the year - - - - - - - - - 2160945 2160945 662809 2823754
FRAh2ERA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 54640 - - - B - 524640 110990 635630
FREENAEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 524640 - - - - 2160945 2685585 773799 3450384
FRER A Capital contribution from non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - M5 127445
hEHBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - - - - - = = = - 1032150 1,082,150
EfERNBLRTE Arsing on capital inection into a subsiclary - - - - - - - 49 - S MY (92449) -
HEBRBIESEZRG Disposal of shares held for incentive award

scheme - - - - - - 8217 - - 46,186 54,403 - 54,403
BHRE (i12) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - - (348354)  (348.354) - (348354)
ERIEATHERELRE Dividends paid to non-controling

interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - (395,180)  (395,180)
BRERR Expiry of share options - - - - - (1843) - - - 13,436 - - -
Er Transfer - - - - - - - 21683 - (276,836) - - -
WZZ-=F+-A=t-R At 31st December, 2013 22401 6,378,643 7388600 20535 1492034 - (186,113) 1074882 (8727518) 6519471 14182935 4,432,903 18,615,838
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 BE_Z—=F+_A=+—HLFE

B5E - Notes:
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Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special general
meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of HK$7,388,600,000
standing to the credit of share premium has been reduced and transferred
to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a distributable reserve
and will be used for payment of dividends and for such other purposes as
allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital reserve arises from (i) discount on acquisition of joint ventures from
an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the Group
in prior years; and (ii) the difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise general reserve, statutory surplus reserve,
enterprise expansion fund, statutory public welfare fund and discretionary
surplus reserve of subsidiaries established in People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), and the change in net assets attributable to the Group in relation to
the increase in ownership interests in subsidiaries through cash injection.

General reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to 10% of the
profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by their board of
directors in accordance with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries.
This reserve should only be used for making up losses, capitalisation into
capital and expansion of production and operation.

Merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash consideration
paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares issued by the
Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium of the combined
entities under group reorganisations.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BE-_F-=Ft-A=t-HILEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2013

—E-=F —E—CF
2013 2012
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
R OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Rk 75 BT V4 ) Profit before taxation 3,810,861 2,568,817
TR Adjustments for:
B X H Interest expense 523,558 315,022
FLEWA Interest income (260,483) (220,468)
ERERBHE Government grants recognised (65,285) (8,586)
EIEE B A RIS Share of results of joint ventures (698,426) (867,259)
JEMREE S AR A Share of results of associates (99,901) (109,568)
HEME - BFE RRERE Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (6,712) (1,983)
HEREYENEE Loss on disposal of investment properties 727 =
HERHEERENEE Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments - 1,680
EREREWE Z TR ERE Impairment loss recognised on
trade receivables 26,410 5,201
HEFER R A IR B Release from prepaid lease payments 50,676 20,008
R G Amortisation of operating rights 29,520 13,935
Y WERXETE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 530,779 486,123
TEMERE Depreciation of investment properties 12,177 625
LELESEHAHNKLIESME  Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital 3,853,901 2,208,547
FERNm Increase in inventories (158,681) (152,831)
JEUWE BRI R EM UGN Increase in trade and other receivables (2,460,047) (140,204)
KRR E A4 T2 /I8 Increase in amounts due from customers
for contract works (287,640) (107,554)
FET B 5 BR 30 Rz H it & {~F 3042 40 Increase (decrease) in trade and
CRd) other payables 4,407,431 (270,438)
EREFE TR FRIEE N Increase in amounts due to customers
for contract works 1,218,700 1,198,973
KEEBEENE S Cash generated from operations 6,573,664 2,736,493
BT B EEH PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (902,423) (436,522)
REXKFMBRESTFE NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,671,241 2,299,971
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 #HZEZE-T—=F+-_A=+—HILFE

== —E——F
2013 2012
THERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt = (&%)
NOTES (Restated)
REXK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEYE - BEMRENF  Payments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment (3,764,027) (2,588,948)
REEBQRNKEE Investment in joint ventures (3,201,651) (50,701)
ME & RN aRAE R Advance to joint ventures (275,066) (164,598)
X AFER AL RIE Prepaid lease payments made (184,565) (180,205)
KRB RERT R Payments for operating rights (182,981) (37,460)
BEME  BEREBES Deposits for property, plant and
equipment (189,497) (103,274)
REES Deposits for investments (16,721) (205,153)
B IRITEFIE N Increase in pledged bank deposits (129,670) (63,584)
REE QR E Investment in associates (25,953) (104,963)
TENBNRIEEZS Deposits for prepaid lease payments (77,257) (26,574)
WS & ) 2 /)50 Payments for acquisition of
investment properties (21,029) -
U BE A] 1 SR E AR Payments for acquisition of
available-for-sale investments (13,294) -
i Ny NS Acquisition of subsidiaries 36 658,783 (1,600,367)
2HEERFIRE Dividend received from joint ventures 441,898 189,993
2 W F & Interest received 244,908 220,468
DU EREEAMMEAM#BIE  Government grants received
related to assets 28,098 47,673
HEYE - BENREFTSEIE Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment 52,836 43,232
RERZRMBRRBER Repayment from (advance to)

EIEESGENGE S fellow subsidiaries 33,913 (10,912)
B AR E Dividend received from associates 34,134 54,032
maEERERR Advance to a joint venturer - (493,308)
REEERAIRER Repayment from a joint venture - 496,270
HEEWENBARNRE Settlement of consideration for the

acquisition of subsidiaries - (186,343)
AT I B R A FTIS 38 Proceeds from disposal of

available-for-sale investments - 8,361
REXKFMARSFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES (6,587,141) (4,756,361)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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2013 2012
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
B K FINANCING ACTIVITIES
EIEESEPNGEof Repayment to fellow subsidiaries (2,564,673) (104,630)
EENELYEINGIE el G 2y oy Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries (395,180) (184,924)
BERRA Dividends paid (348,354) (240,430)
2B EEEFR S Interest paid on senior notes (261,718) (137,871)
BEBETREMES Repayments of bank and other borrowings (260,753) (1,320,252)
BIRIT REMEEFR Interest paid on bank and other borrowings (249,108) (111,932)
Elaaliab 2 NG 0= Repayment to an intermediate
holding company (45,016) (949,297)
R T R EMES New bank and other borrowings raised 2,418,800 686,401
REABZARMNBKR Advance from joint ventures 1,138,130 1,227,491
Y NCIE e e Contribution from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries 127,445 500,038
HE R ERFEZ Proceeds from disposal of shares held
IR PS8 for incentive award scheme 54,403 112,366
BAZRBEITHA Senior notes issue costs - (34,596)
WHE B A Rl FE S ME Net cash outflow from acquisition of
FTEARIR SRR additional interest in subsidiary - (16,957)
BEITRMAX Share issue expenses - (18,270)
BITBAERIBFE A Proceeds from issue of senior notes - 5,699,603
[4=5:40) Placing of shares - 2,712,000
RMEXK (FTA) SRS FE NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (386,024) 7,823,740
BEERBELEE (i) EiNFEFE NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,301,924) 5,367,350
FEBRSRBESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,539,547 5,184,628
IIEERBENT EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES 346,555 (12,431)
FRESRESEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR,
BRTT4E IR S representing bank balances and cash 9,584,178 10,539,547
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GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate parent company is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate holding company is
China Resources National Corp. (“CRNC”), a company established
in the P'RC which is owned and controlled by the PRC government.
The addresses of registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information in the
annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi. The Company
uses Hong Kong dollars as its presentation currency because the
Company is a public company with its shares listed on the Stock
Exchange.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out
in notes 43, 44 and 45, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 #HZE-ZT—=F+-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2009-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures - Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 Joint Arrangements and

Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities: Transition Guidance

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in

Other Entities
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items of

Other Comprehensive Income
HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC) - Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine

Except as described below, the application of the above new and
revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material effect on
the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint arrangements,
associates and disclosures

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements,
associates and disclosures comprising HKFRS 10 “Consolidated
Financial Statements”, HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, HKFRS 12
“Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”, HKAS 27 (as revised in
2011) “Separate Financial Statements” and HKAS 28 (as revised in
2011) “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”, together with
the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 regarding
transitional guidance.

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) is not applicable to the Group as it
deals only with separate financial statements.

The impact of the application of these standards is set out below.

Impact of the application of HKFRS 10

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements” that deal with consolidated financial
statements and HK(SIC) — Int 12 “Consolidation — Special Purpose
Entities”. HKFRS 10 changes the definition of control such that an
investor has control over an investee when a) it has power over the
investee, b) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and c) has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns. All three of these criteria must be met for an investor
to have control over an investee. Previously, control was defined as
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Additional guidance has
been included in HKFRS 10 to explain when an investor has control
over an investee. In particular, guidance in HKFRS 10 that deals with
whether or not an investor that owns less than 50% of the voting rights
in an investee has control over the investee is relevant to the Group.
In assessing whether or not an investor with less than a majority of the
voting rights in an investee has a sufficiently dominant voting interest
to meet the power criterion, HKFRS 10 requires the investor to take
into account all relevant facts and circumstances, particularly, the
size of the investor’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and
dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 HE_T—=F+_A=1+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)
Impact of the application of HKFRS 10 (Continued)

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS10, the Group has changed its
accounting policy with respect to determining whether it has control
over an investee. The adoption does not change any of the control
conclusions reached by the Group in respect of its investees at
1st January, 2013.

Impact of the application of HKFRS 11

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures”, and
the guidance contained in a related interpretation, HK(SIC) — Int
13 “Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by
Venturers”, has been incorporated in HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).
HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control should be classified and accounted for.
Under HKFRS 11, there are only two types of joint arrangements
— joint operations and joint ventures. The classification of joint
arrangements under HKFRS 11 is determined based on the rights
and obligations of parties to the joint arrangements by considering
the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the contractual
terms agreed by the parties to the arrangement, and, when
relevant, other facts and circumstances. A joint operation is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement (i.e. joint operators) have rights to the assets, and
obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint
venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement (i.e. joint venturers) have rights to the
net assets of the arrangement. Previously, HKAS 31 had three types
of joint arrangements — jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled
operations and jointly controlled assets. The classification of joint
arrangements under HKAS 31 was primarily determined based on
the legal form of the arrangement (e.g. a joint arrangement that was
established through a separate entity was classified as a jointly
controlled entity).

R RER
=

112}
7
A
)
O
W

=



94

AR A B IR M A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 #

BRANEE] RAMERT VB B B
BHREER (FRUBR®
HEA ) (&)

RAET RSB B B RS ER

(%&)
AT B BEHREERET 152 E
(&

AERRARAZEBNNREERS
SHEREALTHER - REE AT
BRETEAREDE (TBTFRAL
PIEOHE) AR - REZ2EBHNKRE
TEREAEEBERRELEE (8
BREREXBRAENEMNEE) HAE
(BREECEARAEENERNEE)  H
BEREPA (BREAEREEEEHKH
EMEEMZRERA) REMRX (8%
FEAE KR E LM ER ) MAK -
BEREEGERBERENSRENS
EEVBWRaMENEEREE (R
MR AR ) A -

m:%

RRBEZREBEEFEWBHRELER
TREREER R AEENE 2
RHPNREDE EEZRREAEE
RIBEBSITERER  REEE
ZHPNREDBERARZHEER
ERLEPEFEAR  REEBMG
SEANEREDER/EGERAL
oA o AEBER KR ES
ERBREANSHRENEHERER
BB REERBE RN EFR
NGRS T IARRAN - stER AR zA T
TS F A BEONBERE
TERASEEERIRLL PG FHEEM
BEMRESENAAETE - It
h BEH T ——F—F— B0
WMIREETTRENFELRS  BF
BRERRERE - —T——F1k
ﬁi@ﬁ%éﬂ%&%$§@%é%

i)

]}ﬂ

Annual Report 2013

= —

BE-F

| CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

—=Ft_A=t—HIEEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)
Impact of the application of HKFRS 11 (Continued)

The initial and subsequent accounting of joint ventures and
joint operations are different. Investments in joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method (proportionate consolidation
is no longer allowed). Investments in joint operations are accounted
for such that each joint operator recognises its assets (including its
share of any assets jointly held), its liabilities (including its share
of any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue (including its share
of revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation) and
its expenses (including its share of any expenses incurred jointly).
Each joint operator accounts for the assets and liabilities, as well as
revenues and expenses, relating to its interest in the joint operation
in accordance with the applicable standards.

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the
classification of the Group’s investments in joint arrangements
in accordance with the requirements of HKFRS 11. The directors
concluded that the Group’s investment in jointly controlled entities,
which were classified as a jointly controlled entity under HKAS
31 and was accounted for using the proportionate consolidation
method, should be classified as a joint venture under HKFRS 11 and
accounted for using the equity method. The change in accounting
of the Group’s investment in jointly controlled entities has been
applied in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions set
out in HKFRS 11. The initial investment as at 1st January, 2012
for the purposes of applying the equity method is measured as
the aggregate of the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities
that the Group had previously proportionately consolidated.
Also, the directors performed an impairment assessment on the
initial investment as at 1st January, 2012 and concluded that no
impairment loss is required. Comparative amounts for 2012 have
been restated to reflect the change in accounting for the Group’s
investment in joint arrangements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Impact of the application of HKFRS 12

HKFRS 12 is a new disclosure standard and is applicable to
entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general,
the application of HKFRS 12 has resulted in more extensive
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements (please see
notes 17, 18 and 43 for details).

HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”

The Group has applied HKFRS 13 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad; the fair value
measurement requirements of HKFRS 13 apply to both financial
instrument items and non-financial instrument items for which other
HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures
about fair value measurements, except for sharebased payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment’, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS
17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realisable value for the
purposes of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment
assessment purposes).

HKFRS 13 defines the fair value of an asset as the price that
would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability,
in the case of determining the fair value of a liability) in an orderly
transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions. Fair value
under HKFRS 13 is an exit price regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
Also, HKFRS 13 includes extensive disclosure requirements. Other
than the additional disclosures, the application of HKFRS 13 has
not had any material impact on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
Comprehensive Income”

“Presentation of Items of Other

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income”. Upon the adoption of the
amendments to HKAS 1, the Group’s statement of comprehensive
income is renamed as the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Furthermore, the amendments to
HKAS 1 require additional disclosures to be made in the other
comprehensive section such that items of other comprehensive
income are grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items that
may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive
income is required to be allocated on the same basis - the
amendments do not change the existing option to present items
of other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax. The
amendments have been applied retrospectively, and hence the
presentation of items of other comprehensive income has been
modified to reflect the changes. Other than the above mentioned
presentation changes, the application of the amendments to
HKAS 1 does not result in any impact on profit or loss, other

comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income” (Continued)

Summary of the effects of the above changes in accounting policies

The effect of the change in accounting policy descried above on
the results for the year ended 31st December, 2012 by line items
are as follow:

Impact on profit for the year of the application of HKFRS 11

HE_T—_F

+=—A=+—H

ILEFE

Year ended

31.12.2012

PETT

HK$
) Decrease in turnover (5,968,826)
SHE R Decrease in cost of sales 4,202,877
H A AR Decrease in other income (292,681)
HE MDA R Decrease in selling and distribution expenses 444,492
TR mAD Decrease in administrative expenses 517,420
IS R AN R Decrease in finance costs 18,776
FE(EE &N a)EEEM Increase in share of results of joint ventures 867,259
EIEEE R R EERD Decrease in share of results of associates (15,801)
FIEm Decrease in taxation 226,484

HEZENZZE

Impact on profit for the year -
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income” (Continued)

Summary of the effects of the above changes in accounting policies
(Continued)

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity as at 1st January, 2012 of
the application of HKFRS 11

98

Tz &

BB
R-Z——F HEEH  RZT-——F
—H—8 F11RAR —HA—8
As at HKFRS 11 As at
1.1.2012 adjustments 1.1.2012
FHT FHTT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(£RIZ31) (&231)
(Previously (Restated)
stated)
Y - R RRE Property, plant and equipment 12,394,681 (4,884,690) 7,509,991
B LR E Prepaid lease payments 936,078 (246,265) 689,813
KEYE Investment properties 54,519 (51,025) 3,494
NN NGI L Interests in joint ventures = 6,176,718 6,176,718
NN Interests in associates 1,695,774 (98,970) 1,596,804
AHEHERE Available-for-sale investments 36,942 (19,097) 17,845
[EES Goodwill 1,216,719 (941,197) 275,522
L Operating rights 751,287 (573,705) 177,582
RIEFIBE E Deferred tax assets 124,329 (53,979) 70,350
KRS Deposits for operating rights 70,741 (5,733) 65,008
BRRAFEE S Deposits for prepaid lease payments 49,591 (41,538) 8,053
FE Inventories 464,279 (163,179) 301,100
JEWE SEZ R EMEWR  Trade and other receivables 3,095,084 (613,431) 2,481,653
EREFPEHIRENEA Amounts due from customers
for contract works 696,810 (482,381) 214,429
BRI LB Prepaid lease payments 37,518 (6,918) 30,600
B IRITER Pledged bank deposits 54,002 (49,562) 4,440
RITHER LR S Bank balances and cash 7,123,634 (1,939,006) 5,184,628
ERNESEREEMERZ  Trade and other payables (4,472,581) 1,083,995 (3,388,586)
EREPEHIREMNE Amounts due to customers
for contract works (3,438,710) 1,982,929 (1,455,781)
FEfF AR AR A B UA Amount due to an intermediate
holding company (994,313) 4 (994,309)
RITREMBEE Bank and other borrowings
(R—FERNEIH) (due within one year) (1,677,164) 215,954 (1,461,210)
FERT R TE Taxation payable (209,053) 97,840 (111,213)
RITREMBEE Bank and other borrowings
(R—EF1&2I5) (due after one year) (5,014,425) 131,416 (4,883,009)
HithRHBE Other long-term liabilities (195,917) 43,224 (152,693)
REMIBAG Deferred tax liabilities (624,303) 376,242 (248,061)
HFEE R ERE Total effect on net assets 12,175,522 (62,354) 12,113,168
HRA 2 EBHETH Total effect on equity
— PR - Non-controlling interests (11,866,063) 62,354 (11,803,709)

Annual Report 2013
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income” (Continued)

Summary of the effects of the above changes in accounting policies
(Continued)

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity as at 31st December, 2012
of the application of HKFRS 11

BB
RZF—Z=F WEER  R_T-=F
+=—A=+—H F11RFAE +=ZA=+—H
As at HKFRS 11 As at
31.12.2012 adjustments 31.12.2012
FAT FAT FHAT
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
(ERIZ5) (E31)
(Previously (Restated)
stated)
M - BB k& Property, plant and equipment 17,712,079 (5,122,416) 12,589,663*
AN A RIE Prepaid lease payments 1,143,767 (293,850) 849,917
EWE Investment properties 53,681 (50,817) 2,864
NEER AR Interests in joint ventures = 6,144,740 6,144,740
N NG Interests in associates 1,861,428 (103,517) 1,757,911
A HERE Available-for-sale investments 26,353 (18,551) 7,802
HE Goodwill 1,676,018 (949,246) 726,772
L Operating rights 855,615 (572,531) 283,084*
EERIBEEE Deferred tax assets 191,682 (76,332) 115,350
KRS Deposits for operating rights 70,728 (14,519) 56,209
ERBHFIEZS Deposits for prepaid lease payments 73,022 (46,448) 26,574
M - BEREERS Deposits for property,
plant and equipment 119,342 (16,068) 108,274
wELE Deposit for investments 208,805 (3,652) 205,153
FE Inventories 747,339 (212,271) 535,068
EWE ZERF N HAMAEWF  Trade and other receivables 4,366,327 (1,192,045) 3,174,282
EREFEAHTIIEZRIE Amounts due from customers
for contract works 838,189 (516,246) 321,943
EERRITER Pledged bank deposits 95,480 (27,457) 68,023
BITRBERE Bank balances and cash 12,285,555 (1,746,008) 10,539,547
ENBIHEALEMENK  Trade and other payables (6,239,457) 1,147,773 (5,091,684)
ENEFAHTIRIA Amounts due to customers
for contract works (5,510,223) 2,855,740 (2,654,483)
RITREAMBEE Bank and other borrowings
(R—FREH) (due within one year) (239,314) 64,207 (175,107)
PR TE Taxation payable (319,516) 94,350 (225,166)
RITREMBEE Bank and other borrowings
(R—51&28) (due after one year) (5,952,547) 103,857 (5,848,690)
HinREBE Other long-term liabilities (195,347) 116,470 (78,877)
EEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (724,243) 322,222 (402,021)*
HEEECVEERE Total effect on net assets 23,144,763 (112,615) 23,032,148
HRAZ FERT Total effect on equity
— R - Non-controlling interests (14,804,026) 112,615 (14,691,411)
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income” (Continued)

Summary of the effects of the above changes in accounting policies
(Continued)

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity as at 31st December, 2012
of the application of HKFRS 11 (Continued)

* The Group has retrospectively adjusted the provisional fair values of
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries acquired during the year
ended 31st December, 2012 to reflect the fair value adjustments made
upon completion of the purchase accounting during the current year.
Adjustments have been made retrospectively to property, plant and
equipment, operating rights, goodwill and deferred tax liabilities as
set out in note 36.

Impact on cash flows for the year ended 31st December, 2012 of
the application of HKFRS 11

HE—Z——F

+=ZA=+—H

IEFE

Year ended

31.12.2012

F#T

HK$'000
KEEBFTEARR SR FE Net cash outflow from operating activities (2,743,263)
REEBHEARNBE S RAFR Net cash inflow from investing activities 1,546,069
RUEEBEANRESRAIFRE Net cash inflow from financing activities 1,401,589
BERAFEE Net cash inflow 204,395

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

1 OO I Annual Report 2013



R RAEERTNE B

W&

B ([ & 7% Bt 7% )

HEA ) (F)
BEME N R ERNFTREETE
BRI

AREBEWEEFRNAT D HEME R
REBHHET LB T B RBH B ME

IRE B RR M R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 #HZE-ZT—=F+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

ZEHI o

BAM RS LR BANBRSENFR
sles E(ZT-T£2

TR

BAMBREE BANBREERER

fgET ¥E(Z5--F2
—T-ZFHR)?

BAGHREEN BARBRSENFR
FORREBHE MEsIE M B R
B R BT BERRES
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BAGHREEN REEE
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Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 14

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 32
Amendments to HKAS 36

Amendments to HKAS 39

HK(IFRIC) - Int 21

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle®

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle?

Mandatory Effective date of HKFRS 9
and Transition Disclosures®

Investment Entities’

Financial Instruments®
Regulatory Deferral Accounts*
Deferred Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions?
Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities’
Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets'
Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting’
Levies'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2014.

FEHRE -

RZE—MFEL A —BARRARE
FREBMAER -

R-T—HFEA—BHARRBRN
FEARER  FEAROPIIME
P

RZZE—R"F—A—B=EHBN
Eﬁir%%ﬂﬁ%iﬁiiﬁ‘,ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%

s A HAER AR — sa 1 A BB H N &
BT RS E R 95 & ) 15 T E B

SUEBIRETE ©

K’&ﬂ%%iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁé%?%%ﬁuﬂ&
BISE] B MEER B AN KBRS I
BRENHBEZE -

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2014.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2014, with
limited exceptions.

4 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or
after 1st January, 2016.

5 Available for application — the mandatory effective date will be
determined when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are finalised.

The directors of the Company are in the process of ascertaining the
financial effect of the application of these new and revised HKFRSs
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which
are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

sansgnaned | 103
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”
respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-Based
Payment” at the acquisition date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-Current Assets held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013 HE_T—=F+_A=1+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on
the basis specified in another standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis
of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or a joint venture,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy goodwill arising on the an associate and a joint
venture is described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified
as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date
the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of assets), profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or
joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold
and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of a construction contract for gas
connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion
at the end of reporting period can be measured reliably. Revenue
from and expenses on construction contracts for gas connection
are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the year
relative to the estimated total costs of the contract. When the
outcome of a construction contract for gas connection cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract cost incurred that is probable to be recoverable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income from
a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold properties
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in
the course of construction for production or for own use purposes.
Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component classified as an operating lease
is classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. During the construction
period, the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses and are classified as property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition
necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
in which the item is derecognised.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion at
the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion that contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown
as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts
where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date
plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
shown as amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as
advances received. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet
paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset is measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment
loss on financial assets below).

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount of the asset on initial
recognition. Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”"), loans and receivables, or
held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
available-for-sale and are traded in an active market are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in
the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. When the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end
of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

° it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For investments in equity securities that are carried at cost, the
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate
of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment revaluation

reserve.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit and loss. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit and loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, amounts
due to an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries,
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term
liabilities, are measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method subsequent to initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
a straight-line basis over the relevant lease term.

As lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the relevant lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of the
lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a
finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/
state-managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint controlled entities, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and
deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated

at the rates prevailing at the date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end of
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1st
January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the translation reserve.



TESHEE (&)

BRGB X NHRS

R-BE-ZF-ALtARRTES
PR-ZBZELF-A—ARZEHE
HIBEIRER IR 17 B+t )

BRI E - BRERBHOQT
BEN2EMEBREANRLBHNA
FEETE  ERBHNAEREERS
FSZ o BRA (BB REE) R ELE
e BEREETER  BECHERN
BREREERESEREERMEE -
BRI R B VR BUR R Bl E
JEH B EEARITE A EE RN
BREREEESERREEBERE
[ -

BWEHR  AEEE JE;T
BB wHﬂEZEJ%IE %
B H RE T .ﬁr%(ﬁ?étzwa
(WAH) EME\EEEEPEE;U A REHFE
XRBREEETEE - WHEBRERE
TEIRFER % -

JINE=S
R

B ETME - WEARRIRIESR
BEt 8l 2 Bty AR A D (BB 7 B fn
(FERB A 8 2 B tn) - F5EREE
B2 ERHENBRRRE - %R
EHDIERTREE -

5 E B AT B 2 It W & &

FISRBEED K TES  BIDIKT R
BHMSHERERRMAX (BTK
) B YR A(E B BN 2 R RO 2
BT AR A

IRE B RR M R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to employees
after 7th November, 2002 and vested on or after 1st January, 2005

For share option schemes, the fair value of services received,
determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted
at the grant date, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
option reserve). At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
continue to be held in share option reserve.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of share options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates during
the vesting period, if any, is recognised in the profit or loss, such
that the cumulative expenses reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

For incentive award schemes, the cost of acquisition of the
Company'’s shares held for the incentive award scheme is recorded
as treasury shares (shares held for share incentive scheme). The
shares held for the incentive award scheme will be disposed of for
cash which will be distributed to the employees.

When the shares held for incentive award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Share options and equity incentive scheme granted to employees
on or before 7th November, 2002, or granted after 7th November,
2002 and vested before 1st January, 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in
the consolidated financial statements until such time as the options
are exercised, and no charge is recognised in the profit or loss
in respect of the value of options granted. Upon the exercise of
the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and
the excess of the exercise price per share over the nominal value
of the shares is recorded as share premium. Options which lapse
or are cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the
register of outstanding options.

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Government grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets. Other government grants
are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match
them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate,
on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Control over E[5ZEBHRRAER A A

BSEBRFER AR is subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in &
FBEERAABMR AR, The Group has the 50% ownership since
June 2006 on EBGEBEMAER AT and the remaining 50% of
shareholdings are owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to the
Group. Details of these are set out in note 43.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over 5% EI R AR A 7 based on whether the Group
has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of &[5 %£)H
AR ABBR A F] unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors
considered the Group’s voting power of holding in & BB R A
[RAa]. The board of directors of 5% ERE AR A Flcomprise 7
directors. The Group nominated and appointed 4 directors in &
S MR R AR A E) and the relevant activities of EfFEFEEMAA
[R 2 7] require over 50% of directors approval. After assessment,
the directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant
voting interest to direct the relevant activities of &5 E EREA AR
‘A @), therefore, the Group has control over EfFE KT BR AR,
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Control over E#HE BT AR AR and EEEBRREGRE AR

EHEBRRBRAF and BEEBRABRAF are subsidiaries
of the Group although the Group has only 50% and 51% ownership
interest and voting rights in &5 EA R AR AR and BEEZERKER
BBR A F] respectively. The Group has the 50% and 51% ownership
since April 2005 and February 2007 on {52 Bk R A R A Fland 7
FEBIRETER A A respectively and the remaining shareholdings
are owned by shareholders that are unrelated to the Group. Details
of these are set out in note 43.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over EHEFRR AR LA and BEEBRRER QA
based on whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of H#HZEBM R AR QA and BEZEBMRER R
7] unilaterally. In making their judgement, the directors considered
the Group’s voting power of holding in #Z$5ZE B R AR A A and
EBFEBEMRAR AT, On 1st January, 2013 and 1st July, 2013,
the shareholders of BHEBMRR AR AT and BEEBHRRER
‘A7) signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder would
agree the Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing
activities of EHEBMMRRBR AT and EEEBHRFER LA, and
the other shareholder would agree the appointment of all senior
management of MBZEBMRERBERAF and BEERMRERL
7] nominated by the Group respectively. After assessment, the
directors concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the relevant activities of 5% MR AER A F and
EEEERIRAA B R A F and therefore the Group has control over #
HEMRRBIRE AR and BEEBRABRAF.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property, plant
and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and equipment
could change significantly as a result of technical innovation. When
the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment due to the
change of commercial and technological environment are different
from their estimated useful lives, such difference will impact the
depreciation charges and the amounts of assets written down for
future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31st
December, 2013 is HK$18,527,861,000 (2012: HK$13,009,571,000).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31st December, 2013, the carrying amount of goodwill
is HK$409,952,000 (2012: HK$402,369,000). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in note 20.

Impairment of operating rights

At the end of the reporting period, management assessed
the recoverability of its operating rights, in which the carrying
amount at 31st December, 2013 was HK$758,244,000 (2012:
HK$288,485,000). The business of the cash generating unit
continues to progress in a satisfactory manner. Detailed valuation
analysis has been carried out and management is confident that
the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered in full. This
situation will be closely monitored. Any change in the business
environment may lead to the change of expected future cashflows
in the future. If the future recoverable amounts fall below the
carrying amounts, additional impairment is required.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an
assessment of the recoverability of debtors. Allowances are made
on trade debtors whenever there is any objective evidence that
the balances may not be collectible. The Group makes judgment
in assessing the collectability based on observable data including
creditworthiness and payment history of the customers (for details
please refer to note 23). When objective evidence for allowance
exists, the amount of allowance is the difference between the
carrying amounts of the debts and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Where the expectation on the recoverability of the debts is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amounts of debtors and doubtful debt expenses in the periods in
which such estimate has been changed.

The carrying amount of trade debtors, net of allowance of
HK$35,324,000 (2012: HK$8,679,000), at 31st December, 2013 is
HK$2,977,606,000 (2012: HK$1,803,776,000).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances are applied to
inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories. The
identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgment
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.
In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed
are less than expected, a material recognition of allowance for
inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which such recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2013, the carrying amount of inventories is
HK$791,955,000 (2012: HK$535,068,000).
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include bank and other borrowings, senior notes, bank balances
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, management considers
the cost of capital and the associated risk, and take appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts
or the redemption of existing debts.

EWMITA FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SR ITAER Categories of financial instruments
—E-=5F —E -5
2013 2012
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
(&31)
(Restated)
SREE Financial assets
EXREWZE (B2 % Loans and receivables
REEFHE) (including cash and
cash equivalents) 14,066,709 13,213,843
Al ERE Available-for-sale investments 21,383 7,802
SREE Financial liabilities
B EH R At amortised cost 22,890,601 18,289,620
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include available-for-sale
investments, trade and other receivables, amounts due from/to an
intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and other long-term
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and monetary
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, i.e. currency other
than the functional currency of the respective group entities, which
are mainly amounts due from/to an intermediate holding company
and fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits, bank balances
and cash, bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

—E-=F —E—CF
2013 2012
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
BE Assets

e United States dollars 78,210 425,180
BT Hong Kong dollars 519,791 1,027,470

aE Liabilities
E United States dollars 5,683,954 5,669,130
BT Hong Kong dollars 7,800,000 8,009,689
HJt Japanese Yen 157,467 170,778
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movements of foreign currency exchange rates. The Group
currently has not entered into any foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against foreign currency risk. Management will
consider hedging foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2012:
5%) increase and decrease in Renminbi (“RMB”), the functional
currency of the group entities, against relevant foreign currencies.
5% is the sensitivity rate which represents management’s
assessment of the possible change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
year end for 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive
number indicates an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when
RMB strengthens 5% against the relevant foreign currencies. For a
5% weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal but opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year.

—E—= —E—CF
2013 2012
FHExT FHTT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&71)
(Restated)
EpH United States dollars
F AT A= F Pre-tax profit for the year 280,287 262,198
BT Hong Kong dollars
F AT A= F Pre-tax profit for the year 364,010 349,111
BTt Japanese Yen
AT AR F Pre-tax profit for the year 7,873 8,539

EEERA  BREFREENRR
TARBEFENRRE - EitgURED
A BERKREIARSMNERER -
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In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to floating-rate amounts due from/to joint ventures, amount due
to a fellow subsidiary, bank and other borrowings (see note 29
for details of these borrowings). The management continuously
monitors interest rate fluctuation and will consider further hedging
interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to amount due from a joint venturer, fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings, and senior notes (see notes 23, 29 and 30 for details).
The management continuously monitors interest rate exposure.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on bank balances (see note 26 for details of these deposits). The
management considers the Group’s exposure of the short-term
bank deposits to interest rate risk is not significant as interest
bearing bank balances are within short maturity period.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for interest bearing bank balances and bank
and other borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming those
balances outstanding at the end of each reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 or 50 basis points increase or
decrease which represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates is used.

If the interest rate on bank balances and pledged bank deposits
carried at variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the
year ended 31st December, 2013 would increase by approximately
HK$9,803,000 (2012: HK$10,608,000). If the interest rate on
floating-rate bank and other borrowings had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the pre-tax
profit for the year ended 31st December, 2013 would decrease
by approximately HK$39,660,000 (2012: HK$28,153,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its bank balances with variable rates and floating-rate bank and
other borrowings.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate ("HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and People’s Bank of China Base Rate arising
from the Group’s borrowings denominated in RMB.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount
of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies
in place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries out
searches on the creditability of the new customer and assesses
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each individual
trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Group considers that the credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit standing.

At 31st December, 2013, the Group has concentration of credit risk
in relation to the receivables from fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures
and a joint venturer amounting to nil (2012: HK$33,913,000),
HK$455,202,000 (2012: HK$173,804,000) and HK$524,382,000
(2012: HK$493,308,000), respectively. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the management has reviewed the recoverable amount
of each receivable from its fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures and
a joint venturer at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management also

monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants, if any.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

BR-Fa
RERS,  THBILF RERRS
METHFIE TE-% Over RELH
Weighted On demand 1 year but BBEE Total REE
average or less than not more Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year than5 years 5 years cash flows amounts
% TERT TERL TERL TERL TERL
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
R=ZZ-=f+=F At 31st December, 2013
SinslH
B EAR Trade and other payables
Hib MR
-%8 - interest-free = 6,880,879 - - 6,880,879 6,880,879
—3t8 - interest bearing 2.16 1,930,915 - - 1,930,915 1,890,038
FARAMES Bank and other borrowings 1.25 154,897 8,144,271 201,456 8500624 8,190,325
BREE Senior notes 2.38 261,718 1,046,871 6,993,680 8,302,269 5,683,954
HEhRBaE Other long-term liabilities 3.00 16,833 42,879 240,327 300,039 245,405
9,245,242 9,234,021 7,435,463 25,914,726 22,890,601
W=Z--%+=F  At31st December, 2012 (restated)
=t-H (E3)
ERESERR Trade and other payables
H MR
-%5 - interest-free - 2,651,967 - - 2,651,967 2,651,967
-8 - interest bearing 2.00 1,281,212 = = 1,281,212 1,256,160
e ATFE  Amount due to an intermediate
holding company - 45,016 - - 45,016 45,016
FEREZMBARZIE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 2.44 2,584,315 = - 2,584,315 2,564,673
RAREMEE Bank and other borrowings 1.67 182,810 5,737,887 409,336 6,330,033 6,023,797
BASE Senior notes 2.38 261,621 1,046,485 7,121,911 8,430,017 5,669,130
HitRHEE Other long-term liabilities 2.31 18,462 129,811 1,268 149,541 78,877
2,025,403 6,914,183 7,532,515 21,472,101 18,289,620
RS AR AR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values

The fair value measurement of the available-for-sale investments
which are listed securities of HK$1,891,000 (2012: HK$2,375,000)
are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

The valuation of available-for-sale investments is classified as level
1 of the fair value hierarchy with the fair value derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values. The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities included in the level 3 category have been determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products — sale of
natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied petroleum gas
for residential, commercial and industrial use

Gas connection — construction of gas pipelines networks under
gas connection contracts

Segments results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, finance
costs, central administration costs, release from prepaid lease
payments and directors’ salaries. This is the measure reported to
the executive directors of the Company for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment

assets and segment liabilities are as follows:

For the year ended 31st December, 2013

Segment revenue and results

HERDHRE
MEREEER
Sale and
distribution of MR
gas fuel and Gas =
related products connection Total
TERT FERT TERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EERE Turnover
HNEH External sales 17,164,278 5,123,749 22,288,027
E4 Results
DEEE Segment results 2,247,139 2,492,593 4,739,732
e RRIEE Share of results of joint ventures 698,426
BB E A RIS Share of results of associates 99,901
B TSR AN Finance costs (523,558)
ROBUWA Unallocated income 595,872
ROBEFRX Unallocated expenses (1,799,512)
R 7 AT A Profit before taxation 3,810,861
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EERRIEER (B) 7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-_Z-=F1+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)
(#&)
THEERERE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDHERE
BEREEER
Sale and
distribution of MRER
gas fuel and Gas Bt
related products connection Consolidated
FHET TR FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EE ASSETS
NEREE Segment assets 22,015,545 2,209,792 24,225,337
REE AR MR Interests in joint ventures 8,853,031
NN L 2 Interests in associates 1,956,465
BEFHIEEE Deferred tax assets 98,630
ROBAFEE (MfzFa) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 15,348,328
50,481,791
=R LIABILITIES
DIEEE Segment liabilities 2,759,135 6,481,791 9,240,926
JERTFLIE Taxation payable 396,520
BEERIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities 560,957
ROBARERE (MzEb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 21,667,550
31,865,953
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EEBERDEER (&) 7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BE-Z—=F+-A=+—-HLEE For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)
(%)
Bt & Other information
HESBRBENRDEEEMGTAZRK Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
I assets:
HERDH
FERHR
HEEM
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel MRER
and related Gas KRAE &5t
products  connection Unallocated Total
TiHET THET THER TR
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
NBIERBEE Additions to non-current assets 3,842,211 - 241,390 4,083,601
UM B A RIFTEA  Additions to non-current assets arising
ZIERBEERE from acquisition of subsidiaries 2,432,167 - - 2,432,167
EREH Depreciation and amortisation 466,589 - 105,887 572,476
R TBATEEIE Release of prepaid lease payments - - 50,676 50,676
ESEKBRZRERE  Impairment loss on trade receivables 26,410 - - 26,410
LEME  BEK Gain on disposal of property,
Bl plant and equipment 6,712 - - 6,712
HEREDEFR Loss on disposal of investment properties - - 727 727
BE-Z—_—F+-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2012
B W RFEE Segment revenue and results
HERD HAS
WRR R AR E &
Sale and
distribution of MR R B
gas fuel and Gas =
related products connection Total
FHET T FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E31) (&31) (E31)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
EEE Turnover
HNEH External sales 10,725,495 2,896,292 13,621,787
¥ Results
DEFE Segment results 1,259,379 1,346,107 2,605,486
EhEEARIRE Share of results of joint ventures 867,259
i) NG Share of results of associates 109,568
B 7S R AR Finance costs (315,022)
RKARMBA Unallocated income 180,164
ROBHLZ Unallocated expenses (878,638)
PR A A Profit before taxation 2568,817
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7. BEERSEER (B) 7. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
BEZE-—-F+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2012 (Continued)
(%)
S EEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
$HE K& HR S
MR R ABRE S
Sale and
distribution of RREE R
gas fuel and Gas =
related products connection Consolidated
T FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
(E251) (E31) (E5)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
EE ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 14,551,054 1,567,272 16,118,326
REERTFNER Interests in joint ventures 6,144,740
NNk Interests in associates 1,757,911
BEFIEEE Deferred tax assets 115,350
ROBAFEE (Mfzra) Unallocated corporate assets (Note a) 13,546,208
37,682,535
A& LIABILITIES
NEEEE Segment liabilities 1,737,307 4,780,392 6,517,699
JEfRT R I8 Taxation payable 225,166
FELEFIEE G Deferred tax liabilities 508,348
APOBEAT AR (Fifsrb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 15,745,332
22,996,545
HEH Other information
FFES R A ZRIE Amounts included in the measure of segment profit:
HERDH
FEEE
HBEER
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel RS
and related Gas RO &5t
products connection  Unallocated Total
FAT FTAT FHAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&51) (&231) (&51) (231)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
NEIERBEE Additions to non-current assets 2,433,516 - 197,408 2,630,924
KB ARFTESL  Additions to non-current assets arising
ZIERBEERNE from acquisition of subsidiaries 3,502,771 - - 3,502,771
e R Depreciation and amortisation 404,262 = 96,421 500,683
FRMRIENEERIE Release of prepaid lease payments - = 20,008 20,008
B ZEWERZUNERSE  Impairment loss on trade receivables 5,201 = = 5,201
HEWE - BB K& Gain on disposal of property,
Wias plant and equipment 1,983 = = 1,983
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s turnover and non-current assets (excluded financial
instruments and deferred tax assets) are arisen in and located in
the People’s Republic of China (*PRC”) during both years.

Information about major customers

No single external customer contributed revenue from transactions
amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the Group during
both years.

Notes:

(a)  Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on acquisition
of subsidiaries and which are engaged in sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products and gas connection, investment
properties, prepaid lease payments, deposits for prepaid lease
payments, deposits for investments, available-for-sale investments,
other receivables, amount due from a joint venturer, amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and
cash.

(b) Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, accrued
expenses, consideration payable for acquisition of subsidiaries,
amounts due to an intermediate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries, bank and other borrowings, senior notes and other
long-term liabilities (excluding payable for acquisition of operating
rights). The amounts due to an intermediate holding company and
fellow subsidiaries, bank and other borrowings and senior notes
are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities because they are
managed centrally by the treasury function of the Group.
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8. BIFERA 8. FINANCE COSTS
—B-=F —E——fF
2013 2012
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
A2 Interests on:
AN T FEANBEEERIT Bank and other borrowings wholly
RE g E repayable within five years 188,989 61,841
BENRAFEANBHEZENETT Bank and other borrowings
REMEE not wholly repayable within five years 6,565 9,231
BARAFANBHEEDN Senior notes not wholly repayable
BHEEE within five years 274,450 201,120
EE &R RFKIE Amounts due to joint ventures 32,022 28,534
FEST R R B A A8 Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 19,378 12,326
HitvRAABE Other long-term liabilities 2,154 1,970
523,558 315,022
9. H1\E 9. TAXATION
—E—=fF 4
2013 2012
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
RIS HEFE The tax charge comprises:
BN EAR 1A Current taxation
AR TS H PRC Enterprise Income Tax 875,084 463,542
BAEFEREBTE Underprovision in prior years 19,464 5,040
BREATPREEE DK@ A Withholding tax paid for distributed
SR FEREL profits of investments in the PRC 77,253 54,277
971,801 522,859
RIERIA (Mi7E32) Deferred taxation (note 32)
KEE Current year 15,306 16,674
987,107 539,533
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TAXATION (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2012: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year. The Company and
its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong do not have assessable
profits, accordingly, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1st
January, 2008 onwards except for certain group entities which are
entitled to various concessionary tax rates.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the profits
earned by foreign-investment enterprise prior to 1st January, 2008,
when distributed to foreign investors, can be grandfathered and
exempted from withholding tax. Whereas, dividend distributed
out of the profits generated thereafter, shall be subject to the
Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and withheld by the PRC
entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the New Law and Article
91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.
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BE (&2) 9. TAXATION (Continued)
FARBERZ TEZEREER REM The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
2 TE WA SR K BT 2 B Bk B AT A EBR taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
LUNNE comprehensive income as follows:
—E—=F —T—F
2013 2012
FET FHBT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
(&2%)
(Restated)
B 750 BT e A Profit before taxation 3,810,861 2,568,817
Fﬁi@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ?’r_ﬁ%% Tax at the applicable income
ZE—4F : 25%) tax rate of 25%
STEMFIE (2012: 25%) 952,715 642,204
RIS A ET a HR S 8 Tax effect of expenses not deductible
g for tax purposes 130,184 98,908
MBS AR B ERTUAR Tax effect of income not taxable
M for tax purposes (13,382) (10,385)
JEEEE N A EENTIERE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (24,975) (27,392)
JEEEERNAEENTIEFE  Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (174,607) (216,815)
AR BEEENR G E Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 34,810 20,505
B BE W ARFERAMNTIIEEE  Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised (2,303) (2,425)
JiNas l”“é.—fﬁ’]f‘ﬁ% Gl Effect of tax exemptions and reliefs granted
HERENTE to subsidiaries operating in the PRC (27,930) (27,643)
T§1§3€$R+u+:;ﬁ’]ﬁfr SH Income tax at concessionary rates (3,808) (2,628)
WERARTRRENFTE Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 4,071 1,384
BRAPEIEE RS KA Withholding tax for undistributed profits
FEMF of investments in the PRC 15,678 12,449
ERTEIRED HIRENZ  Withholding tax paid for distributed profits
HFE L of investments in the PRC 77,253 54,277
BEFERETR Underprovision in prior years 19,464 5,040
Hit Others (63) (7,946)
FRFHEL H Tax charge for the year 987,107 539,533
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10. FRER 10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

—E—= —E——fF
2013 2012
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
FRHMEE (GTA) : Profit for the year has been arrived at
after charging (crediting):
8 TR Staff costs
E5ME (FIaE11) Directors’ emoluments (note 11) 26,026 47,410
EMBET Other staff
— ¥ & RALF — Salaries and bonus 1,352,611 673,742
— H A& A — Other benefits 586,661 473,730
— B8 TmINITE — Performance related incentive payments
s under the Incentive Award Scheme 36,173 75,246
— R IRAE A ET R R — Retirement benefits schemes
contributions 279,609 180,071
BT A4R%5E Total staff costs 2,281,080 1,450,199
Gl Auditor’s remuneration 5,378 5,500
ME - BERREITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 530,779 486,123
WEMETE Depreciation of investment properties 12,177 625
R (B ATTEBISX) Amortisation of operating rights
(included in administrative expenses) 29,520 13,935
TER A IEE R Release of prepaid lease payments 50,676 20,008
EUE 5 ERZOREE1E Impairment loss on trade receivables 26,410 5,201
HEMFENKEEHOES Operating lease rentals in respect of
rented premises 106,041 71,737
& A HIHERE R Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments - 1,680
HEREYFERE Loss on disposal of investment properties 727 =
LEME - BE R & ER Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (6,712) (1,983)
NGRSk Government grants (65,285) (29,501)
RITIF B Interest on bank deposits (241,079) (218,235)
REEMKE EQEIFKIER Interest income from amounts due from
LB A joint ventures (3,829) (2,233)
RERIRE & E BN Interest income from amount due from
FBWA a joint venturer (15,575) =
REZEMENB WA Rental income from investment properties
(BIBR A 2B G ) (net of negligible outgoings) (2,907) (8,758)

EBRILE
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013 BE_Z—=F+_A=+—HLFE

M. EERTHAZMNESRAR 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Be¥FHES EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
5= Directors
BESENESNISNT The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:
“Z-=F 2013
Esps Name of Director BT BIKEF
#eR fEe SRR
Hfb3EF  Performance  Retirement —F-—F
Salaries related benefit =H
e and other incentive schemes &t 2012
Fees benefits payments contributions Total Total
M TER TER TEx TEx TER THAL
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

UITES Executive directors

TER Wang Chuandong 70 1,917 9,381 144 11,512 16,940
RER Shi Shanbo 70 1,495 7,493 144 9,202 1,531
TRR Ong Thiam Kin, Ken 70 1,638 2,682 182 4,572 7,734
BR% Ma Guoan a - - - - - 20,545

E#78=  Non-executive directors

"R Du Wenmin - - - _ _ 70
/AT Wei Bin - - - _ _ 70
2B Huang Daoguo 70 - - _ 70 35
B Chen Ying 70 - - - 70 35
3= Luk Chi Cheong b = - - - - 150

BYEHT  Independent non-
executive directors

BiEk Wong Tak Sing 150 - - - 150 150
Tl Yu Jian 150 - - - 150 150
aEE Yu Hon To, David c 150 - = = 150 _
REE Qin Chaokui ¢ 150 - - - 150 -
950 5,050 19,556 470 26,026 47,410

MEE - Notes:
(a) ZBEBDNR-_Z——F A —HH (a) The director resigned on 1st June, 2012.

[
(b) ZBEBNR-_T——F+=-A=+ (b)  The director resigned on 28th December, 2012.

J\BEHE ©
() ZEEFEN-_T——-HF+-A=-+ (c) These directors were appointed on 28th December, 2012.

NBEEEE -
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11. DIRECTORS’

IRE B RR M R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z—=F+_A=+—HItFE

AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Directors (Continued)

The managing director, Mr. Shi Shanbo, is also carrying out the
duties of the chief executive of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as
the chief executive.

Performance related incentive payments were determined with
reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performances
and comparable market statistics. Included therein were amounts
granted to directors of HK$18,230,000 (2012: HK$37,120,000)
under the Incentive Award Scheme as defined in note 34.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2012:
two) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2012: three) highest
paid employees of the Group are as follows:

—E-=5F S

2013 2012

FET FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

e kEMEF Salaries and other benefits 2,205 2,064
WNITEN RS Performance related incentive payments 14,028 27,097
RIKE AT B Retirement benefit schemes contributions 250 205
16,483 29,366

PR ENMENFLATEE :

The emoluments of the above employees are within the following
bands:

—E-=F —E—_F

2013 2012

EEAH EEAH

Number of Number of

employees employees

4,500,001/ 7C25,000,00087C  HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 2 -
6,500,001/47C27,000,000%8C  HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 1 -
8,000,001/47C 28,500,000/ 7c  HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 - 1
9,500,00147C.210,000,000/ 7  HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 - 1
11,000,001/87c 211,500,000 7t HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000 - 1

B RS ]‘%iﬁjﬂ( Ef | 149
77: 5){
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013 HE-_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—E—= —E——F
2013 2012
FHERT FHETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRNERBDIRBEE Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
T —=FHFHRE - 2013 interim dividend — 2 HK cents per share
BRI (=T —=F : (2012: 2012 interim dividend
2 FhHRE — - 2 HK cents per share)
FR27El) 44,480 40,073
—E—_FRHKRE — 2012 final dividend — 14 HK cents per share
SRAAEI (ZB——%F (2012: 2011 final dividend
T —FRERE — - 10 HK cents per share)
BAR107%1L) 303,874 200,357
348,354 240,430
EERZZMRERNEEZE T —=F The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 20 HK
TZAZT-HLEFENRBRES cents per share for the year ended 31st December, 2013 (2012:
0B (=T — = F « F K145 14 HK cents per share) amounting to HK$434,547,000 (2012:
lll) + 48 %8 3£434,547,0008 T (=& HK$303,874,000).

— 4 : 303,874,000/ 7T) °

1 | CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013 HE_T—=F+_A=1+—HILFE

13.

BRER 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
EIRER L EEREAN IR T #iE st The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is
= based on the following data:
—EB—=F —E——F
2013 2012
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(E%))
(Restated)
B : Earnings:
RAATESREAREEREFN Earnings for the purposes of basic and
&R (RARESR AR diluted earnings per share (profit for the
1HEREA) year attributable to owners of the Company) 2,160,945 1,645,543
—E—=F —ZE—=
2013 2012
RGOEE : Number of shares:
AUt ESIREARBFAINE Weighted average number of shares in issue
B BEITRHE B B less shares held for incentive award scheme
BT EIF A RIS for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,170,601,351 2,015,851,847

BRI R B

Effect of dilutive potential shares
Share options

452

748

FART B & BOE 2 F R0 It

Weighted average number of shares

THEBEITROEBERA in issue less shares held for incentive
REN TSI A Bk (D award scheme for the purpose of diluted

earnings per share

2,170,601,803

2,015,852,595

S BRTIER

—=

-

R

33151
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 #HZEZE-T—=F+-_A=+—HILFE

14. )% - BERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
HE-
BERRE
Plant, ZHR
BENE machinery HREE #E BEEE RE HRIR
Leasehold and Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor  Construction At
properties equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles  in progress Total

TR T TR T TR TiEn TR FiEn
HK$ 000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$'000

558 THE GROUP

i 00T

K=F-—E-F—F (£j]) At fstJanuary, 2012 (restated) 761969 802,846 3,876,018 81992 24,128 294,515 2222628 8,064,006
Eiz Fxchange adjustments 2785 1,185 8614 4,680 14 526 1,436 19,240
FE Additions 23,494 326,681 640,275 49955 4726 142,701 1,202,585 2,509,443
WEREAT Acquisition of subsidiries 256,116 112,821 2,622,229 15,101 5984 33,649 363,705 3,409,605
i3 Disposals (14772) (34,814) (1292) (5,492) - (17,935) (1,989) (76,293)
a2 Transfer 239937 96,389 821410 4458 - 2729 (1,164929) -
WZB-—#+-f=1-H At 3fstDecember, 2012 1478529 1,305,108 7,967,254 150,694 34,852 456,211 2623443 14,016,091
Exg% Fxchange adjustments 10,39 10,560 23293 11,916 7,603 8,105 12,531 84,404
FE Additions 253,100 349,604 838991 45993 29,304 145,064 2,205,245 3,867,301
WEREAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 516,922 69,190 1,224,486 21,890 - 19,970 292,687 2,145,145
i Disposals (13,567) (18,089) (13,153) (10,020) - (20,654) (5,118) (80,601)
&3 Transfer 165,914 166,208 2,018,774 5233 - 3179 (2,359,308) -
R=F-=F+-A=f+-H  At31st December, 2013 2,411,204 1,882,581 12,059,645 225,706 71,759 611,875 2769480 20,032,340
FERBE DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

R-B-—£-A—R(EJ) At lstJanuary, 2012 (restated) 2454 79,702 369,352 18,682 1514 55,570 2,831 554,105
EREE Exchange adjustments 143 247 686 119 5 136 - 133
AERRR Provided for the year 46,786 107,198 236,343 36,507 1425 57,774 - 486,123
it SR Eliminated on disposals (747) (18,236) (205) (2.458) - (13.398) - (35,044)
RZF-ZE+A=+-B  At31st December, 2012 4863 168,911 606,176 52940 2944 100,082 26,831 1,006,520
EiA% Exchange adjusiments 155 665 682 116 2 37 - 1657
REERG Provided for the year 54570 57,37 325,102 29,837 1,731 62,142 - 530,779
HERER Eliminated on disposals (2.214) (6,998) (1,787) (10,001) - (13.477) - (34.477)
RZF-ZE+-A=+-H  At31st December, 2013 101,147 219,975 930,173 72892 4677 148,784 26,831 1,504,479
BEE CARRYING VALUES

R=F-ZE+-A=+-HB  At31st December, 2013 2310147 1662606 11129472 152,814 67,082 463,091 2742649 18,527,861

RZF-ZF+ZA=+—H  At31stDecember, 2012 (restated)
(&5) 1,429,893 1,136,197 7,361,078 97,754 31,908 356,129 2,596,612 13,009,571

1 2 | CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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AE 312104

REBENHENEBFELUR TR L
P RBEOREZET -

R-ZB—=%+-_A=+—0 " E&E
42 {A 56,223,000 70 (Z T —ZF :
6,624,000 7T) Y% - WE REE
BT - LERBE TASEMNIRIT

a5 -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013

iR A M SRR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z—=F+_A=+—HItFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than

construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated

useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Leasehold properties

Plant, machinery and
equipment

Gas pipelines

Furniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles

25 to 40 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter
5 to 20 years

20 to 30 years

3to 12 years

3 to 5 years or over the relevant
lease terms, if shorter

3% to 10 years

The Group’s leasehold properties comprise buildings situated on

land in the PRC and held under medium-term leases.

At 31st December, 2013, property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$6,223,000 (2012: HK$6,624,000)
are pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group.

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

—E—=F —E—_F
2013 2012
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)

AEBHBEMBLHZRESE The Group’s prepaid lease payments

PR B iR R BRFR 49 comprise of leasehold land situated

BAEMBEE LM - in the PRC on medium-term lease:

EREEE Non-current assets 1,132,220 849,917
mBEE Current assets 55,115 39,540
1,187,335 889,457
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 HE-_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

16. REWH 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FHIT

HK$'000
A COST
R-—ZE——F—F—H (&%) At 1st January, 2012 (restated) 4,238
Rk Exchange adjustments (5)
N-ZZE——F+_-_A=+—8H At 31st December, 2012 4,233
[ 54, ) #=& Exchange adjustments 233
NE Additions 21,029
He& Disposals (833)
R-BE—=F+-"A=+—H At 31st December, 2013 24,662
e DEPRECIATION
N-ZZE——F—H—A8 (&%) At 1st January, 2012 (restated) 744
INE R Provided for the year 625
R-ZE——F+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2012 1,369
[ 5, 2 Exchange adjustments 82
NS R Provided for the year 12,177
HeE Disposals (106)
R-EBE—=F+-"HA=+—H At 31st December, 2013 13,5622
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-BE—=F+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2013 11,140
R-ZT——F+-_A=+—H (&%) At 31st December, 2012 (restated) 2,864

REE A AEER O E AR
HMESRASIEE AR EREN TR
BEEURARAGE  ANBE/K
BWMEANR - TEDRABHEFH

B BEMIE IR EMERRA

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases

to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured

using cost model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the

cost of investment properties using straight-line method over the

remaining terms of the leases.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

1 54 I Annual Report 2013

RIE—=FR-_F——F+_A= At 31st December, 2013 and 2012, all of the Group’s investment
+—H  REENMEREMEHIN properties are situated in the PRC with medium-term of lease.
RAEE - BB EFREL -
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013 #HZE-ZT—=F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. REE QRS 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E—=F —E—_4F
2013 2012
FTHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
REZNRIFEEMIRERKA Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 4,173,143 1,736,527
FE(R B =T R M2 E Share of post-acquisition profits and
WA - MR E WA S other comprehensive income,
net of dividend received 4,679,888 4,408,213
8,853,031 6,144,740
RIREHR  REBMESL DA Details of the Group principal joint ventures at the end of the
44 o reporting period are set out in note 44.

#RATENERAT | { 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 #HZE-ZT—=F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. REE R RER (&) 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
FESERANEEREEAEBEIE The material joint ventures are all principally engaged in similar
PES) - HAREEHERAR LK activities as the Group and are strategic to the Group’s activities as
ftAmREREZERRERENETH sale of natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, and construction
MREHEAHBER - of gas pipelines networks under gas connection contracts.
EEMEUFBEANESE ATMNE Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually
sFER material
BETHAHLFE
Year ended
—E—=F — T4
+=—HA=+—-8B +=A=+—H
31.12.2013 31.12.2012
FEx FABT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&=51)
(Restated)

NEFEEEEN (EBE) & The Group’s share of profit (loss) and

2HEKA (%) 858 total comprehensive income (expense) 161,235 (67,225)
18. REt& N al iR 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E—=F —E—_F
2013 2012
FET FT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&31)
(Restated)
JEEMRRG - AAA Cost of unlisted investments in associates 1,688,182 1,571,812
FEAE U B 18 i A1 B2 B fh 2T Share of post-acquisition profits and
WA - MR E WA E other comprehensive income,
net of dividend received 268,283 186,099
1,956,465 1,757,911
REER  AEBOHEZZHE AA Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
FEBEAMITE45 o reporting period are set out in note 45.
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18. REFE N EIER (5

—HEEBREQRANTBEREE

AEENTIERLENTNEEMREE
Betn B IR A BH 8 75 & BB 2 #2140

T e

ZHE AR ERESENZERE

HE_Z—=F+_A=+—HBItFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material associate

Summarised financial information in respect of EE MR ERE D H
fR A 7F], the Group’s material associate, is set out below.

This associate is accounted for using the equity method in these

B P AR © consolidated financial statements.
—E—=F —E—_F
2013 2012
THERT FHIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
mENEE Current assets 3,357,426 3,283,247
EMBEE Non-current assets 4,632,814 3,904,795
mEAaRE Current liabilities 1,801,344 1,678,446
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 2,393,016 2,118,016
BZETHHHBILEE
Year ended
—E—=F —E—_F
+=—A=+—-8 +=A=+—8H
31.12.2013 31.12.2012
THERT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
A Revenue 7,523,912 6,665,210
FRE A R 2 E AR Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 393,802 333,965
FAB W E A RIS Dividends received from the associate
for the year 21,630 49,320
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013

IRE B RR M R
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z—=F+_A=+—HItFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of a material associate
(Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

—B-=% —T——f
2013 2012
FaxT FHBT
HK$’000 HK$'000
it AR EEMREE KRG Net assets of the associate
BRARIMNEEFE EEMAEBRMDERAR 3,795,880 3,231,560
AEEREERREBRD Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest
BIRDAIRER R J:I:W'J in EEMREEROERAA 25% 25%
RIS A S EFAEN R Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 697,403 713,820
HE 5 R & Exchange realignment 26,614 42217
AEEREERREERD Carrying amount of the Group’s interest
BRARPESHREE in EEMREEROARD 1,672,987 1,563,927

ITEBERR DTN FEEAREEN
UrES - HAEEIHERARLR
BHETH

fehimR M ERMRRER
MREREBEBEES -

EEMEAFRBERNHEQNRANA

The material associates are all principally engaged in similar
activities as the Group and are strategic to the Group’s activities as
sale of natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas, and construction

of gas pipelines networks under gas connection contracts.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

srER material
—g—=# —ET——fF
2013 2012
FE T FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
REEEEEF KX The Group’s share of profit and total
Z2HEIKABEE comprehensive income 17,868 26,439
AEERZER SR FF Aggregate carrying amount of the
S REAE Group’s interests in these associates 283,478 193,984

EBRELRERA
—F-=&f&

7l
#
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19. IHEERE

pay
e

“E-=F+-A=+—HILFE

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

—EB—=F —E—_4F

2013 2012

FHExT FHETT

HK$’000 HK$'000

(E51)

(Restated)

R ER FHARD - FAFE Listed shares in the PRC, at fair value 1,891 2,375
RABIEIE ETRAIRE -

bE-4D N Unlisted equity investments in the PRC, at cost 19,492 5,427

21,383 7,802

EHEROBORTETE (E-RRTF
Bt ) DRBERTISHTHERE -

FLPEAREZNREHAROKA
MERERBETE  AEEQAFEM
RAEEBAR  MERERREATF
BT SRMFTE -

The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value

measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

The unlisted equity investments are measured at cost less

impairment losses at the end of the reporting period because

the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that

the management is of the opinion that their fair values cannot be

measured reliably.

20. & 20. GOODWILL

FHT
HK$’000

BREE CARRYING VALUE
R-—ZE——F—HA—A8 (&%) At 1st January, 2012 (restated) 275,322
bE 3 Exchange adjustments 809
g hy=NG| Acquisition of subsidiaries 126,238
R-ZZE——F+_A=+—H At 31st December, 2012 402,369
Ve 7 A Exchange adjustments 7,583
RZZE—=%F+_-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2013 409,952
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BMEBAHFMBSNEESG DS
BB ERZERAHZREEL
B - piEEREIRmE  BEE
BEMNBRARARBINREELSE
i AMEARRREEHEE RS
HRBAMREEER] R RRE
Gl ”‘J*éﬁ CEREARRE-SORES
DR NEREHRE HENREE
Izz?a EELISZE%LATMT% RIFTE L
R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 BHE-_Z—=F+_A=+—HLFE

20. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
cash generating units (*CGUs”) that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The management considers each
subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill
impairment testing. As the subsidiaries are engaged in both
“sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products” and “gas
connection” segments, the goodwill is not further allocated to each
segment. At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount
of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries as follows:

—EB—=F —E——4F

2013 2012

FaxT FHBT

HK$’000 HK$'000

(&%)

(Restated)

RZZEHRRBR AR RIZZEBHRRBR AT 133,436 131,324
EEELEBRRBRAA EEEILEBRRER AR 128,893 126,919
ZiHERRRBR AR ZiHERRRBR AR 34,392 34,318
BN R R BRA A M ZE RS B RA A 31,142 30,196
ANRZEBRRER QA ANEZEBERRER QA 23,807 23,084
FRBERRREREEATR REEERRAEREEATR 11,984 11,620
ERZERMMIERA A BERERHRRBR AT 11,308 10,964
At Others 34,990 33,944
409,952 402,369

ReEEBUMAROSRERER
BEAENEEE - EEBERNE
ERB[A/IFRE ERELEEHREE
ERANWIRSRZS - EREDRAA
RREBREELEMBENEER
BEERERRTHSFEOTATL
mfﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ*“ﬁ*?ﬁ%ﬁﬂiﬁﬁ
BFE - EEREERANESH AR
i@&fﬁ% DI R FEHTIS R RBEMETE

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct
costs are based on past practices and expectations of future
changes in the market.

FRREERERZE 1163
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20. B8 (&)

AEERBSREZEBIERBARK
MER ST NMBREE HERLER
EMREZEREHN —RERY) B
RenEA - RRaN\Fabatig
KRR/ M BB T LFNHFFER
ER0% (ZE——F: ENFR5%
KRR B0%) A HEH 78 5 5 1% 41
MR eRE - RARESELEMN
HReRnEBMANMEERI0% (ZF
—ZF 10%) c EER S 0 NEA R
R MREBNHELEHRENSE
ABERERE BEERR ZEFEBRR
MEMAEAELH I EZERDE
EEUNREEEBAZRSELS
7 B9 A W [ 2 FE AR -

REBEE-ZT—=F+-A=+—A1F
FE - BDEFEHEREAR =T —=
FOWBHEBARM ] #AEEFE
A FEERLEE - MAElI China
Gas Limited®¥13 « HiE REZEZ R
FEEREEE BNEIFET - =2
—ZFEMEBETELEN - B
FetEEE S E B BRE K ©

» & W B8 B H - AEI China Gas
Limited” % - BB REEHNRAFE
# 1427,026,0007% 7T+ £€ & 1 12 0
5,511,000/ 7T - 1M & & %4 18 A (& 1
hN108,134,0007 7T 7 2 4 fE R 2>
324,403,000/ 7T ° B E LR INT
B N §47,228,000/8 7T (IR IEEFR
181,807,000 70) - BHE T ——F
TZA=+—BLEFEERRREAA
JEAESE IR 405,421,000/ 7T © 15
BAKIFE36(C) °
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20. GOODWILL (Continued)

The Group prepares cash flows forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for the
next 4 years, which is the general development period for sales
of liquefied gas and gas connection business and extrapolates
cash flows for the period beyond the budget period based on
the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 8 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years (2012: 5% for the first 8 years and 0% for
the remaining 7 years). The rate used to discount the forecast
cash flows for the CGUs is 10% (2012: 10%). In the opinion of the
directors, no material impairment loss of goodwill on gas operation
is identified at the end of the reporting period. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount of
the CGU to exceed the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU.

During the year ended 31st December, 2013, the identification
and determination of fair values of the net identifiable assets
of subsidiaries acquired in 2012 has been completed within
measurement period and the fair value of the property, plant and
equipment of AEI China Gas Limited were greater than the original
estimate made at the date of acquisition. The comparative figures
of 2012 have been restated as if the initial accounting had been
completed from the respective dates of acquisitions.

The fair value of property, plant and equipment of AEI China Gas
Limited was increased by HK$427,026,000, operating rights was
increased by HK$5,511,000 and deferred tax liability was increased
by HK$108,134,000 at the respective date of acquisition. There
was a corresponding reduction in goodwill of HK$324,403,000. The
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31st
December, 2012 was also decreased by HK$5,421,000 as a result
of additional depreciation and amortisation of HK$7,228,000 net of
deferred taxation of HK$1,807,000. Details are set out in note 36(c).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013 HE-Z—=F+-A=t+—HLLFE

21, &R 21. OPERATING RIGHTS
T

HK$'000
2% COST
R-ZZE——F—H—8 (&%) At 1st January, 2012 (restated) 200,854
JEE 5 S Exchange adjustments 211
INE Additions 58,514
i Sy =NS]| Acquisition of subsidiaries 66,133
RZBE——F+_-_FA=+—H At 31st December, 2012 325,712
DEE S Exchange adjustments 19,027
NE Additions 195,271
I BB BT A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 287,022
RN-_E—=F+-_FA=+—H At 31st December, 2013 827,032
b AMORTISATION
R-ZT——F—F—H (&%) At 1st January, 2012 (restated) 23,272
PE R Exchange adjustments 20
NEFRME Provided for the year 13,935
RZE——F+-_HA=1+—H At 31st December, 2012 37,227
P 5 5 Exchange adjustments 2,041
AREF S A Provided for the year 29,520
R-ZBE—=F+-_FA=+—H At 31st December, 2013 68,788
REE CARRYING VALUES
R-ZB—=F+-_FA=+—H At 31st December, 2013 758,244
R-ZE——F+-_HA=+—H (&%) At 31st December, 2012 (restated) 288,485

W E B MR ERTIABEBRER
fhET AT A4 2310 =50F MY -

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised over the
estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a straight-line
basis.
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22. & 22. INVENTORIES
—g—= —E—_F
2013 2012
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
RN Construction materials 564,510 385,594
SN o Finished goods 227,445 149 474
791,955 535,068

23. EWE ZRF R EMERR 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E—= —E——fF
2013 2012
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
TEUE 5 BRFN Trade receivables 3,012,930 1,812,455
B REREE Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (35,324) (8,679)
2,977,606 1,803,776
YA & R RIFIE Amounts due from joint ventures 455,202 173,804
A %%m Amount due from a joint venturer 524,382 493,308
FEU SEFE AR AR 3R R IE Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 76,663 33,991
e Deposits 971,271 227,620
FERE (HEEE) Prepayments (note) 1,431,131 374,302
H b e Yz Other receivables 229,529 67,481
6,665,784 3,174,282
Mt : BNRERREEEEEMHNE Note: Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of construction
N/ materials.
FEWAaLERBEAEER KBTS Amount due from a joint venturer is unsecured, interest bearing at
FE330FE (—E—_F:3.30E%F a fixed interest rate of 3.30% (2012: 3.30% to 3.85%) per annum
3.85/F) st R RER—FANEE - and repayable within one year.
B FE U & & A B 5IE101,751,000% Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$101,751,000
T (=ZZF — = 61,664,000/ ) (2012: HK$61,664,000) which is unsecured, bears interest ranging
%ﬁ?ﬂfﬁ 2 I 75.402 Z=5. 90l_ from 5.40% to 5.90% (2012: 5.40% to 5.90%) per annum and
—T "% :5.40E%5.90F) repayable in 2014, the remaining balances are unsecured, interest
HO [ E G M AT R AR =T — EE free and repayable on demand.
BEIN BRTEHREER 28K
AR BREEE -
JEWIEER R R RIB R EER - 28 Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
RERERKEE - interest free and repayable on demand.
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AEEGKRTHEEHSIREPHRER—R%
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The aged analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E—=F —E—_4F

2013 2012

FHET FHET

HK$°000 HK$’000

(&51)

(Restated)

0 — 90K 0 - 90 days 2,621,904 1,592,890
91 — 180K 91 — 180 days 40,992 91,301
180K LA = Over 180 days 314,710 119,585
2,977,606 1,803,776

R-EBE-—=F+-_A=+—HBWELK
ES5ERBIERRE A BASHRND
[ UL B $1355,702,000/8 7T (ZE——
F : 210,886,000/ 70) » HRAES A
MERRREENES - Bl &
HWZEREELRE -EEEBETZRS
ERERNEEERRIT - MAEH
TVERE B EHE RS - AEETE
RZSEBERFE AR -

SEHE SRR AR ERE 5 R R

Included in trade receivables as at 31st December, 2013 are
receivables of HK$355,702,000 (2012: HK$210,886,000) which are
past due at the reporting date but are regarded as not impaired
as there has not been a significant change in the credit standing
of the debtors. The directors determined that such receivables
neither past due nor impaired are of good credit quality with no
history of default. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these receivables.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired

—E-=F —T——F

2013 2012

FET FHT

HK$’000 HK$’'000

(E31)

(Restated)

91 — 180K 91 — 180 days 40,992 91,301
180K A = Over 180 days 314,710 119,585
355,702 210,886
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23.

e year ended 31st December, 2013 #

FEWR & 5 Rk B H 2 FE WK
(&)

SEHE IR E N B E 5 IR AR

(#)

REFERUKRFRE AT EIR - A%
EEREBANERRARERERY
REABEESR B TR TMNES - H
RASEBEERERP  WEERR
SERAER - At - ARAEERBRKE
BEESEPMBRRTIELNRERE
Sh - BMASITIEHEERME -

REBEHERIES TEB ARMSAOER
B (B JE I BR 30 A ££35,324,0007%8 7T
(Z=— =4 :8,679,000/8 Jt) ° %
EEBALEET/ERNIEERYEK
g - AEBE IR ZSRBRREF
BEAERLS -

“E-=F+-A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired
(Continued)

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date credit was initially granted.
The concentration of credit risk is limited as the Group’s customer
base comprises of a large number of customers. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company believe that there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts
already provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually
impaired receivables due from certain debtors with an aggregate
amount of HK$35,324,000 (2012: HK$8,679,000) which have either
been placed under liquidation or are in financial difficulties. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these receivables.

RIRBHEEH Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
=—F—= —E——F
2013 2012
FHExT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
Rn—H—H At 1st January 8,679 3,470
HE 4, 3 B Exchange adjustments 235 8
B R EEE Impairment loss recognised 26,410 5,201
wn+=—A=+—8 At 31st December 35,324 8,679

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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For the year ended 31st December, 2013 HE-_ZT—=F+_A=+—HIFE

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS FOR

E Q| CONTRACT WORK
—E-=F T
2013 2012
THERT FTHAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&51)
(Restated)
EENALQRAIMEHERRF  Contract costs incurred plus profits recognised 1,484,741 496,582
o TRREEMNK Less: Progress billings (5,799,882) (2,829,122)
(4,315,141) (2,332,540)

HERMEITDNT ¢ Analysis for reporting purposes as:

FEWEFEAIIREZE Amounts due from customers for contract work 903,006 321,943
ENEFEHTREFE Amounts due to customers for contract work (5,218,147) (2,654,483)
(4,315,141) (2,332,540)

FEW A EEEZERADE
SN ) NGRS

BR-_ZE——F+-_A=1+—HEN
B Z B B A A KB 2,415,000,000/%
T (ZRBEEFEZESHME - EEF -
BIRRITEBRITRIZEREEINEF)
KH2EFERARBEREEE) 5N
FIEEMRIEBLHBEIFE SIS - K
- BB RARBREHEE -

o

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO AN
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY AND
FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES

Except for an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of HK$2,415,000,000
at 31st December, 2012 which was non-trade nature, unsecured,
interest bearing at prevailing HIBOR plus 2% per annum and
repayable on demand, all other amounts are non-trade nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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26.

27.

BEMBITERRITEH

RITHERIETSFNETES1% (=
T——F: TE35%) A -

W-—Z—=ZF+_-A=+—8 " 17
F5£219,149,000/% 7T (=T — =4 :
68,023,000 L) B IFIEAEN K
ARPEEEOENE SRAOER -
BEEMBITERIRMISFNE0.4%%E
2.20% (ZZT— =1 : 0.4%%2.25%)
aTE o

R-ZBE—=%F+-A=+—80 " 17
485 138 48,986,177,000/8 7T (=&
——% :9,120,810,000% T) KB
IR 1TI730219,149,000/8 7T (—Z—
— 4 : 68,023,000/ 7T) JhbA A R
FHE ARB DA AEREMS A H
Rz B - A\RBEXRZHHELT
RERARBEEINELZEEL T
FP B R A 5 0 B S NEE R il 161 49

P+ B 5 BR AN R H A FE AT K

pay
e

TE=HFTA=+—RLFE

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from nil
t0 5.1% (2012: nil to 3.5%) per annum.

At 31st December, 2013, bank deposits of HK$219,149,000 (2012:
HK$68,023,000) are pledged as security for trade payable to
suppliers of natural gas. The pledged bank deposits carry interest
at market rates ranging from 0.4% to 2.20% (2012: 0.4% to 2.25%)
per annum.

At 31st December, 2013, bank balances and cash of
HK$8,986,177,000 (2012: HK$9,120,810,000) and pledged
bank deposits of HK$219,149,000 (2012: HK$68,023,000) were
denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in
the international market. The exchange rate of RMB is regulated by
the government and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is
subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

—=-= —T——F

2013 2012

FExT FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

(&%)

(Restated)

JERTE Z RN Trade payables 5,255,802 2,132,011

EREERARFRIE Amounts due to joint ventures 2,248,118 1,299,983

FEA IEIE R AR SR SR IE Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders 61,995 -

FEUM R Receipts in advance 1,758,426 832,673

B RS Deposits received 940,908 350,884

W RB A R FE N FRIE Payables for acquisition of operating rights 16,343 431
W REM B A R R RE Consideration payable for acquisition

(F$7%E31) of subsidiaries (note 31) 62,520 =

JEEFB TR Accrued staff costs 607,959 288,277

HihENMFIE L EE R Other tax payables and accruals 518,180 187,425

11,470,251 5,091,684

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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% & %01,890,038,0008 7T (=T ——
F :1,256,160,000/8 L) WER & &
NAEIFIE (ZREAERE  ZNT
1152 £3.30E (T — — 4 :1.15
2 £3.30F) W R X BERERZ
T—NFEE) I BT EHRAEER
B 2B RERERFER -

FEA FEIERR R RIR A BT - 2.8
RARERFER -

ENEZRFNMERRENERH
HIERER D251
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$1,890,038,000
(2012: HK$1,256,160,000) which is unsecured, bears interest
ranging from 1.15% to 3.30% (2012: 1.15% to 3.30%) per annum
and repayable in 2014, the remaining balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.

The aged analysis of trade payables is presented based on invoice
date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E-=5F e

2013 2012

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

(E31)

(Restated)

0 — 90K 0 - 90 days 4,251,392 1,828,310
91 — 180k 91 — 180 days 343,425 111,688
180K A & Over 180 days 660,985 192,013
5,255,802 2,132,011

BENFHEEHRA7TRAE180K - A
SEESI T BRREERE - LA
RNEBEEBRRI AR -

28. B HBI =

W-Z—ZF+-_A=+—0  BF
## B) £100,394,000%% 7T (=& — =
1 135,371,000/ 1) £ Z4EHEIK
BEME BRI ER - AEAKE
ME BERREBEARERRREE

REESE -

The average credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 7
to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

28. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31st December, 2013, government grants of HK$100,394,000
(2012: HK$135,371,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
PRC governmental authorities for the purpose of financing the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction of
gas pipelines.
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

—B—=fF —E——F
2013 2012
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&%)
(Restated)
RITER Bank loans 8,147,412 5,984,280
HhE®R Other loans 42,913 39,517
8,190,325 6,023,797
B Secured 89,956 38,662
4 K Unsecured 8,100,369 5,985,135
8,190,325 6,023,797
AEBRFRTREMEE The Group’s bank and other borrowings
AR THREE : are repayable as follows:
—FR Within one year 858,749 175,107
ZR—FEATHBAME More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 3,131,197 841,316
ZRMFEETEBRBRASF More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 4,040,205 4,686,998
ZRAF More than five years 160,174 320,376
8,190,325 6,023,797
B OREBABERMRN—F Less: Amount due within one year
R EIEY FRIE shown under current liabilities (858,749) (175,107)
ERBEBEMRR—FR Amount due after one year shown
E|BAR) 018 as non-current liabilities 7,331,576 5,848,690

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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) 29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are

W set out below:
FRRFER=E
Effective
interest rate —E-=F —E
per annum 2013 2012
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(&B751)
(Restated)
ELMEE : Fixed rate borrowings:
AR ARBEGR/TE Unsecured RMB bank loans 6.88% 8,763 144,219
KA REHEMEFR  Unsecured RMB other loans 2.25% — 6.56% 37,102 39,517
I A TRITER Unsecured JPY bank loan 0.65% 157,467 170,778
BIEAARBEIRITER  Secured RMB bank loans 4.95% — 9.18% 55,073 38,662
TEEEEARE Total fixed rate borrowings 258,405 393,176
FEEE Floating rate borrowings:
IR A RBEIRITER - Unsecured RMB bank loans
LR B A RIRITER at the People’s Bank of
M= R China Base Rate 5.06% — 6.89% 97,037 230,621
B TIRITER
R EEMBABRIT Unsecured HKD bank loans
RIXFSETE at margin plus HIBOR 1.35% — 1.85% 7,800,000 5,400,000
AEMARERITER ©  Secured RMB bank loans at
ZH B A RERITHERE the People’s Bank of
=B China Base Rate 5.90% - 7.69% 29,072 =
AEMAREEMER - Secured RMB other loans at
LB A RIRITERE the People's Bank of
M= China Base Rate 9.29% — 11.33% 5,811 =
FRBERRE Total floating rate borrowings 7,931,920 5,630,621
BERE Total borrowings 8,190,325 6,023,797

EWRAERERAT
il Sale
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30. BERE

RZZE——FWAAH " ARAIE
= JE T {H97.95%HK) & & (8 % 17 K
% % %750,000,000% T (48 % »
5,818,890,000/% 7t) M & 5t Z &
([BEEZE] - BAZBEREERE
FA45%T B WEREHEF¥FEIHN
—R YR T Z=_FMAMAZ
H BERRABIEWN  WIRERF
FEAB%RETE - REBE-T—=F1+
ZA=t+—BHLFE BEIZNHGRH
B 5 5274,450,0008 7T (—Z—
—4 : 201,120,000/ ) °

BEZERTNBEELRZSAARR
AlEm - BAEBER-_Z—=F+=
A=+—BHQAFE (RE—RLAF
BT 2518 ) (451 4738,330,000% 7T
(#8 % $745,725,454,000/%8 7T) * Jh 3%
ZABMRTEEE -

REE AN EE T H A AT AR 2
BRELFBALFENI100%IMET
RARMHME - BBWMIEBEE A
BRER -
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30. SENIOR NOTES

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with principal
amount of US$750,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at
an offer price of 97.95% of the face value of the notes (“Senior
Notes”). The Senior Notes bear coupon interest at 4.5% per
annum payable semi-annually in arrears and are due on 4th April,
2022. The Senior Notes are unsecured and carry effective interest
rate of 4.8% per annum. Interest expenses of HK$274,450,000
(2012: HK$201,120,000) was charged to profit or loss during the
year ended 31st December, 2013.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31st
December, 2013, which was measured at fair value on Level
1 fair value measurement, was estimated at US$738,330,000
(equivalent to HK$5,725,454,000), which was determined based
on the closing market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes, in full
but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus accrued
and unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.



31.

HitRHAE

R-ZEBE—=F+-A=+—HztAH
ft & HA & f& /) 5 18 £280,138,000/%8
7T (ZZF— 4 : 16,357,000/ 7T) -
BUEBR T E ERKCEERMNRA
PEVIER BN IS ©

s B 88 T 8 MR AR AR R I TR N IR Y
FEETIT
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31. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December, 2013 is an
amount of HK$280,138,000 (2012: HK$16,357,000), representing
non-current portion of payables for acquisition of operating rights
for city pipeline network.

The payables for acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline
network are repayable as follows:

—E—= —T—F
2013 2012
FHERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
—FUA Within one year 16,343 431
ZR—FETBBRMSE More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 12,215 3,628
ZRMERTEBBEASF More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 25,882 4,878
ZRAF More than five years 207,308 7,851
261,748 16,788
W mEB A B RETA Less: Amount due within one year included
BB S RH KR in trade and other payables
H A AR shown under current liabilities
—FRREFIE 16,343 431
FERBEEMTRR—FR Amount due after one year shown
E|BAR) K18 as non-current liabilities 245,405 16,357

ZEREDNETRBESREFE - 7
FEANMERDERERNA30FH
ERFFNEIE(ZE—=F 59
E) -

R-B——F+-A=1+—B8EM
RHABEBRE £ 2% 562,520,000
FEITHRIE - ARKERBARZA
RZZB—MFZFELERE - R
T—=F+-_fA=+—8  ZHED
AAARMESERREMEMNK (R
MizE27) o

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
effective interest rate of 3.0% (2012: 5.9%) per annum for a term
of 30 years.

Included in other long-term liabilities at 31st December, 2012 was
an amount of HK$62,520,000, representing deferred consideration
for the acquisition of subsidiaries repayable in 2014. At 31st
December, 2013, the amount is included in trade and other
payables (note 27).
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32. IEIEF 1B 32. DEFERRED TAXATION
NTAREERUNEEFEFZCHER The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
BEFHBEE (AfE) REZS recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

years:
ROERFM
nEE AMH Hity
B e Withholding URER
Accelerated e tax on Other
tax Operating undistributed temporary &t
depreciation rights profits differences Total
T TAET FAT FAET TAEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RW=—ZT——F—A—HAt 1st January, 2012
(&%) (restated) (178,543) - (48,000) 48,831 (177,712)
0 5 A% Exchange adjustments 88 - 9 9) 88
FREE () Credit (charge) for the year 10,016 30 (12,458) (14,262) (16,674)
WEEH B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries (205,369) (1,378) = 8,102 (198,645)
R-E——F At 31st December, 2012
+-A=+—H (373,863) (1,348) (60,449) 42,662 (392,998)
(& i AR Exchange adjustments (11,827) (38) (1,893) 4,415 (9,343)
FR (L) & (Charge) credit for the year (16,227) 1,386 (15,678) 15,213 (15,306)
B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries 4,370 (49,050) - - (44,680)
RZE—=F At 31st December, 2013
+=A=+-8 (397,547) (49,050) (78,020) 62,290 (462,327)
BEMEMDTAT - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
—E-=F =l s
2013 2012
FE T FHIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
==270p)
(Restated)
EETRIBE E Deferred tax assets 98,630 115,350
EERIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities (560,957) (508,348)
(462,327) (892,998)
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RZB—=%F+-A=+—0 K&
[ A >k &) A F 18 /&5 18282,779,000/%
L (ZZF — =4 : 152,751,000/ JT)
AR EH AR AR ) o B A SR 2R ) 2ROR
HLARETE MY EEBEBERE
EHIEEE -HRZT—=Fx=
—E+ A+ BHHREBEEBEBA
PR AFNDIE -

RZE—=F+=ZA=+—8 &
MAERECH EHAGENHE A
AR RBRANBEENERERA
1,727,215,000/ L (Z & — = F :
1,263,286,000/8 7T) ° FN A& B #E
THEREEMNLRENEHAZSERE
R B R AT BE N [l 3 - B L
ZEEBERAE -
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31st December, 2013, the Group had unused tax losses
of HK$282,779,000 (2012: HK$152,751,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses at 31st December, 2013 and 2012 will
expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31st December, 2013, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$1,727,215,000 (2012: HK$1,263,286,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is
in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

33. SHARE CAPITAL
RHEE ROEE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FAET
HK$'000
Fh%0.10/8 TTHIRZ 1D Shares of HK$0.10 each
VETE Authorised:
R-ZFE——F—H—H - At 1st January, 2012, 31st December,
—E——_H+-_A=+—H 2012 and 31st December, 2013
r—ZT—=%F
+=—A=+—8H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
EETREAR Issued and fully paid:
R-EBE——F—H—H At 1st January, 2012 1,992,269,718 199,227
RUEE R B A R B E Issue of shares upon acquisition of
B ETRG (HisEa) additional interest in a subsidiary (Note a) 71,741,153 7,174
R ERD (HiEtb) Placing of shares (Note b) 160,000,000 16,000
R-ZZE——F+-_HA=+—H At 31st December, 2012 2,224,010,871 222,401
F1T R AR i T 28 17 AR (7 Issue of shares upon exercise of
(Bt 5Ee) share options (Note c) 2,000 =
R-ZE—=%F+_"_H=+—H At 31st December, 2013 2,224,012,871 222,401

FRREERERER | 177
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33. BRAK (&)
RAFEEBRTHFROMS T TEmS
HHRBEBETRNEERSFELRS -

BEE -

178

RZE——F_A AEEURE
805,288,000/ T U & M & A 7] &P
M EE B R D A PR A ] (8 4R
F1) QEIMER - BEEEBEINRR
AL B EHR ETia - &R
{8 LA 38 €16,957,00078 JC & i 18 i
2 K B 17 44T {6788,331,000/8 T Y
71,741,153 A A R BAR (D 21 -
KRB 1T REFTR10.997% T
AT e

RZZT—=ZF+—A=+H8 ' £&2RQ
AIEEERARICRH (Gas) Limited
([CRH (Gas))) kAR HEEENR
B vRERRERE  BUHES
RIBIZEE T R16.958 T &
CRH (Gas)Ff# % #7160,000,000/%
BEERNO TETELAREA - RIE
fl & iR g 1 # - CRH (Gas)iR &
160,000,0007% £ it & %15 24 B 187
BFTRR 1 » BLE RO MFTEIE (10
HREEXERRBRIMNAL) BEE
ARKEE ZHBE TSRS

FA - BIRITEEER.06ETITHE
2,00017 & f A o
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The new shares issued during the year rank pari passu in all
respects with the existing shares in issue.

Notes:

In February, 2012, the Group acquired additional interest in a
subsidiary, ENEMREKRMDABRAR (“Zhengzhou Gas”), for a
consideration of HK$805,288,000 for the purpose of the privatisation
and withdrawal of the listing of H shares of Zhengzhou Gas. The
consideration was satisfied by cash of HK$16,957,000 and the
allotment and issue of 71,741,153 consideration shares in the
Company of HK$788,331,000. The consideration shares were issued
at an average share price of HK$10.99 per share.

On 20th November, 2012, CRH (Gas) Limited (“CRH (Gas)"), the
Company’s immediate holding company, and the Company entered
into a placing and subscription agreement with the placing agent
pursuant to which the placing agent placed 160,000,000 existing
shares at a price of HK$16.95 per share owned by CRH (Gas) to
certain independent placees. Pursuant to the placing and subscription
agreement, CRH (Gas) subscribed for 160,000,000 new shares
equivalent to the number of the placing shares. The proceeds from the
placing of shares, net of professional fees and out-of-pocket expenses,
will be used principally for acquisition of more downstream city gas
distribution businesses in the PRC.

During the year, 2,000 share options were exercised at an exercise
price of HK$9.06 per share.
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

U]

The Company’s share option schemes

On 26th November, 2001, the Company terminated the share
option scheme adopted on 15th October, 1994 and adopted a
new share option scheme (the “Scheme”). On 21st February,
2002, upon approval of the Company’s shareholders, the
Company amended the Scheme to widen the scope of
participants that are eligible to participate in the Scheme.
On 5th March, 2008, the Company terminated the Scheme.

The purpose of the Scheme was to promote dedication
by its participants and to encourage its participants to
perform their best in achieving the goals of the Group. The
participants are any directors (or any persons proposed
to be appointed as such) and employees of each member
of the Group; any discretionary object of a discretionary
trust established by any employees or directors of each
member of the Group; any executives or employees of
any business consultants, business partners, professionals
and other advisers to each member of the Group (or any
persons proposed to be appointed as such); any substantial
shareholders of the member of the Group; any associates of
the director or substantial shareholders of the Company; and
any employees of the Company’s substantial shareholders or
any employees of such substantial shareholders’ subsidiaries
or associated companies, as absolutely determined by the
board of directors.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option of the Scheme shall not be later than 10 years from
the date the option is granted. There is no minimum period
for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
An amount of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the option
within 28 days from its date of grant. The subscription price
is the highest of (i) the closing price of the share as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of
the share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The
Scheme is valid for 10 years from 26th November, 2001. No
further options may be granted pursuant to the Scheme after
25th November, 2011.

smEgEsEed 1179
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(Continued)

(i) The Company’s share option schemes (Continued)

Share options generally either become fully vested and
exercisable within a period of 10 years immediately after the
date of grant or become vested over a period of time up to

a maximum of three years after the acceptance of a grant.

Details of the movements of share options granted under the

Scheme are as follows:

BREXE
Number of share options
R=2-=% RZZ-ZF RZZ-ZF
-A-H RERER -B-H RERE +t=A=t-H
e HRTE Expired I RATHE Exercised R AT
Exercise  Outstanding during  Outstanding during  Outstanding
REAH Date of grant price  at1.1.2012 the year  at1.1.2013 the year at 31.12.2013
B
HK$
—ZZ-FERANR 9.4.2002 8.20 186,000 (186,000) - - -
—FImE-f+=p  131.2004 9.06 2,000 - 2,000 (2,000) -
188,000 (186,000) 2,000 (2,000) =
miEFSTEE (B7) Weighted average
exercise price (HK$) 8.21 8.20 9.06 9.06 -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(i)

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares
of the Company will be purchased by the trustee from the
market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in
trust for the selected employees until such shares are vested
with the selected employees. No restricted shares will be
granted if the aggregate number of restricted shares awarded
throughout the duration of the scheme to be in excess of the
5% of the issued share capital of the Company at the adoption
date of the scheme. The maximum number of restricted
shares which may be awarded to a selected employee under
the Incentive Award Scheme shall not exceed 0.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will
be awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated
from disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for
the awards made under the Incentive Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31st December, 2013, 2,268,500
(2012: 6,893,520) shares were disposed of by the trustee to
the market at an average price of HK$23.98 (2012: HK$16.30)
per share. The proceeds from disposal of those shares
amounted to HK$54,403,000 (2012: HK$112,366,000). The
whole amount of the proceeds was distributed to certain
employees of the Group, with an equivalent expense
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as employee benefits during the
year. The difference of HK$46,186,000 (2012: HK$87,398,000)
between the cost of the shares and the proceeds was credited
to retained profits. There are 51,278,484 (2012: 53,546,984)
shares held by the trustee at the end of reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees
pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme.
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior
to the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of
staying within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme,
whereas all new employees joining the Group on or after 1st
December, 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at monthly maximum cap of HK$1,250
each person (Before 1st June, 2012: HK$1,000 each person) to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by the employees.

At 31st December, 2013 and 2012, the amount of forfeited
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
future years is insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31st December, 2013

(a)

EHEBIRR AR LR (“Wuxi CR Gas”) was 50% held by the
Group and 50% by the other joint venturer, a PRC government
related entity. It was accounted for as a jointly controlled entity
under the previous standard HKAS 31 as all of the strategic
financial and operating decisions must be approved by
two-third of the members of the board of directors in Wuxi CR
Gas whereby the number of members nominated by the board
of directors by the Group did not meet this requirement. On
1st January, 2013, the shareholders of Wuxi CR Gas signed
a memorandum in which the other shareholder would agree
the Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing
activities of Wuxi CR Gas, and the other shareholder would
agree the appointment of all senior management of Wuxi CR
Gas nominated by the Group. Accordingly the Group is able
to control the relevant activities on the strategic operating,
investing and financial decisions, at which time, Wuxi CR Gas
became a subsidiary of the Company.

FHET
HK$°000
BB ESEREMRAA B EE Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
REBERESZEHIEEBNHATE of Wuxi CR Gas acquired at the date of
FTREOR ¢ obtaining control are as follows:

W - BB RERE Property, plant and equipment 1,855,346
FEBELHFHIEA Prepaid lease payments 65,512
Fayd Operating rights 284,240
B E A R S Interests in associates 7,844
KR Deposits for operating rights 24,662
TENBAFRIBRE Deposits for prepaid lease payments 1,244
FE Inventories 60,964
UL E 5 BR TN oAb B IR Trade and other receivables 300,194
BREFE 4 TENRIE Amounts due from customers for contract works 238,660
B RIRITIF R Pledged bank deposits 21,456
IRITHEBRIA S Bank balances and cash 626,918
BB 5 IRk R B R 3R Trade and other payables (656,785)
ERNEEAAHTIEHE Amounts due to customers for contract works (1,106,763)
JER R IE Taxation payable (105,482)
HiREIEE Other long-term liabilities (80,780)
REIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (51,868)
1,485,362

TRRELREREE 1183
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)

(&) (a) (Continued)
FET
HK$’000
U B 4 85 2 A R EE AE MO 4 Results on the acquisition of Wuxi CR Gas:
B EEGERRRATE Fair value of Wuxi CR Gas acquired 1,485,362
URAE R aMERKRTE Previously held interest, represented by
BEFMFER (RATER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value (742,681)
eI s (IR QA FERT) Non-controlling interests, at fair value (742,681)
W BE 85 MR R AR & &% Analysis of net inflow of cash and
ReFERNFEIN : cash equivalents in respect of acquisition of
Wuxi CR Gas:
FBRITHEBRERE Bank balances and cash acquired 626,918

REBEE-_ZT—=F+_-/F=+—
HIEFE - WENEB AR EHA
FESEVBHRERTAKBER
I A2,832,000,0007% 7T [ it
542,000,0007 7T °

EEERRRERAR (HFEH
PAR) RS - R AR (F
ERTENER) RS—AE55
R A51% - 419658% - % 2 7
RIEE B RS AR R
BOBAT  RAHESEANT
B B AR BT BT
R AR EFERNAS
P2 EFRERAGIE - A%
R A F R AL RS
- RoE—=H AR B
FERRABRERT ALY N
GRE S ol N S
FERRRLIE - RARBEES
PURE - TR MRS RS A
EIREHETERN R 2 ERRE
REOS(E - Fl; - AREAH
BESIHEE R A R RHEA0D
BIED) - it AREBRARA
ARFHIBAR -

(b)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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During the year ended 31st December, 2013, the acquisition
of the subsidiary resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition
revenue of HK$2,832 million and profit of HK$542 million in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

EBEBRE AR AR (“Jining CR Gas”) was 51% held by the
Group and 41% by the other joint venturer, a PRC government
related entity, and 8% by another joint venturer. It was
accounted for as joint venture under HKFRS 11 as all of the
strategic financial and operating decisions that significantly
affect the return of Jining CR Gas must be approved by
two-third of the members of the board of directors in Jining
CR Gas whereby the number of members nominated by the
board of directors by the Group did not meet this requirement.
On 1st July, 2013, the shareholders of Jining CR Gas signed
a memorandum in which the other shareholders would agree
the Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing
activities of Jining CR Gas, and the other shareholders would
agree the appointment of all senior management of Jining CR
Gas nominated by the Group. Accordingly the Group is able
to control the relevant activities on the strategic operating,
investing and financial decisions, at which time, Jining CR
Gas became a subsidiary of the Company.
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)

&) (b) (Continued)
FHET
HK$’000
Bl EEE R AR EE R Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
AERNESEFEEBH of Jining CR Gas acquired at the date
NEMRAT : of obtaining control are as follows:
L E Y & Property, plant and equipment 289,799
TERHEAFIE Prepaid lease payments 38,982
L Operating rights 2,782
B A Al R Interests in associates 2,475
REZERRINER Interests in joint ventures 18,347
REERE Deposits for operating rights 8,587
BEEFIBEE Deferred tax assets 7,188
& Inventories 19,712
UL E 5 BR T % oAb B IR Trade and other receivables 348,289
BREFAXIIERE Amounts due from customers for contract works 42,841
AT B 75 18 Tax recoverable 3,506
RITHEHBRRB® Bank balances and cash 31,865
FET R 5 BR 3k B2 EL Al FE A 3K Trade and other payables (76,542)
BRNEFPE4 ITENRIE Amounts due to customers for contract works (147,079)
590,752
W is B = I R PA P EE AR Y 45 Results on the acquisition of Jining CR Gas:
BEREAEEEBRR A TE Fair value of Jining CR Gas acquired 590,752
AR A &R RN SRR Previously held interest, represented by
BEFFER (EAFER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value (301,283)
JEERR RS (IR R ERT) Non-controlling interests, at fair value (289,469)
W EEEERERNIRE R Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
REFERNFEIN : in respect of acquisition of Jining CR Gas:
RS RITRABR KRS Bank balances and cash acquired 31,865

FRMRIZER
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

During the year ended 31st December, 2013, the acquisition
of the subsidiary resulted in inclusion of post-acquisition
revenue of HK$343 million and profit of HK$56 million in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1st January, 2013,
total Group revenue for the year would have been HK$618
million, and profit for the year would have been HK$103
million. The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes
only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1st
January, 2013, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

For the year ended 31st December, 2012

(c)

| CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2013

In July 2012, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in AEI
China Gas Limited, which is principally engaged in operation
of city gas pipelines, gas selling and distribution and operation
of compressed natural gas, liquefied natural gas and liquefied
petroleum gas stations in the PRC from an independent
third party for a cash consideration of approximately
US$236,672,000 (equivalent to HK$1,857,946,000). The
acquisition is part of the on-going expansion strategy of the
Group with the aim of becoming the market leader in the
downstream city gas industry. Details of the acquisition are
set out in the Company’s announcement on 16th May, 2012.
The transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition
method.

At the date of acquisition, goodwill of HK$324,403,000 has
been determined provisionally based on the net identifiable
assets of AEl China Gas Limited. During the year ended
31st December, 2013, the identification and determination of
fair values of the net identifiable assets acquired have been
completed. The following adjustments have been made to
retrospectively adjust the provisional amounts recognised at
the date of acquisition.
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36. WEEHIE AR (&) 36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BE-_Z--—S+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2012 (Continued)
(&)
(c) (#&) (c) (Continued)
RUEE B H
ERRELHE RTERK
(1R i B WEEEs
HAES) BIEEN
Amounts ATE
recognised Fair value
at the date of upon
acquisition AFEFAZE completion of
(provisional Fair value acquisition
basis) adjustments accounting
FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&751) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated)
EUWEEKTE AR AT :%R]  Fair value of net identifiable assets
B EFERESES of the subsidiaries acquired
EERNATE at the date of obtaining control
FTREAR ¢ are as follows:
ME - WE k& Property, plant and equipment 1,915,970 427,026 2,342,996
R Operating rights 60,622 5,511 66,133
KRS Deposits for operating rights 12,267 - 12,267
S Inventories 33,306 - 33,306
EWE SRR K Trade and other receivables
E A K 279,194 - 279,194
RITHEB RIS Bank balances and cash 280,488 = 280,488
BB ZRF KR Trade and other payables
H i e 2K (653,618) - (653,618)
FERFLIR Taxation payable (24,666) = (24,666)
HREIBE Other long term liabilities (44,411) = (44,411)
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings (277,607) - (277,607)
BIEHREBEEE (BF) Deferred tax assets (liabilities) 8,201 (108,134) (99,933)
1,589,746 324,403 1,914,149
DEENRE (LARE ) Consideration transferred,
satisfied by cash 1,857,946
B0 : RAEI China Gas Plus: Non-controlling interests
BB A in subsidiaries held by
FEE Hﬂgﬁ AEI China Gas 56,203
B BEWEEEFE Less: Net assets acquired (1,914,149)
WS E AR PR Goodwill arising on acquisition =
WEHBATINIR S KL  Analysis of net cash outflow
BEEEREFESH - of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of acquisition of
subsidiaries:
EREERE Cash consideration paid (1,857,946)
FTiSIRITRAB RIS Bank balances and
cash acquired 280,488
(1,577,458)
#3 w SRR A R
ssesenrzed 187
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31st December, 2012 (Continued)

(d) InJune 2012, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in /&
Z L EBRE AR A E], which is engaged in sales of liquefied
gas and connection of gas pipelines, from an independent

third party for a cash consideration of approximately
RMB111,167,000 (equivalent to HK$136,735,000). The
transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition

RER - BER S RAKEE method.
N
R B 5
ERRLE
Amounts
recognised
at the date of
acquisition
FHBT
HK$’'000
BUEME QR A B EEFER Fair value of net identifiable assets of the
BEEEHEEANAFEMTAT : subsidiaries acquired at the date of
obtaining control are as follows:
M - BB KR Property, plant and equipment 8,529
RIETIIE A B Deferred tax assets 22
FE Inventories 10,279
FEULE 5 BR 3R N b & WX Trade and other receivables 6,543
RITHEBR KIS Bank balances and cash 54,033
BN B SRR E b B R Trade and other payables (67,947)
FEI BT Tax payable (841)
RIEFIREE Deferred tax liabilities (121)
10,497
EHEERE (UREXM) Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash 136,735
B BB EEFRE Less: Net assets acquired (10,497)
WS E R R Goodwill arising on acquisition 126,238
WERBARNRE RREEE Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
R DT in respect of acquisition of a subsidiary:
BENBEeRE Cash consideration paid (136,735)
Ff5iRTEBR RS Bank balances and cash acquired 54,033
(82,702)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2013
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2012 (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(Continued)

The fair values of identifiable assets of L/ % [LIZEBKETFR
‘A 7] were initially determined on a provisional basis. During
the year ended 31st December, 2013, the Group completed
the valuation of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree. No
adjustment was made to the fair values of identifiable assets
and liabilities. Goodwill arose in this acquisition because it is
attributable to the anticipated profitability of the gas business
and the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination. These benefits are not recognised separately
from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

BRI EEBRE AR A A (“Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas”) was
70% held by the Group and 30% by the other joint venturer, a
PRC government related entity. Under the previous standard
HKAS 31, it was accounted for as a jointly controlled entity
as all of the strategic financial and operating decisions must
be approved by two-third of the members of the board of
directors in Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas whereby the number
of members nominated to the board of directors by the
Group did not meet this requirement. It is accounted for as a
joint venture under HKFRS 11 using equity method after the
adoption of HKFRS 11. In January 2012, the shareholders of
Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas passed a resolution which then
led to the amendment of the memorandum of association and
the joint venture agreement in which the number of directors
which can be nominated by the other joint venturer has been
reduced. Upon the change of board composition, the number
of members nominated to the board of directors by the Group
can meet the Threshold, and accordingly the Group is able
to control the strategic financial and operating decisions, at
which time, Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas became a subsidiary
of the Company.

wmnsgaeEad | 18Q
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31st December, 2012 (Continued)

(&)
(e) (#&) (e) (Continued)
FHT
HK$'000
B ER T EEBRAR Fair value of net identifiable assets of
S GIREE BRI EA Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas acquired at the
BEZFERMRAT : date of obtaining control are as follows:
ME - BB KEE Property, plant and equipment 1,085,113
FE Inventories 37,608
RIS B 5 B 7 B2 E fih & UL X Trade and other receivables 110,621
RITHEMBRIRS Bank balances and cash 59,793
FE & 5 R R B A FE 1 3R Trade and other payables (28,025)
FES T8 Taxation payable (2,891)
RITREAMIEE Bank and other borrowings (37,005)
FIEFIERE Deferred tax liabilities (98,613)
1,126,601
W RE m UL B B R T Results on the acquisition of
EERER : Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas:
BEHER R IZERRRNATE Fair value of Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas acquired 1,126,601
ARG E R R ER R TABE Previously held interest, represented by
FrisiEs (R Q2 FER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value (788,619)
e AR B Non-controlling interests (337,982)
WiEm I EEBRRNRE X Analysis of net cash inflow of cash and
ReEBERNFEIN cash equivalents in respect of the
acquisition of Nanjing Jiangning CR Gas:
FsiRTESR RES Bank balances and cash acquired 59,793

1 90 | CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2013
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37. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

=-g—= —E—_F

2013 2012

FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$'000

(E31)

(Restated)

—FR Within one year 31,574 20,497
FE_FERF In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BEEEMFEA) 24,206 22,435

AF% After five years 13,950 9,742

69,730 52,674

BREBONRDEAEERNAE
BEYENENES - HONERR
BEEeFHIR—Z=ETFH (T~
ZHF—ETEH) -

REEER[BEA

RE|EHR » NEEEARAC L
AABEHGETEA - RRAAINT
REESOIEELT

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for office and factory premises. Leases are negotiated and rentals
are fixed for term ranging from one to ten years (2012: one to ten
years).

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
lessees for the following future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—E-—=F T

2013 2012

FHET FAT

HK$’°000 HK$'000

(&%)

(Restated)

—FR Within one year 2,514 1,088
FEEERF

(BREEEREEAN) In the second to fifth year inclusive 4,873 3,688

A& After five years 1,954 1,612

9,341 6,388

FRNEREAREYEEBALFT L —
B+ ZFH(ZTE—ZF: —E2+=
FH) WAL - BER bl EEL
ZH ARSI AE S LHE -

The investment properties rented during the year have committed
tenants for term ranging from one to twelve years (2012: one to
twelve years). No contingent rent was arranged for the above
operating lease arrangements.

#EMAERERAT | 10
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38. &iE 38. COMMITMENTS
—E-=fF T
2013 2012
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
(E%))
(Restated)
MATEHEERILER Capital expenditure contracted for but
RAE BB HREP not provided in the Group’s
BENEARRAY : financial statements in respect of:
BEWME  BERERE Acquisition of property, plant and
TEMHAERIE equipment/prepaid lease payments 843,896 48,419
fE B Acquisition of operating rights 25,438 =
BE (M) Investments (Note) 1,022,911 5,751,675
1,892,245 5,800,094
AT SEEH#ER Capital expenditure authorised but
RETAHE RS not contracted for in respect of:
BEWE  BEESE Acquisition of property, plant and
FBREEE equipment/prepaid lease payments 60,767 43,164
EELERE Acquisition of operating rights - 41,931
®& Investments 595,440 524,880
656,207 609,975
AEEE(REEME S The Group’s share of the capital commitments
HEEHBEBRESEME made jointly with other joint venturers
BREAMERAENT : relating to its joint ventures are as follows:
BEWE  BELERE Acquisition of property, plant and
FERFRE A equipment/prepaid lease payments 44,581 56,581

Mia AKEEBIE=HRI LA THHEN
ERBERIETRPIEGE

f

PRC.

1 92 | CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent third
parties to establish certain sino-foreign joint venture enterprises in the
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39. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

(c)

During the year, Wuxi CR Gas and Jining CR Gas became the
subsidiaries of the Group whereby control was obtained from
the other joint venturers without consideration (notes 36(a)
and 36(b)).

In February 2012, the Group acquired additional interest in
Zhengzhou Gas for a consideration of HK$805,288,000 for
the purpose of the privatisation and withdrawal of the listing
of H shares of Zhengzhou Gas which was settled by cash of
HK$16,957,000 and the allotment and issue of 71,741,153
shares.

On 16th October, 2012, the Company acquired 100%
equity
Group Limited from a fellow subsidiary for a consideration
of HK$2,415,000,000. As a result of the transaction, the
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries were increased by
HK$2,415,000,000.

interests in China Resources Petrochem Gas

40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 31st December, 2013, the Group pledged the following assets

as securities for bank borrowings and trade payables to suppliers

of natural gas as follows:

BRR -
—E—=F —E—_F
2013 2012
FET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%)
(Restated)
ME - B M ERE Property, plant and equipment 6,223 6,624
FEURE 5 BREN Trade receivables 26,314 25,122
SRR TR Pledged bank deposits 219,149 68,023
251,686 99,769
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the respective
notes, the Group entered into the following material transactions
with related parties during the year:

—EB—=fF —E——4F
2013 2012
FET FABT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
(&E5)
(Restated)

B —RER XM B A R Interest expenses paid to a fellow subsidiary
FERxZ 19,378 12,326
e RZMBARTBRN S A Interest income from a fellow subsidiary 7,273 1,478
ERRAMEBARINMAESESZ Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 1,386 608
HETEE AR Sales to joint ventures 588,563 82,140
==l il Purchase from non-controlling shareholders 630,383 523,300
BEAERAR] Purchase from joint ventures 4,932 11,668
HE FHE QA Sales to associates 74,726 15,659
HE T IR R Sales to non-controlling interests 37,689 90,304
EREEATNF B Interest expenses paid to joint ventures 32,022 28,534
REAERQRAF SWA Interest income from joint ventures 3,829 2,233
REEETHF WA Interest income from a joint venturer 15,575 =

WZE—=F+=-—A=+—8 &%
ERRREMEB ARG EMBRITRN
AR A FIFARITFR1,929,367,000
B (ZF — Z F : 171,094,0007%5
TC)  ZERITEARGTARITERKRIE

HEMAEEHERNRS &t

AEEEF /T BEBFES & hEE
HETRAEERARN 5D mA
S B AT AR BIBUF S - R
HREMNEAFENNERAINR

R -

BRESAFRENBARNRZS (B
PR B B TS R A0 E A B S R R
S - AN S B R E P B R B R Sk R
2] KEESREMERZE D
EREAEEBBIETETER &
FBERBORITERRAENE K
A ETRITRAEMGEE A RABEE
TERA ~ REBIDEREE R BB MARIHE -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

1 94 I Annual Report 2013

At 31st December, 2013, the Group placed bank deposits of
HK$1,929,367,000 (2012: HK$171,094,000) with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary and these bank
deposits were included in bank balances and cash.

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under CRNC
which is controlled by the government of the PRC and the Group
operates in an economic environment currently predominated by
entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in the
ordinary course of business, including majority of its bank deposits
and the corresponding interest income, certain bank and other
borrowings and the corresponding finance costs, large portion of
purchases and part of sales of gas.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

TEBZEEEAEHS Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—B—= —E——F
2013 2012
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
EHATE A Short-term benefits 80,454 131,034
RINERRA Post-employment benefits 1,479 1,439
81,933 132,473

42, 7R 7] B I AR R 3=

42. STATEMENT OF
THE COMPANY

FINANCIAL POSITION OF

—E-=F —E—CF
2013 2012
FxT FH&IT
HK$’000 HK$'000
ETBEE Non-current assets
ME - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 1,119 1,715
RETBARIMA ETEE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 12,357,073 11,981,859
JE U BT B A B 7R IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 15,686,271 11,656,804
28,044,463 23,640,378
mENEE Current assets
H A e UL R Other receivables 49,392 61,690
FE UK B B A R 5K IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 293,186 =
WRITHEBRRIRE Bank balances and cash 759,535 4,682,916
1,102,113 4,744,606
mEaE Current liabilities
HEtENR R ETER Other payables and accrued charges 154,212 100,546
FEAS B B A Rl 5kIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 39,916 188
FEf — R R B R R FIE Amount due to a fellow subsidiary = 2,415,000
RITEE Bank borrowings 800,000 =
994,128 2,515,734
BB EFE Net current assets 107,985 2,228,872
28,152,448 25,869,250
BEAR R Capital and reserves
A& 7N Share capital 222,401 222,401
& (k) Reserves (Note) 15,246,093 14,577,719
15,468,494 14,800,120
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITEE Bank borrowings 7,000,000 5,400,000
BEEIR Senior notes 5,683,954 5,669,130
12,683,954 11,069,130
28,152,448 25,869,250

EHRRERBR AT
T ZFFW

1195



fRE BRI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013

HE_Z—=F+_A=+—HBItFE

42. XARBHMRRFK (&) 42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)
B EE Note:
] Reserves
RRBE
BEZREG
Shares
BRERE held for
6 E BABER Share incentive
Share  Contributed option award Hity A&t
premium surplus reserve scheme Others Total
FHIT FHIT FHIT FHIT FHIT FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-—ZT——F—HF—H At 1stJanuary, 2012 2,914,756 7,388,600 13,436 (219,298) 419,376 10,516,870
EREFIREEKA  Profit and total comprehensive
B income for the year - - - - 725,026 725,026
[RE=Lenl Placing of shares 2,696,000 - - - - 2,696,000
RHEITER Share issue expenses (13,270) = = = = (13,270)
RULEE—FM B AT Issue of shares upon
TIMERSIABITIRG  acquisition of additional
interest in a subsidiary 781,157 - - - - 781,157
& AR 2 Disposal of shares held
BEHRG for incentive award
scheme - - - 24,968 87,398 112,366
BERERE Dividends paid = - - _ (240,430) (240,430)
RZT—=F At 31st December, 2012
+=-A=1+—8 6,378,643 7,388,600 13,436 (194,330) 991,370 14,577,719
FRHEMEEZEBA  Profit and total comprehensive
foka) income for the year - - - - 962,325 962,325
R AR IE S Expiry of share options - = (13,436) _ 13,436 _
L& RIZERTE Disposal of shares held for
e XSt olig) incentive award scheme - - - 8,217 46,186 54,403
BERRE Dividends paid - - - - (348,354) (348,354)
RZT—=F
+-A=1+—8 At 31st December, 2013 6,378,643 7,388,600 - (186,113) 1,664,963 15,246,093
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RE|ERR  NEEHBERRNER

YT -

ARER
Name of company

MR,

FR L i 2

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
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HE—T—

General information of subsidiaries

=F+ZA=+—BILFE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

period are set out below.

RORBERE

L AR A

Issued and

fully paid share/

registered capital

rEBELRE
Attributable

equity interest
of the Group

TEXK
Principal activities

ZE-=f —_T-_F
2013 2012
% %
ERRRARAR RBRZES Tmk4az=TT 100 100 REER
China Resources Gas British Virgin Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
Limited Islands
AEl China Gas Limited REHS LAk 1,000% T 100 100 &&=
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
MREEMRRERAR i AR #50,000,0007T 80.4 80.4 SHERILR,
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sales of liquefied gas
BEMEBRRARAR H 15,000,000% 7T 70 70 HERILRAR
PRC USD15,000,000 EEBRER
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EGERRRERAR"2 HE 16,000,0005 7T 50 50 HERILRR
PRC USD 16,000,000 EXBRES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
el W Fak;
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43. TEHBLARER (&) 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
MEBLARMN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HMRL CRTRBZRG
FR L3t 2 ERTES REBEMERE
Place of Issued and Attributable
DNEERB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest FTEEHK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZB-Z§ —T—_F
2013 2012
% %
REERRRBRAFP H 4,000,000% T 100 100 HERILR R
PRC USD4,000,000 EEBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EILEEMRRER AR e 11,000,000 7T 57.11 57.11 HERIER R
PRC USD11,000,000 ERRRER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ARZEBRRERR A H AE#81,500,0007C 75 75 HERIER R
PRC RMB81,500,000 BERBRED

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
GRERRRERA A H AR #50,000,0007T 75 75 HERILAR
PRC RMB50,000,000 ERRRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EGERRRERAR)! F AR #70,000,0007T 71.43 71.43 HERLER R
PRC RMB70,000,000 ERBRED

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

1 98 | CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

EMRYL, BRORMERS
BR 32 3th B AR A FEE B RRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NE BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest FTEEHK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-=fF —T—_F
2013 2012
% %
EREBRRERADF HE AR #10,000,0007T 100 100 HERILRAR
PRC RMB10,000,000 EBaREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ETIEBRRARAAS H AR #10,000,0007T 100 100 HERILRR
PRC RMB10,000,000 EXBRES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
REERMABRAR H AR#51,300,0007C 51 51 HERILR K
PRC RMB51,300,000 EBBREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
RERERRRERAA i 7,788,900 7T 100 100 HERIERR
PRC US$7,788,900 ERERES
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
FRFERRRAR AR HE AR#29,890,6007T 51 51 HERILRR
PRC RMB29,890,600 EBaREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HEHRR
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43. TEHBLARER (&) 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
MEBLARMN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HEMRL BRTRBZRSA
FR L 1t B EITIES REEEERE
Place of Issued and Attributable
YNGR incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—BE-=ZF T —F
2013 2012
% %
BN E R RAR AR H AR :80,000,0007T 70 70 HERILRR
PRC RMB80,000,000 EEBRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ABEBRRERDA i AK#5,000,0007 100 100 WERIAR
PRC RMB5,000,000 ERBRESE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
ERMMNEEERRERLF HE AR #50,000,0007T 100 100 HERILER
PRC RMB50,000,000 ERBRER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EMEBRARROARAFS  HE AR %680,000,0007T 88 84 SHE R AR
PRC RMB680,000,000 R SRR AR e

EEMRRES

Sales of natural gas
pressure control
equipment and gas
appliances and
construction of gas
pipelines
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43. TEHBLARER (&) 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
MEBLARMN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HMRY ERTREBERSG
FRAL it B R AR A KEBEMGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
NE BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest FTEEHK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-=fF —T——F
2013 2012
% %
ARIEERRRARAR &+ AR #:667,000,0007T 70 70 HERILRK
PRC RMB667,000,000 EBEREE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EHERRRARAANS H 29,980,000 7T 50 50 HERIEE R
PRC USD29,980,000 ERRRES

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EEEERRERAR"S H AR #286,582,8587T 51 51 HERIEER
PRC RMB286,582,858 EEBRER

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
EREBRIBRB AR HE AR#227,180,0007T 64 64 WERILAR
PRC RMB227,180,000 BERBREE

Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

FAREERERea |1 201
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MEARN—RER (&)

1

202

2 AT BRI E L RO
RFHE -

MR AREE A IEH50% M EHEEA
B MAKRERBEREEZNES
AMERES) o Bt - ZARIREA
AEERHBRR

REARNERBNEEHE L EOT
RIFEE -

AEERFEEWBAFI54%04E - Wik
B R IBHDES7.11%5EF

ZARARPEKYNBROBERA
A EHERER =Z——F=-A+WH
RITEBS XA BT ©

HREREERRINESSET R4
5 3R () 3 7 SR [ S 52 P IS 1 RO 45
B RERBEEBMIENRE - A
AEBERBRABREAARERES
MFERRERE RAKERRE
HESZMBLRNMEEEY - B
It AR AR EENIE QR
(Pf7E36(a) K236(b)) °

pay
e

“E-=F+-A=+—HILFE

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

1
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These companies were established in the PRC in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able
to nominate over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the
company is regarded as a subsidiary of the Group.

These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprise.

These Group holds 54% equity interest in the subsidiary and shares
profit at 57.11% according to the shareholders’ agreement.

The company was established in the PRC as a joint stock limited
company and its H shares were listed on the Stock Exchange until
14th February, 2012.

The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group signed
a memorandum in which the other shareholder would agree the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder would agree the
appointment of all senior management nominated by the Group.
Accordingly, the company is regarded as a subsidiary of the Group
(notes 36(a) and 36(b)).
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43. TEMBELARER (&) 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

MEARN—RER (&) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
BREBRRBERARBARRREERE Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
B FRBEMEEAMFERBARY the Company, all other above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
BARBMEERE  LEE2ETMK held by the Company and are operating principally in their place
SIS BRI B AR S E G o of incorporation/establishment.
R-E—=FR-_T——F+-A= None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
T-AXFRNEAKE  SHEAR 31st December, 2013 and 2012 or at any time during the year.

BB EEES o

ARBEERR - EXRAINAEE The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
MEBAREHAREMNEEREERS opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
BEEATE - ARAIEERR - # results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
FIE A M E A AR FE B 2 AR5 8 other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
RITK ° Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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43. T EMBLARER (&)

BEEAEERMSOEDEHNE L
AHosEE

TRINTERERFFERERENANE

(Continued)

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of

EIE2EMBARE - the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
BEREREER
AR IR TR
TEEXBE REELA
Place of Proportion of SWTFFERER
establishment  ownership interests HEF (F8) Rt FERER
and principal and voting rights held Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
(hl=NTE place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
~2-=f —Z-—-f <-B-=§f T ZBE-=f <—T—-F
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
% % TER FET THER FET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
HMERMRERAA i
PRC 30 30 35,915 37,070 110,717 116,816
EGEBRRERAR HE
PRC 50 50 8,472 9,465 119,864 107,968
EGERRRERAA HE
PRC 28.57 28.57 44,507 36,356 85,107 74,656
REERRRBRAA HE
PRC 49 49 40,761 33,393 168,447 123,509
fHAERRRBRAR HE
PRC 49 49 22,888 21,517 55,243 51,132
BMERRRARAR HE
PRC 30 30 16,618 14,389 52,533 47,652
HMERRRBRAA] HE
PRC 12 16 67,739 60,253 215,718 368,786
ARIZEERRRARAR HE
PRC 30 30 23,482 6,601 279,191 255,806
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43. TEMBARER (&) 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
BEEAFERERNEZENBEA Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
TAMEEE (&) non-controlling interests (Continued)
BEREREER
Rt FERRER T
TEEENY REELA
Place of Proportion of DB T IFERER
establishment ownership interests HERF (E8) Rt FERER
and principal  and voting rights held Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
LhENT ] place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
—g-=f - CZ—B-=f T CZB-=f —T——F
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
% % THET FAT THET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
EHZERRAERARF HE
PRC 50 50 270,877 - 693,319 -
ELZERRAERAR HE
PRC 42.89 42.89 21,309 17,049 76,765 91,901
REBMRRARAR HE
PRC 45 45 (2,080) (8,259) 160,023 157,187
RHERRREE)ERA i
PRC 50 50 2,224 2,781 189,478 181,561
ERMAERAR i
PRC 35 85 29,223 12,595 159,520 127,900
SEREEREERA HE
PRC 35 35 20,773 21,924 183,753 166,805
EEZRRAERA HE
PRC 49 49 27,085 - 274,587 -

=) W Fak;
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43. TEHBLARER (&) 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)
BEEAFERERNEZENBEA Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
AEE (&) non-controlling interests (Continued)
BEERER
BRIt B RS T
TEEENY REELAI
Place of Proportion of AETFEERER
establishment  ownership interests HEH (BE) RItFERER
and principal and voting rights held Profit (loss) allocated Accumulated
B R AR place of by non-controlling to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
“E-=f T CZB-=Zf T CZBE-=f —T—_F
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
% % TERT FHBT TERT TAET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BHREERRERAE i
PRC 36 36 10,936 (8917) 134,375 127,344
BRI A

E b ERIFEEAHE AR
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 1,474,263 988,115

4,432,903 2,987,138
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 BHE-_Z—=F+_A=+—HLFE

44. T ESENTER 44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
AEBELRE
LB Attributable
NGRS Place of ERTES equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—g-=f “FT--F
2013 2012
% %
KEETRRBREERR  FH AR #:800,000,0007T 36 36 HERILRAK
PRC RMB800,000,000 EBaREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BMNERBEMRERLR B AR#117,939,5007T 40 40 HERILR R
PRC RMB117,939,500 EBEREE
Sales of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HIEBRRERAR H AR #150,000,0007T 51 51 HERILRR
PRC RMB 150,000,000 ERRRES
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
HMEERRRBRA HE AR#194,541,0007T 51 46 HERILRR
PRC RMB194,541,000 EBBREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
EFEBRRAR AR HE AR #1,000,000,0007T 49 49 SEERIER R
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 ERRRES
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
FEHRRS

gramzg |01 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 BE_Z—=F+_A=+—HLFE

44. T ESENTER (£) 44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)
REEE(GRRE
X3t 26 Attributable
AR BB Place of A AR AR equity interest FEEK
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-=fF —T——F
2013 2012
% %
HEEBRIERAR H AR #200,000,0007C 50 50 HERIERR
PRC RMB200,000,000 EXBREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
MTEBERRBRA R H AE#129,068,8007T 51 50 HERILAR
PRC RMB 129,068,800 BEEBREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
BEILEBEMARER AR HE AR#148,000,0007T 49.9 49.9 HERIER R
PRC RMB 148,000,000 BEEBRER

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
M) EEEBRERGD R AR#122,423,3727T 50 50 HERERR
BRAT] PRC RMB122,423,372 EEBRER

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of

gas pipelines
FILARRERER AR HE AE#164,444,4007T 55 55 HERIER R
PRC RMB164,444,400 EEBREE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

2 1 2 | CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Annual Report 2013
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013 BHE-_Z—=F+_A=+—HLFE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (Continued)

FEE B R RE
B L 2 Attributable
IR Place of A AR A equity interest FEEK
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—E-=—fF —T——F
2013 2012
% %
BEMRRERAR HE AR#100,000,0007T 49 49 HERILRAK
PRC RMB100,000,000 EBEREE
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
BMEBRRERAR H AR #488,376,0007C 49 49 HERILRR
PRC RMB488,376,000 EXmRES
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines
ERERRRER AR H AR #5,000,000,0007C 49 - HERILRR
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 EBaREE

* ZERDR - —=FAKT

(50
AT
AR

—ﬁlﬂ“ E&$’§I—J
12 o B
7%$EIE’J%%®

ﬂm%ﬂiﬁl)}
E3)

ﬂb)%&'i

ARBEZERR  ERAIINAE
EaE R RHAREFANEERE
FEABRARBEEFEENL
- RRAREERR I EMLEE
RENFBESAREBNITE

Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of
gas pipelines

The entity was newly set up in 2013.

The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies which
the decisions require the unanimous consent of the Group and the
joint venturers. Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint
ventures of the Group.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

=) W Fak;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2013

45.

21

HE-F-=4+-A=t+-ALEE

FEBENTFE 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
HERHRE HWEATE
FENRSER
Equity interest AEBRGRE
B 2 held by the Attributable
NGES: Place of SRR AR jointly controlled interest equity TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital entities/subsidiary of the Group Principal activities
“B-=-f -_T-—_—F ZB-=f —T-_F
2013 2012 2013 2012
% % % %
FRURREREEAR HE AE#95,590,0007C 27 27 25.92 1516  HEXRF  KILA
PRC RMB95,590,000 BRRMRARE
EMREB
Sale of natural gas,
LPG and gas
appliances and
construction gas
pipelines
ERRREERN HE AR1,216,116,0827T 25 25 25 25 HERLRR
BRAR PRC RMB1,216,116,082 ERBRER
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection
of gas pipelines
EH AR A HE AR #40,000,0007T 49 49 24.5 245  HERERK
ERMRARAH PRC RMB40,000,000 ERBRER
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection
of gas pipelines
EmhALER i AR 40,000,000 36 36 36 3 HERLRR
EREMPRERAR  PRC RMB40,000,000 ERaRER
Sale of liquefied gas
and connection
of gas pipelines
IARARREERARAR HE AK#30,000,0007T 49 49 49 49  HERELER
PRC RMB30,000,000 ERBREE

ARBEZERR  LRMIIHAEE
BERNRYARENEAREERR
BEEEAFE - ARAEFAL  #H
FIE Ml & R AW FIE B ARE B
Rtk e

Sales of natural gas
and connection
of gas pipelines

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results or
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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Financial Summary

¥& RESULTS
BE+T-_A=t—HLFE
Year ended 31st December
“ITThEF —T-TF —T——F —Z——F —E2-=f%
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
THAT THAL THT FAT THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(=31)
(Restated)
L TURNOVER 4,824,772 9,705,327 14,208,046 13,621,787 22,288,027
FEREA PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 609,406 1,021,359 1,572,401 2,029,284 2,823,754
i ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
ADFAEEA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 496,998 773,202 1,176,268 1,645,543 2,160,945
FERER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 112,408 248,157 396,133 383,741 662,809
609,406 1,021,359 1,572,401 2,029,284 2,823,754
EERERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+-A=t-8
31st December
ZZTTNE —T-TF —Z——f —E—F —E-=f
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
THT THT FHT THAT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(=31) (Z31)
(Restated) (Restated)
BEAE TOTAL EQUITY 12,055,906 23,586,189 24,844 175 37,682,535 50,481,791
SEEE TOTAL LIABILITIES (8,596,823) (14,347,150) (13,040,466) (22,996,545) (31,865,953)
KA BE TOTAL EQUITY 3,459,083 9,239,039 11,803,709 14,685,990 18,615,838
ADEEEA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO 2,492,165 7,048,196 9,318,659 11,698,852 14,182,935
R OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
R ER NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 966,918 2,190,843 2,485,050 2,987,138 4,432,903
RAEE TOTAL EQUITY 3,459,083 9,239,039 11,803,709 14,685,990 18,615,838
HE_ZTNF T ZFR-_T——F Restatement in respect of the change in accounting policies described
FTZA=+—HLFE  WERKEHBER in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements has not been made for

KW SEoRT R B S R R B R ES -

the years ended 31st December, 2009, 2010 and 2011.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 20th February, 2014)
Mr. ONG Thiam Kin (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. DU Wenmin

Mr. WEI Bin

Mr. HUANG Daoguo
Mr. CHEN Ying

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Ms. YU Jian

Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. QIN Chaokui

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. HUANG Daoguo

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. DU Wenmin
Mr. YU Hon To, David

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Ms. YU Jian

Mr. QIN Chaokui

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WEI Bin (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Chuandong
Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

FEEEME
B

I

V& 1B 2655
HEHAE
1901-05%

EEER
75 B8 AT 1T
B8R ATT

M

E - MERIT GRENTT

FERNBFETE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited

26 Burnaby Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

BEROBFETTE

FEWERBERAF

aBE
EFKNBE1835
AR 221

NAEER

Corporate Information

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Ms. YU Jian (Chairman)
Mr. SHI Shanbo

Mr. ONG Thiam Kin

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. QIN Chaokui

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. ONG Thiam Kin

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court
22 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-05

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR

Richards Butler
in association with Reed Smith LLP

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited
26 Burnaby Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

BB ABIE269  Room 1901-05, China Resources Building,
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